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Dear 

Thank you for choosing PKF Integrity Services (BMNS) Pty Ltd ("PKF Integrity", "PKF" or 

"we") to undertake investigative services ("the Services") for the Department of Justice 

and Attorney General ("Department" or "you") to undertake an investigation in relation 

to allegations regarding Chow Tai Fook Enterprises ("CTFE") and associates. 

Pursuant to our engagement agreement, dated 25 November 2022, I am pleased to 

provide you with our final investigation report, dated 19 December 2023. In compiling 

this report, we have relied on certain information provided to us by HWL Ebsworth 

Lawyers ("HWLE") acting act on behalf of CTFE, including in response to an information 

requirement issued under section 30C of the Casino Control Act 1982 (Q/d). 

The contents of this report are confidential, and the report is provided to the 

Department of Justice and Attorney-General solely for the purposes set out in the 

terms of reference dated 25 November 2022. We have outlined further particulars on 

the disclosure of our report in Section 12 of this report. 
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1. Executive Summary 

1.1 Background 

Introduction 

This summary provides a high-level overview of relevant background, our review 

methodology and a summary of findings, whilst further detailed discussion of the issues 

considered in our review and our detailed findings are provided in the body of the report. 

1.1.2 A glossary of abbreviations and defined terms adopted throughout the report is provided 

at Appendix 1. 

Queens Wharf Brisbane 

1.1.3 On 14 October 2013, the Queensland Government announced an expression of interest for 

the redevelopment of the Queens Wharf Brisbane precinct in the Brisbane central 

business district, including the development of a casino and resort ("QWB"). 

1.1.4 The Destination Brisbane Consortium ("DBC"), comprising Far East Consortium (Australia) 

Pty Ltd, Chow Tai Fook Enterprises ("CTFE") and Echo Entertainment Group Limited 

(subsequently known as The Star Entertainment Group Limited), submitted a bid to 

develop the QWB site, including development of a casino facility. 

Review of suitability and granting of casino licence 

1.1.5 As the liquor and gambling regulator for Queensland, the Office of Liquor and Gaming 

Regulation ("OLGR") undertook an investigation pursuant to section 20 of the Casino 

Control Act 1982 ("the Act") to satisfy the Governor in Council that such casino licensee 

and such persons as aforesaid are suitable to hold a casino licence 

("Initial Suitability Review"). The findings of the OLGR's investigation were published in its 

"Probity Report", dated 20 April 2015. 

1.1.6 On 20 July 2015, the Queensland Government announced it had selected DBC as its 

preferred proponent for the QWB development. The Queensland Government granted a 

casino licence in respect of the QWB development to DBC on 14 October 2016. 

1.1.7 The suitability of CTFE and its associates' connection to the QWB casino has been the 

subject of considerable media attention and allegations. On 29 September 2022, the 

Attorney-General and Minister for Justice, Minister for Women and Minister for the 

Prevention of Domestic and Family Violence, the Honorable Shannon Fentiman, approved 

an investigation of the ongoing suitability of CTFE to be associated with the ownership 

and operation of a casino within Queensland, pursuant to section 30 of the Act. 
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1.2 Scope 

1.2.1 On 25 November 2022, PKF was engaged by the Department of Justice and Attorney 

General ("DJAG") to: 

a. Undertake a review of the unresolved media allegations attached to the terms of 

reference of our investigation to determine if they impact the suitability of CTFE, in 

terms of business associations or undesirable financial sources. 

b. Undertake a review of matters relevant to the repute of CTFE and associates, for the 

purposes of section 20(1)(a) of the Act, in order to assist the Minister in their 

determination of suitability under section 30 of the Act. 

c. Undertake a review of matters relevant to whether CTFE or its associates have 

business associations with persons not of good repute or have undesirable financial 

sources, for the purposes of section 20(1)(f) of the Act, in order to assist the Minister 

in their determination of suitability under section 30 of the Act) 

d. Recommend mitigations (where applicable) for any risks identified. 

e. Undertake an assessment of the sufficiency of the Initial Suitability Review and OLGR's 

ongoing suitability monitoring activities. 

1.2.2 A copy of the terms of reference of our investigation is provided at Appendix 2. 

1.3 Allegations 

1.3.1 The media allegations attached to the investigation terms of reference include 

allegations that: 

a. The CTF Group has a concealed relationship with a person not of good repute, 

Mr. Alvin Chau, through an ongoing interest in the Hoi Ana Casino Resort in Vietnam 

(referred to herein as the "Vietnam Project") ("Media Allegation 1"). 

b. CTF Group subsidiary, "New World", is frequently the venue of meetings involving triad 

figures and is a front for money laundering ("Media Allegation 2"). 

c. CTF Group's interest in Sociedad de Turismo e Diversoes de Macao ("STDM") has 

resulted in a partnership between Dr. Cheng Yu Tung and a person not of good 

repute, Mr. Yip Hon; and, that another person not of good repute, "Broken Tooth" Koi, 

held an $8 million interest in a VIP room owned by Dr. Cheng Yu Tung and Mr. Stanley 

Ho ("Media Allegation 3"). 

'Our review was to be conducted in accordance with section 30 of the Act and examine those matters, as they relate to 

CTFE and its identified associates as set out under section 20(1) (a) and (f) of the Act. 
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1.3.2 A compilation of the media reports attached to the investigation terms of reference is 

provided at Appendix 3. 

1.4 Methodology 

1.4.1 

1.4.2 The standard of proof applied in this investigation and in the preparation of this report 

and its findings has been on the balance of probabilities. Allegations were found to be 

substantiated where they were supported by direct evidence; or, unsubstantiated where 

they were not supported by direct evidence. 

1.4.3 Further discussion of our investigation methodology is provided at Section 3 of this 

report. 

1.5 Limitations 

1.5.1 The following limitations were identified during our review: 

a. The opacity and limitations regarding availability of information associated with 

corporate filings in jurisdictions such as the British Virgin Islands ("BVI") and Macao 

constrained our enquiries in some circumstances. 

1.5.2 Consideration of associations with Mr. Stanley Ho were excluded from the scope of our 

review albeit that Mr. Stanley Ho was the subject of some media allegations. This is on the 
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basis Mr. Stanley Ho was the subject of significant examination during the Initial Suitability 

Review and passed away on 26 May 2020. 

1.6 Summary of Findings 

1.6.1 Our findings are summarised below in relation to: 

a. Allegations made in the media reports provided at Appendix 3 

b. Matters relevant to the repute of CTFE and associates for consideration by the 

Minister in making their determination of suitability under the Act. 

c. Matters relevant to whether CTFE or its associates have business associations with 

persons not of good repute or have undesirable financial sources, for 

consideration by the Minister in making their determination of suitability under 

the Act. 

d. The sufficiency of the Initial Suitability Review and OLGR's ongoing suitability 

monitoring activities. 

1.6.2 Further information regarding the basis of our findings and our detailed analysis is 

provided in the body of this report. 
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Findings regarding media allegations 

1.6.3 Table 1 summarises our findings in relation to Media Allegation 1. 

Table 1: Findings regarding Media Allegation 1 

Media Allegation 1 The CTF Group has a concealed relationship with a person not of good repute, Mr. Alvin Chau, through an ongoing interest in the 
Vietnam Project. 

Finding Substantiated 

In our opinion, on the balance of probabilities, the evidence identified during this investigation demonstrates: 

a. The CTF Group had a relationship with a person not of good repute, Mr. Alvin Chau, and associates of Mr. Chau, through an 
ongoing interest in the Vietnam Project. 

b. CTFE had not previously disclosed those interests or relationships to OLGR. 

c. CTFE had previously provided OLGR with incorrect, incomplete and/or inconsistent information in relation to those interests 
and relationships. 

Report reference Section 4 

PKF Integrity Services 
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In 2014, the CTF Group acquired a 50% interest in Gold Yield Enterprises Limited ("GYE") with the other 50% held by Star Admiral 

Limited ("Star Admiral"), a company personally owned by Mr. Chau. GYE acquired 68% of the equity in the Vietnam Project2  on 

20 January 2015. In April 2015, Star Admiral transferred its interest in GYE to the CTF Group and GYE became wholly owned by the 

CTF Group. 

CTFE previously advised OLGR3  that 'CTFH disposed of its entire controlling stake in GYE in Apr1'12016 to Alpha Era Investments 

Limited; who was 'owned by a third party [sic] wealthy and well connected [sic] investol.4 

The transaction as described is illustrated in Figure 1. 

Figure 1: Initial Understanding of CTFH:s disposal of its interest in the Vietnam Project 

Before disposal: After disposal: 

 

r 

 

63% 68% 

Basis 

Department of Justice and Attorney General 10' 
Chow Tai Fook Enterprises and Associate 

2  Through equity in Hoi An South Investments ("HASI"). 

3  On 20 May 2022 and 9 December 2022. 

4  HWLE correspondence to OLGR, dated 20 May 2022. 
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NOP 

New information regarding relationships between the CTF Group and the Vietnam Project and Mr. Chau 

During the course of this investigation, CTFE disclosed substantive new information to OLGR and PKF on 9 October 2023 regarding 

the nature of the CTF Group's interests in the Vietnam Project, including: 

a. The CTF Group sold 50% of its interest in GYE to Alpha Era Limited ("Alpha Era") for USD 20.65 million on 18 April 2016 and the 

remaining 50% shareholding in GYE to Star Admiral (owned by Mr. Chau) on 22 April 2016. This was contrary to CTFE's 

previous advice that it sold GYE to Alpha Era. Star Admiral paid the CTF Group USD 20.65 million consideration for the 

interest. 

b. To facilitate the sale of 50% of its interest in GYE to Alpha Era, the CTF Group provided loans to the owners of Alpha Era (who 

were business associates of Mr. Chau through their joint interest in GYE in respect of the purchase and continued 

development of the interest in the Vietnam Project. The loans were initially undocumented and based on a "handshake 

agreement" between the owner of Alpha Era (Mr. Ho at that times) and Dr. Henry Cheng, until May 2018, when they were 

documented with assistance from the CTFE legal team. CTFE has disclosed that as of 29 October 2023, the outstanding 

loans were USD 388 million. 

c. From 2020 until 2022, Alpha Era, funded by the CTF Group, provided funding for the development of the Vietnam Project in 

excess of its equity interest in the project. We are advised this was because the two other project partners (VinaCapital and 

Suncity Group) were 'struggling to come up with... their pro-rata share... in the funding requirement:6  During this period, 

Mr. Chau held an equity interest in the Vietnam Project through his shareholding in the Suncity Group. 

d. The provision of back-to back guarantees by Chow Tai Fook (Holding) Limited ("CTFH"), a member of the CTF Group, to 

Vietin Bank, in respect of personal guarantees by the owners of Alpha Era regarding a credit facility for the development of 

5  Alpha Era was initially owned by Mr. Ho until his death on 20 August 2018. Following Mr. Ho's death, the CTF Group purchased the interest in Alpha Era on 26 September 2018 and sold the interest 
to Mr. Wong on or around the same day. 

6  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Jacob Lee on 10 November 2023, page 41. 
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the Vietnam Project. The CTFH guarantees and guarantees by the owners of Alpha Era were conditions precedent to the 

USD 484 million credit facility provided by Vietin Bank for the development of the Vietnam Project. The guarantees were 

limited to 34% of the facility, i.e. USD 165 million. 

 

e. The provision of an indemnity by Mr. Chau to the owners of Alpha Era for 34% of their guarantee to Vietin Bank in respect of 

the Vietnam Project credit facility, i.e. up to USD 56 million.' Mr. Chau's indemnity may have the effect, in practice, of 

reducing CTFH's exposure in respect of CTFH's guarantee for the liability of the owners of Alpha Era under their personal 

guarantees. 

f. The purchase of Alpha Era by the CTF Group on 26 September 2018, following the death of Alpha Era's previous owner, 

Mr. Ho. The CTF Group then sold Alpha Era to Mr. Wong on or around the same day. At the time of this transaction, 

Suncity Group (of which Mr. Chau was a substantial shareholder) and Alpha Era jointly held equity in GYE8  and the 

Vietnam Project. 

g. Management, administration, banking and legal services to the owners of Alpha Era (business associates of Mr. Chau) in 

respect of their interest in the Vietnam Project. 

The above transactions are illustrated in Figure 2 below. 

      

7  34% of USD 165 million; USD 484 million multiplied by the 34% guaranteed by the owners of Alpha Era multiplied by the 34% indemnified by Mr. Chau. 

8  GYE holds a 68% interest in the Vietnam Project via equity held in Hoi An South Investments Pte Ltd ("HASI"). 
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Guarantee 1.4  Cross-Indemnity 
(34% of guarantee) 

63% 58% 

Credit facility 
(USD 484M) 

Figure 2: Current understanding of CTFH's disposal of its interest in the Vietnam Project 

Before disposal: After disposal: 

Loan 
(USD 388M) 

C1FH 
(34% of facility) 

Guarantee 

(34% of facility) 

50% 

Shareholder loans 
50% 

CTFE also disclosed close personal and business relationships between the CTF Group and the owners of Alpha Era. These included 

through the initial founding of Chow Tai Fook Jewellery Group Limited ("CTFJ"). The current owner of Alpha Era, Mr. Wong, has been 

employed by CTFJ since 1998 and is currently the CTFJ Director of Strategic Finance and is responsible for the financing and 

treasury management of the CTF Group. We were advised in interview that Mr. Ho is a Chow Tai Fook shareholder who receives 

dividends of tens of millions of USD each year and whose shares in Chow Tai Fook, we understand, are worth over USD 1 billion.9 

Department of Justice and Attorney General 
Chow Tai Fook Enterprises and Associate  
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The information provided by CTFE on 9 October 2023 was different to, and inconsistent with, CTFE's previous submissions. The 

correspondence between CTFE and OLGR/PKF in this regard is summarised below. 

May 2022 CTFE submission 

On 22 April 2022, OLGR wrote to CTFE's legal counsel, HWLE, requesting 'detailed written advice and supporting documentation' 

regarding: 

a. 'Any involvement of CTFE and/or its associates in the ownership, management, administration or financing of the Hotels' 

and/or casino complex that have been or will be constructed at Hoiana [the Vietnam Project]' (emphasis added); and 

b. 'The involvement of CTFE, or its associates, in the ownership, management, administration or financing of any persons 

associated with Suncity, Mr. Alvin Chau or their associates, in any endeavor or business enterprise globally, including but not 

limited to gaming and hospitality (emphasis added). 

HWLE responded to OLGR on 20 May 202210, advising: 

a. 'CTFH no longer owns any shares in GYE. 

b. 'CTFH disposed of its entire controlling stake in GYE in April 2016 to Alpha Era Investments Limited. 

c. 'Alpha Era is owned by a third party wealthy and well connected [sic] investor; and Chow Tai Fook group does not own any 

interests in Alpha Era' (emphasis added). 

d. 'The Chow Tai Fook group is not involved in the ownership, management, administration or financing of any persons 

associated with Suncity, Mr. Alvin Chau or their associates, in any endeavor or business enterprise globally, other than in 

respect of the Hoiana Integrated Resort as set out above [referring to hotel management activities]. In summary, CTFH had 

9  Official Transcript of interview with Dr. Henry Cheng on 9 November 2023, Part I, pages 35 and 46 

10  All responses provided by HWLE are taken to have been made by CTFE for the purposes of this investigation. 
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until April 2016 a controlling stake in the Project through GYE, but CTFH no longer held any shares in GYE This reflects the 
statements made by our client in our meeting at your offices on 12 November 2019, namely that CTFE did not own the 
Project in response to your question that certain media reports had stated that CTFE owned one third of the Project'. 

The information provided by CTFE to OLGR on 20 May 2022 appears to have been incorrect, given: 

a. CTFE advised on 9 October 2023 that the CTF Group sold 50% of its interest in GYE to Alpha Era on 18 April 2016 and 50% of its 
interest in GYE to Star Admiral (owned by Mr. Chau) on 22 April 2016. This is contrary to their statement" that 'CTFH disposed 
of its entire controlling stake in GYE in April 2016 to Alpha Era...'. 

b. CTFE described the owner of Alpha Era (who at the time of their correspondence was Mr. Wong) as a 'third party; however, 
Mr. Wong is employed by CTFJ and holds long-standing business and personal relationships with the CTF Group. The 
CTF Group fully funded Mr. Wong's purchase of Alpha Era and the subsequent development costs of its interest in the 
Vietnam Project. The CTF Group provided significant management, administrative, banking and legal services to Mr. Wong 
in respect of his investment in Alpha Era. Similar arrangements and close business and personal relationships existed in 
respect of Mr. Ho, who owned Alpha Era prior to Mr. Wong. 

c. CTFE stated the 'Chow Tai Fook group is not involved in the ownership, management, administration or financing of any 

persons associated with Suncity, Mr. Alvin Chau or their associates... [other than in respect of the hotel agreements for the 
Vietnam Project]. This statement is inconsistent with CTFE's subsequent 9 October 2022 advice that the CTF Group: 

i. Provided loans to Alpha Era (a business associate of Mr. Chau), as described above. From 2020 to 2022, the funding 

provided by the CTF Group to Alpha Era in respect of the development of the Vietnam Project exceeded Alpha Era's 

interest in the project. We understand that Alpha Era made contributions in excess of its equity interest because the 

two other project partners, VinaCapital and Suncity Group, were 'struggling to come up with... their pro-rata share... 

11  CTFE correspondence to OLGR, dated 20 May 2022 and 9 December 2022. 
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in the funding requirement:12  During this period, Mr. Chau held an indirect equity interest in the Vietnam Project 

through his equity in Suncity Group. 

ii. Provided a guarantee that was a condition precedent to a credit facility provided by Vietin Bank for the development 

of the Vietnam Project (while Mr. Chau held an equity interest in the project); 

II/ Briefly purchased Alpha Era to effect its sale to Mr. Wong (thereby briefly holding an equity interest in GYE and the 

Vietnam Project in conjunction with Mr. Chau); and 

iv. Provided substantial management, administration, banking and legal services to Alpha Era (a business associate of 

Mr. Chau). 

December 2022 CTFE submission 

On 21 November 2022, OLGR wrote to HWLE advising of this investigation and requesting CTFE provide a response to media 

allegations that CTFE has associations with Mr. Chau and LET Group Holdings Ltd (formerly Suncity Group). OLGR also requested 

CTFE provide 'Any other relevant information CTFE may wish to raise in relation to personal and business associations that may 

impact on OLGR's suitability assessment. 

HWLE responded to OLGR on 9 December 2022, reiterating the information it provided in May 2022, that: 

a. The proposed acquisition of the gaming businesses of Suncity by IEC (in which CTFE held a 74.78% interest) had not 

proceeded. 

b. 'CTFE does not have any ownership interests in the Hoiana integrated resort project [the Vietnam Project]'. 

c. 'CTFH no longer owns any shares in GYE. 

12  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Jacob Lee on 10 November 2023, page 41. 
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d. 'CTFH disposed of its entire controlling stake in GYE in April 2016, during the construction phase of the Project, to Alpha Era 

Investments Limited'. 

e. 'Alpha Era is owned by a third party wealthy and well connected [sic] investor, and Chow Tai Fook group does not own any 

interests in Alpha Era'. 

We make the same observations regarding CTFE's description of the sale of GYE and the owner of Alpha Era being a third party, as 

provided above. 

March 2023 CTFE submission 

On 28 February 2023, PKF wrote to CTFE via HWLE requesting details of 'any other agreements, directorships or business 

relationships between the casinos, CTFE and the above hotels in the Hoiana Integrated Resort [the Vietnam Project] apart from the 

four hotel management agreements'. 

HWLE responded on 14 March 2023, stating 'Aside from the hotel management agreements referred to, there are no other 

agreements, directorships or business relationships between CTFE and the casino or the hotels of the Hoiana Integrated Resort'. 

The information provided by CTFE to OLGR on 14 March 2023 appears to have been incorrect and/or incomplete, given CTFE 

subsequently disclosed: 

a. CTFE Senior Vice President, Mr. Jacob Lee, was a member of the Executive and Audit Committees of the Vietnam Project 

from commencement of those committees until July 2022. He initially held these roles in relation to the CTF Group's equity 

interest in the Vietnam Project and subsequently held the roles whilst managing Alpha Era's investment in the project. 

b. CTF Group controlled entity, Skywalker Ventures Ltd ("Skywalker"), has been a corporate director of Alpha Era (which holds a 

34% interest in the Vietnam Project) since 26 January 2015. Skywalker was controlled by CTFE from 26 January 2015 to 

12 August 2022 and by CTFH from 12 August 2022. 

PKF Integrity Services 
19 



Department of Justice and Attorney General 
Chow Tai Fook Enterprises and Associate  

c. CTFE Senior Vice President, Mr. Jacob Lee, was a director of Skywalker from 26 January 2015 to 12 August 2022 and was 

authorised to sign documents on behalf of Alpha Era owner, Mr. Ho. 

d. CTFE has provided significant managerial, administrative and legal support to Alpha Era in respect of its investment in the 

Vietnam Project. 

e. The CTF Group has provided significant funding to Alpha Era in respect of Alpha Era's interest in the Vietnam Project. From 

2020 to 2022, the funding provided by the CTF Group exceeded Alpha Era's interest in the project. 

f. CTFE Senior Vice President, Mr. Jacob Lee, would receive a funding request regarding Alpha Era from the investment 

manager, VMS. Given the request had been approved by VMS, Mr. Lee 'did not seek approval again from Mr. Wong... on the 

funding:13  Mr. Lee would process the request with the CTF Group finance team. He did not need to seek approval for the 

funding from Mr. Tsang (CTFE Chief Executive Officer), however, would require an acknowledgement from Mr. Tsang 'that 

there [was] a funding transfer... because... we are lending the money to Mr. Wong, and Mr. Wong in turn would... contribute 

the capital into the project.14 

October 2023 CTFE submission of new information 

On 26 July 2023, based on our review enquiries and intelligence gathered to date, PKF wrote to HWLE requesting CTFE senior 

management be made available for interview and requesting further information regarding: 

a. Details of participation by shareholders or personnel of CTFE or entities within the CTF Group and/or its associates in board 

or other meetings of HASI or HASD. 

b. 'Details of any loan and/or other agreements, directorships, equity interests or business relationships between the casinos 

at the Hoiana Integrated Resort or the hotels at the Hoiana Integrated Resort and CTFE, entities within the CTF group and/or 

13  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Jacob Lee on 10 November 2023, pages 39 and 40 

14  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Jacob Lee on 10 November 2023, pages 40 and 41 
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associates, other than the four hotel management agreements previously advised. The underlined emphasis within the 
quote highlighted the specific wording differences from previous requests. 

c. 'Any loan and or other agreements, directorships, equity interests or business relationships between CTFE, entities within the 
CTF group, and/or its associates; and the VMS Group and/or its related entities'. 

d. 'Any  loan and/or other agreements, directorships, equity interests or  business relationships between CTFE, entities within 
the CTFE group, and/or its associates and Kim Pun Wong (Director of Alpha Era Investments Ltd) or Barry Kim Pun Wong 
(emphasis added). 

e. A copy of Conrad Cheng's CTFE electronic mailbox for a relevant specified period. 

f. 'Details of any payments to or loans made (either directly or indirectly) to HAS/, HASD, VMS Group, Gold Yield Enterprises Ltd 
and/or Alpha Era from CTFE, CTFE subsidiaries, CTF Holdings, NWD or NWS. 

Following this, HWLE contacted PKF and OLGR with queries regarding the scope of the request and practicalities regarding 
obtaining the requested information. PKF and OLGR agreed for the scope of our request to be narrowed to account for those 
practicalities and HWLE undertook to obtain the requested information. 

On 15 September 2023, an OLGR representative wrote to HWLE regarding PKF's information request advising 'lam pleased to note 
your client's desire to assist with the conduct of the investigation. However, / am concerned by your client's reluctance to provide 
the material sought by the investigator in a timely manner. Accordingly, please find  enclosed a notice issued by the Director-
General's delegate pursuant to s 30C of the Casino Control Act 1982... As I am sure you are aware, it is an offence for an entity to fail 
to comply with a requirement specified in a notice issued pursuant to s 30C. Nor is an entity excused from complying with such a 
notice on the basis that the information sought is subject to legal professional privilege. An entity's failure to comply with a notice 
issued under s 30C is also relevant to an assessment of their suitability to be associated or connected with the ownership of a 
casino licensee. You client has until  9 October 2023  to comply with the notice...'. The notice also required HWLE to provide details of 
availability of specified CTFE senior management for interview by PKF and OLGR. 
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As required, on 9 October 2023, HWLE responded to OLGR's information requirement providing the substantive new information 

described above regarding the nature of the CTF Group's arrangements in relation to the Vietnam Project and Alpha Era, and its 

associations with Mr. Chau. 

1.6.4 Table 2 summarises our findings in relation to Media Allegation 2. 

Table 2: Findings regarding Media Allegation 2 

Media Allegation 2 CTF Group subsidiary, "New World", is frequently the venue of meetings involving triad figures and is a front for money laundering. 

Finding Unsubstantiated 

Report reference Section 5 

Basis regarding allegations of meetings involving triad figures was not supported by direct 

evidence. 

No evidence was identified regarding the allegation of New World being used to facilitate money laundering. 

1.6.5 Table 3 summarises our findings in relation to Media Allegation 3. 

Table 3: Findings regarding Media Allegation 3 

Media Allegation 3 CTF Group's interest in STDM has resulted in a partnership between Dr. Cheng Yu Tung and a person not of good repute, Mr. Yip 

Hon; and, that another person not of good repute, "Broken Tooth" Koi, held an $8 million interest in a VIP room owned by Dr. Cheng 

Yu Tung and Mr. Stanley Ho. 
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Finding 

Report reference  

Unsubstantiated 

Section 6 

Basis Information obtained during the Initial Suitability Review indicates Mr. Yip Hon sold his interest in STDM to Dr. Cheng Yu Tung and 
would, therefore, not result in a partnership between the two. 

Dr. Henry Cheng and Mr. Patrick Tsang's roles as directors of STDM and non-executive directors of SJM do not appear to have 
involved them in the detailed operation of STDM or SJM. On the basis of the information obtained, the allegation regarding a VIP 
room owned by Dr. Henry Cheng and Mr. Stanley Ho is not substantiated. 

Findings regarding sections 20(1) (a) of the Act 

1.6.6 The terms of reference to our investigation require we provide findings relevant for the Minister to assess the repute of CTFE and its associates in 
relation to section 20(1)(a) of the Act, i.e. 'having regard to character, honesty and integrity. 

1.6.7 The persons (whether natural or otherwise) considered for the purposes of this investigation in relation to section 20(1)(a) of the Act, include: 

a. CTFE 

b. Dr. Henry Cheng (CTFE Chairman), and 

c. Mr. Patrick Tsang (CTFE Chief Executive Officer). 

1.6.8 The following tables summarise the investigation findings we consider are relevant to the repute of each of the above persons (whether natural 
persons or not) associated with the ownership, administration or management of the operations or business of the casino licensee, having regard to 
character, honesty and integrity. Further detailed discussion of our findings is provided in the body of this report. 

1.6.9 Table 4 provides a summary of our findings in this regard for consideration regarding the repute of CTFE. 
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Table 4: Findings for consideration regarding CTFE in relation to section 20(1) (a) of the Act 

Person CTFE 

Finding In our opinion, CTFE provided incorrect, incomplete and/or inconsistent information in its submissions to OLGR on 20 May 2022, 9 December 

2022 and 14 March 2023. 

During the latter stage of this investigation, following an information requirement issued by OLGR under section 30C of the Act, CTFE 

disclosed significant additional information regarding the nature and extent of its associations with Mr. Chau, the owners of Alpha Era, and 

the Vietnam Project. 

On 14 November 2023, CTFE made voluntary submissions regarding steps to improve its reporting to OLGR and 'avoid any risk of a 

miscommunication between CTFE and OLGR arising again in connection with the Queens Wharf Integrated Resorf15. CTFE's proposal has 

been considered in our review recommendations provided at Section 1.7 of this report. 

Basis To avoid duplication, we refer to our basis of findings provided in respect of Media Allegation 1 at Table 1 (from paragraph 1.6.3) regarding, 

what in our opinion was incorrect, incomplete and/or inconsistent information provided by CTFE in its submissions to OLGR on 20 May 2022, 

9 December 2022 and 14 March 2023. CTFE submitted that: 

a. 'CTFH disposed of its entire controlling stake in GYE in April 2016 to Alpha Era...'.16 

b. 'Alpha Era is owned by a third party  [sic] wealthy and well connected [sic] investor... ' 17 (emphasis added). 

15  HWLE email to OLGR and PKF dated 14 November 2023 

16  HWLE email to OLGR dated 20 May 2022, page 2 

17  HWLE email to OLGR dated 20 May 2022, page 2 
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c. 'The  Chow Tai Fook group is not involved in the ownership, management, administration or financing of any persons associated with 
Suncity, Mr. Alvin Chau or their associates...n8  (emphasis added) other than hotel management activities related to the 
Vietnam Project.19 

d. 'Aside from the hotel management agreements referred to, there are no other agreements, directorships or business relationships 
between CTFE and the casino or the hotels of the Hoiana Integrated Resort2°  (emphasis added). 

PKF submitted an information request to CTFE (through HWLE), dated 26 July 2023, 
This was followed by a related information requirement issued by OLGR on 15 September 2023 under section 30C of the Act requiring a 
response from CTFE by 9 October 2023. On 9 October 2023, as required, CTFE submitted substantive new information in response to OLGR 
and PKF's requests. The CTFE submission, dated 9 October 2023, contained new information regarding the nature of the CTF Group's 
associations with Mr. Chau, the owners of Alpha Era and the Vietnam Project. The new information contained in CTFE's response appeared 
to be inconsistent with CTFE's earlier submissions to OLGR and PKF and included details of: 

a. The CTF Group having sold 50% of its interest in GYE to Star Admiral (Mr. Chau's personally owned company). 

b. Close business and personal relationships between the CTF Group and the owners of Alpha Era (who were business associates of 
Mr. Chau through their shared interest in GYE21). 

c. Substantial management, administrative, payment and legal services provided by CTFE and/or the CTF Group or controlled entities 
to Alpha Era in relation to its investment in the Vietnam Project. CTFE advised that Alpha Era did not hold a bank account whilst it was 
owned by Mr. Ho and, therefore, a CTF Group affiliate made payments on behalf of Alpha Era. 

18  HWLE email to OLGR dated 20 May 2022, page 3 

19  HWLE email to OLGR dated 20 May 2022 in response to OLGR's letter to CTFE 

20  HWLE letter to PKF dated 14 March 2023, page 4 

21  Mr. Chau's interest in GYE was held through Star Admiral and subsequently the Suncity Group. 
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d. A corporate directorship held by Skywalker (which was a CTFE and CTF Group controlled entity for the relevant periods) in respect of 

Alpha Era. CTFE Senior Vice President, Mr. Jacob Lee was a director of Skywalker and authorised to sign documents on behalf of 

Alpha Era owner, Mr. Ho. 

e. Substantial loans provided by the CTF Group to Alpha Era (USD 388 million as at 29 October 2023) in respect of Alpha Era's interest in 

and funding of the development of the Vietnam Project. From 2020 to 2022, the CTF Group provided finance to Alpha Era to fund 

development in the Vietnam Project, exceeding Alpha Era's interest in the project. We are advised this was because the two other 

project partners (VinaCapital and Suncity Group) were 'struggling to come up with... their pro-rata share... in the funding 

requirement.22  During this period, Mr. Chau held an interest in the Vietnam Project through his equity in Suncity Group.23 

f. CTFH facilitated finance for the development of the Vietnam Project by providing a back-to-back guarantee to Vietin Bank in respect 

of the personal guarantees made by Alpha Era owners, Mr. Ho and Mr. Wong. The guarantees were limited to 34% of the USD 484 

million credit facility (i.e. up to USD 165 million) and were conditions precedent of the facility. The credit facility was available to Hoi 

An South Development ("NASD") in respect of the development of the Vietnam Project whilst Mr. Chau held an indirect equity 

interest in the project via Star Admiral and Suncity Group. 

g. Mr. Chau providing a cross-indemnity to Alpha Era owner, Mr. Ho, for 34% of the personal guarantee provided by Mr. Ho to Vietin Bank 

in respect of the credit facility, i.e. 34% of 34% of USD 484 million (up to USD 56 million). This indemnity may reduce CTFH's exposure 

in respect of its guarantee of Mr. Ho's and/or Mr. Wong's personal guarantees. 

h. Prior to May 2018, the agreement between Dr. Henry Cheng and Alpha Era's owner, Mr. Ho, was an undocumented "handshake" 

agreement. In May 2018, the CTF Group and Mr. Ho entered into formal documented agreements including a Facility Agreement 

regarding the loan to Alpha Era regarding the Vietnam Project, a Share Charge Agreement and Share Repurchase Agreement. Mr. Ho 

died on 20 August 2018. 

22  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Jacob Lee on 10 November 2023: page 41. 

23  On 17 May 2022, Mr. Chau made a filing that he no longer held any shares in Suncity Group as of 13 May 2022. 
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i. The brief purchase of Alpha Era on or around 26 September 2018 by the CTF Group to facilitate its sale to Mr. Wong on or around the 
same day, following Mr. Ho's death. Alpha Era and Suncity Group (in which Mr. Chau held equity) jointly owned GYE at this time. 

We understand from information provided in interview by Mr. Jacob Lee, the internal CTFE legal team assisted with the loan agreements, the 
directorship arrangement involving Skywalker, and guarantees by CTFH and the owners of Alpha Era.24  In our opinion, the CTFE legal team 
would reasonably have known of these arrangements at the time of their submissions to OLGR and PKF. 

During interview, when asked regarding the accuracy of submissions made by CTFE, Mr. Patrick Tsang advised 'the points are accurate, but 
they are not as fulsome as they should be... in looking back... we should have done a better job, / think we have also... apologised for this... 
failure... we probably took a too narrow a view of the scope... of that question'. Mr. Tsang expressed a commitment on behalf of CTFE to 
'make sure that something like this would never happen again, that going forward our answers will be fulsome and that... trust... is there .25 

CTFE submitted a voluntary proposal regarding ongoing reporting arrangements to OLGR on 14 November 2023, the proposal was 
considered in our assessment of review recommendations provided in Section 1.7. 

1.6.10 Table 5 provides a summary of our findings in this regard for consideration regarding the repute of Dr. Henry Cheng. 

Table 5: Findings for consideration regarding Dr. Henry Cheng in relation to section 20(1) (a) of the Act 

Dr. Henry Cheng 

In our opinion, the following investigation findings can be made and are relevant when assessing the repute of Dr. Henry Cheng for the 
purpose of assessing his suitability under section 20(1)(a) of the Act. 

Person 

Finding 

24  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Jacob Lee on 10 November 2023, pages 33, 44, 65, 69 
25  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, Part I pages 8 and 24. 
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Dr. Henry Cheng: 

a. Made the final assessment regarding whether the CTF Group would engage with Mr. Chau in the context of the IEC proposal in 

2014/2015. We are advised the IEC proposal did not proceed because of unsatisfactory financial due diligence. 

b. In interview on 9 November 2023: 

i. When speaking about the IEC proposal, advised he did not like the junket business that Mr. Chau was engaged in and 

did not want to be connected with it. 

ii. Advised that he, and the CTF Group, place a heavy emphasis on reputation and he did not want to enter an equity 

arrangement with Mr. Chau. 

iii. Advised that he was very dissatisfied when he subsequently learned the CTF Group had entered an equity 

arrangement with Mr. Chau in relation to the Vietnam Project (through GYE) and welcomed the Vietnamese 

Government's concerns regarding Mr. Chau's financial viability and thought it would be better if Mr. Chau ceased to 

be a shareholder. 

c. When asked whether he was aware of any other forms of due diligence, i.e. non-financial due diligence, undertaken in relation to the IEC 

proposal, Dr. Cheng advised 'Due diligence at the end of the day is for me to say whether it is okay or not. / don't like it, I therefore 

rejected if 26  The evidence demonstrates there was a heavy reliance on Dr. Cheng's assessment and a potential lack of independent 

due diligence regarding the integrity of potential business partners. 

d. After deciding to exit the Vietnam Project, negotiated agreements with Mr. Ho and subsequently Mr. Wong regarding their purchase of 

GYE and the interest in the Vietnam Project (through Alpha Era). This included the provision of loans to fund the purchase, funding for 

Alpha Era's contributions for future development costs of the project, and administrative and management services in relation to the 

investment. The agreement between Dr. Cheng and Mr. Ho was initially undocumented and described by CTFE as a "handshake 

26  Official Transcript of interview with Dr. Henry Cheng on 9 November 2023, Part I, page 17. 
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agreement". The agreements were formalised in May 2018 shortly before Mr. Ho's death in August 2018. Following Mr. Ho's death, 
Dr. Cheng agreed with Mr. Wong for Mr. Wong to purchase Alpha Era and its interest in GYE and the Vietnam Project, on similar terms as 
had been provided to Mr. Ho. 

e. Agreed arrangements with Mr. Ho and Mr. Wong whereby the: 

i. Loans, guarantees and other support provided by the CTF Group to Alpha Era could be reasonably inferred from the evidence, to 
likely have provided the CTF Group with significant influence regarding Alpha Era's interest in the Vietnam Project, whilst Mr. Chau 

was a business associate of Alpha Era through his indirect equity interest in GYE27  and the Vietnam Project; and 

ii. Loans from the CTF Group to Alpha Era and the back-to--back guarantee by CTFH to Vietin Bank both provided and facilitated 

funding for the development of the Vietnam Project whilst Mr. Chau held an indirect equity interest in the project via Star Admiral 

then Suncity Group. 

f. Considered the loans to Alpha Era to be 'a personal arrangement and a personal loan' to someone he has known for decades, rather 
than the provision of finance.28 

g. Delegated the implementation of the agreements with Mr. Ho and Mr. Wong regarding the Vietnam Project to Mr. Patrick Tsang. 

We note, Mr. Chau was not arrested until 28 November 2021, nor convicted until 2023, and until that point Suncity Group was operating in 
several jurisdictions, including Australia. 

Basis Knowledge of Mr. Chau's business and character: 

 
The following excerpts are taken from OLGR and PKF's interview with Dr. Cheng on 9 November 2023. Dr. Cheng: 

   

      

27  Mr. Chau's interest was held through Star Admiral and subsequently the Suncity Group. 
28  Official Transcript of interview with Dr. Henry Cheng on 9 November 2023 Part I, page 46. 
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a. Advised '1 know Chau is in gambling... / therefore discussed with him in 2013 in the IEC transaction. I know he is in the junket business 

and it's the junket business that he wants to inject into IEC and / don't like the junket business. / don't want to be connected with junket 

business and therefore, at the end, the deal did not proceed because 'objected to if. For completeness, we are advised the IEC 

proposal did not proceed because of unsatisfactory financial due diligence. 

b. When asked what about the junket business he did not like or did not want to be associated with, Dr. Cheng advised 'Because, junket 

business normally would have complications in the background. And this is because, I personally as well as my company, place heavy 

emphasis on reputation. Hence, l would not enter into a [equity] joint venture... Because, if we have equity together, then it would be like 

/ would be doing junket business'.29 

c. When asked what complications he was referring to, Dr. Cheng advised 'The details, I don't know. That is because/ don't know about 

junket business. However, my personal observation is that in respect of this kind of transactions [sic] concerning gambling involving 

junket business, that there would not be a lot of documentation or legal support for the transactions. Maybe not everybody is 

complicated That, / wouldn't know/ .3° 

d. When asked regarding whether the word "complicated" may refer to an understanding that the junket business may not necessarily be 

legal, Dr. Cheng advised '/ don't know whether it is legal or not This would be a matter for the government to determine. But in the 

majority of cases, the people involved would be rather complicated .3' 

e. During the interview, it was noted that the financial due diligence regarding the IEC/Suncity Group transaction was not satisfactory. 

When asked whether any other due diligence was undertaken at that time, Dr. Cheng responded 'Due diligence at the end of the day is 

for me to say whether it is okay or not / don't like it, I therefore rejected it.  32 

29  Official Transcript of interview with Dr. Henry Cheng on 9 November 2023, Part 1, page 15. 

3°  Official Transcript of interview with Dr. Henry Cheng on 9 November 2023, Part 1, page 16. 

31  Official Transcript of interview with Dr. Henry Cheng on 9 November 2023, Part 1, page 16. 

32  Official Transcript of interview with Dr. Henry Cheng on 9 November 2023: Part 1, pages 16 and 17. 
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f. Advised he did not tell management regarding his view of Mr. Chau and there may have been a communication problem between 
himself and management. His personal view was that he had concerns and did not like Mr. Chau nor want to have any business with 
hi M.33 

g- Advised that when he 'came to understand that management and VMS established a consortium [involving Mr. Chau in relation to the 
Vietnam Project], and the consortium took the form of equity. I was very dissatisfied at the time... the... Vietnamese government 
apparently has some views concerning Chau. So I thought it would be better if Chau would cease to be a shareholder. So my thinking 
was, this would have nothing to do with the Australian investment So / explained to the Australian government then that I had no 
relationship or transaction with Chau. This is the position from my perspective because l place heavy emphasis on reputation. I'm 
thinking I did not share directly with management.. at the end of the day, for large major projects, I will be the ultimate person making 
the call. But I wouldn't go into the details and l would not be familiar with details of documents. 'acknowledge that in respect of this 
project [the Vietnam Project], there might have been some misunderstanding between management and myself .34 

We note that Mr. Chau was not arrested until 28 November 2021, nor convicted until 2023, and until that point Suncity Group was operating 
in several jurisdictions, including Australia. In December 2021, the Vietnam Project terminated its casino management agreement with 
Suncity Group, and Mr. Chau resigned from his positions as Chairman and Executive Director of Suncity Group. As of 13 May 2022, Mr. Chau 
no longer held shares in Suncity Group. 

Negotiation of arrangements in relation to the Vietnam Project 

In April 2016, the CTF Group decided to divest of its equity interest in the Vietnam Project. CTFE has advised it was difficult to find a suitable 
buyer in a timely manner and Dr. Cheng negotiated an agreement at this time for Mr. Ho to purchase the interest in GYE and the 
Vietnam Project via Alpha Era.35  The agreement was described by CTFE as a "handshake agreement" that was undocumented until 

33Official Transcript of interview with Dr. Henry Cheng on 9 November 2023, Part 2, page 3. 
34Official Transcript of interview with Dr. Henry Cheng on 9 November 2023, Part I, page 31. 
35  CTFE's Factual Background Document, paragraphs 59 to 66. 
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May 2018, when formal agreements were entered prior to Mr. Ho's death in August 2018. Following Mr. Ho's death, Dr. Cheng negotiated an 

agreement for Mr. Wong to purchase the interest in Alpha Era, GYE and the Vietnam Project, on the same terms as had been offered to 

Mr. Ho. 

To avoid duplication, we refer to our basis of findings provided in respect of CTFE at Table 4. The nature of the agreements between 

Dr. Cheng and Mr. Ho, and subsequently Mr. Wong, involved the provision of: 

a. Substantial management, administrative, payment and legal services by the CTF Group to Alpha Era in relation to its investment in 

the Vietnam Project36; 

b. At-call loans by the CTF Group to Alpha Era so that Alpha Era did not need to outlay funds in relation to the purchase of its interest in 

the Vietnam Project or its subsequent development costs; and 

c. Back-to-back guarantees by CTFH in respect of Mr. Ho and Mr. Wong's personal guarantees of the Vietin Bank credit facility for the 

development of the Vietnam Project. The guarantees were limited to 34% of the USD 484 million credit facility, i.e. USD 165 million, 

and were conditions precedent of the facility. It is our understanding that the conditions precedent were a requirement for the 

credit facility being made available in respect of the development of the Vietnam Project. 

When the agreements between Dr. Cheng and Mr. Ho were formalised in May 2018, a Share Repurchase Agreement was executed that 

subsequently facilitated the purchase of Alpha Era by the CTF Group and its sale to Mr. Wong. 

It may reasonably be inferred that the arrangements agreed between Dr. Cheng, Mr Tsang and Mr. Ho, and subsequently Mr. Wong, 

provided the CTF Group with significant influence regarding Alpha Era's interest in the Vietnam Project. 

36  Alpha Era's investment in the Vietnam Project was held via its interest in GYE. 
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Accuracy of information submitted to OLGR 

During interview, Dr. Cheng advised he did not consider the loans provided by CTF Group to Alpha Era to consistitute financing, stating ̀ No, 
this is a personal arrangement and a personal loan. 37 

Dr. Cheng was shown correspondence from CTFE to OLGR, dated 20 May 2022, where CTFE stated 'the Chow Tai Fook group is not involved 
in the ownership, management, administration or financing of any persons associated with Suncity, Mr. Alvin Chau or their associates in any 
endeavour or business enterprise globally, other than in respect of the Hoiana Integrated Resort as set out above' (referring to the hotel 
management agreements).38 

When asked whether this statement by CTFE was accurate, Dr. Cheng replied 'I think it's accurate. 

OLGR clarified at this point whether Dr. Cheng's view was 'that Chow Tai Fook Group was not financing the Vietnam Project, rather it was a 
loan to a friend. Dr. Cheng responded ' Yes'. 

When OLGR probed, 'OLGR was not told about the loans to Alpha Era or to Mr. Ho, which totalled approximately USD 388 million', Dr. Cheng 
responded 'It's lending to Mr. Hd. 

When OLGR asked what Dr. Cheng would say to the perception that OLGR had been misled or misinformed by CTFE regarding the loans, 
Dr. Cheng stated '/ don't think so... the money that was lent, they could have borrowed from other sources as well, um, finance companies... 
but the projects we have no involvement - no involvement in - in the affairs except hotel management... : 39 

37  Official Transcript of interview with Dr. Henry Cheng on 9 November 2023, Part I, page 46 
38  Official Transcript of interview with Dr. Henry Cheng on 9 November 2023, Part 2, page 1 
39  Official Transcript of interview with Dr. Henry Cheng on 9 November 2023, Part 2, pages land 2 
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1.6.11 Table 6 provides a summary of our findings in this regard for consideration regarding the repute of Mr. Patrick Tsang. 

Table 6: Findings for consideration regarding Mr. Patrick Tsang in relation to section 20(1) (a) of the Act 

Person Mr. Patrick Tsang 

Finding In our opinion, the following investigation findings can be made and are relevant when assessing the repute of Mr. Patrick Tsang for the 

purpose of assessing suitability under section 20(1)(a) of the Act. 

Mr. Tsang: 

a. Developed a commercial proposal with Dr. Cheng for the CTF Group to exit the Vietnam Project.4° 

b. Was responsible for implementing the agreements negotiated by Dr. Cheng with Mr. Ho and Mr. Wong regarding the Vietnam Project 

and approved the structure that was agreed. 

c. Was provided with verbal updates regarding major developments in relation to the Vietnam Project on an irregular ad-hoc basis by 

Mr. Jacob Lee (CTFE Senior Vice President).41  Mr. Lee would also seek acknowledgement from Mr. Tsang regarding the funding required 

by Alpha Era from the CTF Group to pay its capital calls in relation to the Vietnam Project.42 

d. Read and provided approval for CTFE's responses to OLGR and PKF's information requests. When asked regarding the accuracy of CTFE's 

responses, Mr. Tsang advised 'the points are accurate, but they are not as fulsome as they should be... in looking back... we should have 

done a better job, l think we have also... apologised for this... failure... we probably took a too narrow a view of the scope... of that 

question' .43 

40  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, page 34 

4.1  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Jacob Lee on 10 November 2023, pages 12,13, 35, 36 

42  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Jacob Lee on 10 November 2023, pages 40 and 41 

43  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November, Part 2, pages 7 and 8 
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e. Advised that, although his executives and advisers provided CTFE's responses to OLGR and PKF's information requests, as CTFE's CEO, he 
is responsible for the responses." 

f. Was aware of Mr. Chau's reputation in 2014/2015 through reports in the media, however had relied on VMS (who had brought the deal to 
CTFE) to undertake appropriate vetting of investment partners in relation to the Vietnam Project and took some comfort that Mr. Chau 
was licensed to do business in Australia and the USA and had to go through the procedures, processes and investigations associated 
with those licenses.45 

g. During interview, volunteered for CTFE to provide a 'proposal that hopefully going forward... we can help and we will be proactive in 
terms of our communication, in terms of our disclosure, in terms of ensuring... very important to you that something like this will never 
happen again... that we need to keep this very transparent communication going forward... to make sure that something like this would 
never happen again, that going forward our answers will be fulsome and that you will... the trust:. is there .46 

We note, Mr. Chau was not arrested until 28 November 2021, nor convicted until 2023, and until that point Suncity Group was operating in 
several jurisdictions, including Australia. 

Basis Knowledge of Mr. Chau's business and character: 

Mr. Tsang advised in interview on 8 November 2023, that in 2014/2015 he was aware of Mr. Chau's reputation through reports in the media; 
however, he did not know Mr. Chau personally and relied on VMS (who brought CTFE the deal) to undertake appropriate vetting of the 
investment partners it introduced.47  Mr. Tsang also obtained comfort that Mr. Chau was licensed to do business in Australia and the USA and 
had to undergo the associated checks involved in obtaining those licenses. 

" Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, Part 2, page 9 
45  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, Part 1, pages 19 to 21; and 33 
45  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, Part 2, pages 23 and 24 

47  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, Part I, pages 19 and 20 
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Mr. Chau was not arrested until 28 November 2021, nor convicted until 2023, and until that point Suncity Group was operating in several 

jurisdictions, including Australia. In December 2021, the Vietnam Project terminated its casino management agreement with Suncity Group, 

and Mr. Chau resigned from his positions as Chairman and Executive Director of Suncity Group. As of 13 May 2022, Mr. Chau no longer held 

shares in Suncity Group. 

Implementation of agreements regarding the Vietnam Project 

As discussed above, Dr. Henry Cheng delegated implementation of his agreements with Mr. Ho and Mr. Wong regarding the 

Vietnam Project to Mr. Tsang. 

Accuracy of information submitted to OLGR. 

To avoid duplication, we refer to our basis of findings provided in respect of Media Allegation 1 at Table 1 (from paragraph 1.6.3) regarding, 

what in our opinion was, incomplete and/or inaccurate information provided by CTFE in its submissions to OLGR on 20 May 2022, 

9 December 2022 and 14 March 2023. 

In interview, Mr. Tsang advised he had read and provided approval for CTFE's responses to OLGR and PKF's information requests.48 

Mr. Tsang was shown correspondence from CTFE to OLGR, dated 20 May 2022, and drawn to questions regarding the involvement of CTFE 

and/or associates in the ownership, management, administration or financing of the hotels and casino; and, the description of Alpha Era as 

a third-party investor. When asked whether he thought CTFE's response was accurate, Mr. Tsang advised 'the points are accurate, but they 

are not as fulsome as they should be... in looking back.. we should have done a better job, I think we have also... apologised for this... 

failure... we probably took a too narrow a view of the scope... of that question 49 

Mr. Tsang advised that he 'personally did not draft the response, but... as the CEO I am responsible and.. CTF is responsible. We need to be 

transparent with you, we need to be fulsome with you... we have taken too narrow a view of the definition of the question, so we... did not 

48  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, Part 2, page 7 

48  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, Part 2, pages 7 and 8 
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do a good job in... that part. So for that... as we have stated,... we regret it and we will make sure that going forward... that wIl not happen 
again' .5° 

When asked what his role was in preparing the responses to OLGR, Mr. Tsang stated 'my executives... with my advisors... provided the... 
response, but as the CEO, again / take responsibility...'.5' 

OLGR asked Mr. Tsang whether, with his knowledge of the loans and guarantees associated with the Vietnam Project, he thought CTFE 
should have included that information when preparing its responses. Mr. Tsang advised 'we... sold the project a long time ago... So I wanted 
to make sure that from OLGR's perspective it is very clear that... we are no longer a part of that project. We do however, have a financing 
relationship with Mr. Ho, and then with Mr. Wong,... I think... in hindsight and afterwards,... we did provide all the documents [referring to 
CTFE's 9 October 2023 submission]... everything to you and hopefully that illustrates our... intention and sincerity.. in terms of sharing... that 
there is nothing to hide... and hopefully, that... provides to you that going forward... we will do a better jod .52 

When asked whether he considered CTFE's responses to OLGR to have been misleading, Mr. Tsang advised 'l personally will not use the 
word... misleading... there is no intention to mislead you... they were not fulsome, they were not... adequate, perhaps it was inadequate... 
we have fallen short... :53 

Towards the conclusion of the interview, Mr. Tsang advised CTFE is 'working on a proposal that hopefully going forward... we can help and 
we will be proactive in terms of our communication, in terms of our disclosure, in terms of ensuring... something like this will never happy 
again...'. CTFE's submission was received on 14 November 2023 and is considered separately at Section 1.7 of this report. 

5°  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, Part 2, page 9 
51  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, Part 2, page 9 
52  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, Part 2, pages 9 and 10 
53  Official Transcript of interview of Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, Part 2, pages 12,13 and 15 
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Findings regarding sections 20(1) (f) of the Act 

1.6.12 The terms of reference to our investigation require we provide findings relevant for the Minister to assess to whether CTFE or its associates have 

business associations with persons not of good repute or have undesirable financial sources in relation to section 20(1)(f) of the Act. "Repute" 

requires regard to 'character, honesty and integrity. 

1.6.13 During the course of our investigation, CTFE disclosed business associations between: 

a. The CTF Group and Mr. Chau, who in 2023 was convicted in Macao of significant fraud perpetrated against the government; and 

b. The owners of Alpha Era (being associates of the CTF Group) and Mr. Chau, through their shared ownership of GYE. 

1.6.14 Our investigation findings regarding business associations between the CTF Group and its associates and Mr. Chau are summarised in Table 7. 

Further detailed discussion of our findings is provided in Section 4 of this report. 

Table 7: Findings for consideration regarding business associations regarding Mr. Chau 

Person Mr. Chau 

Business 

associations 

a. 

b. 

The CTF Group sold 50% of its interest in GYE (and the Vietnam Project) to Mr. Chau on 22 April 2016. 

The CTF Group funded Alpha Era's shareholder contributions (via loans from the CTF Group to Alpha Era) for the development of 

the Vietnam Project whilst Mr. Chau held an indirect equity interest in the project (via Star Admiral then Suncity Group). 

c. CTFH provided guarantees54  to Vietin Bank which were conditions precedent to the USD 484 million HASD funding facility for the 

development of the Vietnam Project, of which Mr. Chau held an indirect interest via Star Admiral then Suncity Group. The 

CTFH Guarantee was in respect of the personal liabilities of Mr. Ho and Mr. Wong (the Ho Guarantee and the Wong Guarantee) 

and was limited to 34% of the credit facility (USD 165 million). 

54  In respect of the personal guarantees by Mr. Ho and then by Mr. Wong. 
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d. During September 2018 and following the death of Mr. Ho, the CTF Group briefly purchased Alpha Era to facilitate its sale to 

Mr. Wong. At this time, Alpha Era owned 50% of the equity in GYE and Suncity Group (of which Mr. Chau held an equity interest) 

owned the other 50% of equity in GYE. 

e. From 2020 to 2022, the CTF Group provided funding to Alpha Era in relation to the Vietnam Project that was in excess of Alpha 

Era's equity interest in the project because the two other project partners (VinaCapital and Suncity Group) ' were struggling to 

come up with... their pro-rata share... in the funding requirement'.55  Mr. Chau held an indirect equity interest in the project via 

Suncity Group during this time. 

1.6.15 Our investigation findings regarding business associations between associates of the CTF Group and Mr. Chau are summarised in Table 8. These 

include in relation to Mr. Ho and Mr. Wong, both of whom held/hold equity in Alpha Era. Alpha Era holds a 50% interest in GYE, through which an 

interest in the Vietnam Casino is held. Mr. Chau also held an indirect equity interest in GYE via: 

a. Star Admiral until around August 2017; and 

b. Suncity Group from around August 2017 to 13 May 2022. 

1.6.16 On this basis, Mr. Ho and Mr. Wong were considered business associates of Mr. Chau in respect of their shared equity interest in GYE and the 

Vietnam Project, for the purposes of this investigation. 

1.6.17 Further detailed discussion of our findings is provided in Section 4 of this report. 

55  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Jacob Lee on 10 November 2023, page 41. 
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Table 8: Findings for consideration regarding business associations with business associates of Mr. Chau 

Person(s) Mr. Ho and Mr. Wong (owners of Alpha Era) 

Business a. Mr. Wong has been employed by CTFJ since 1998 and is currently the CTFJ Director of Strategic Finance and responsible for the 

associations financing and treasury management of the CTF Group. 

b. Mr. Wong's father and Mr. Ho co-founded CTFJ with Dr. Cheng Yu Tung in the 1940s. 

c. The CTF Group has provided significant at-call loans to Mr. Ho and Mr. Wong in respect of their purchase of GYE and the 

subsequent development of the Vietnam Project. From 2020 to 2022, the CTF Group funded shareholder contributions in excess 

of Alpha Era's interest in the Vietnam Project to support the continued development of the project. This occurred because the 

two other project partners (VinaCapital and Suncity Group) were 'struggling to come up with... their pro-rata share... in the 

funding requiremenf.56  CTFE has advised that as of 29 October 2023, the loans were USD 484 million. As a result of the loans and 

funding, it can be reasonably inferred that the CTF Group would have had significant influence with Mr. Ho (prior to his death) 

and Mr. Wong. 

d. CTFH provided back-to-back guarantees to Vietin Bank in respect of personal guarantees by Mr. Ho and Mr. Wong (the 

Ho Guarantee and the Wong Guarantee) in respect of a credit facility provided regarding the development of the Vietnam 

Project. The CTFH guarantees were a condition precedent of the facility and were limited to 34% of credit facility (USD 165 million). 

e. Mr. Ho entered into a Share Repurchase Agreement, dated 15 May 2018, through which CTF Group subsidiary (Even Success 

Holdings Limited) should have a Share Charge. The CTF Group briefly purchased Alpha Era on or around 26 September 2018 

(following Mr. Ho's death) and sold the interest to Mr. Wong on or around the same day. 

56  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Jacob Lee on 10 November 2023: page 41 
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f. CTFE and the CTF Group provided significant management, administrative, banking and legal services to Alpha Era and Mr. Ho 
and Mr. Wong. 

g. CTFE Senior Vice President, Mr. Jacob Lee, was a member of the Executive and Audit Committees of the Vietnam Project from 

commencement of those committees until July 2022. Mr. Lee initially held these positions in respect of the CTF Group's interest in 

the Vietnam Project, however subsequently held the positions in respect of Alpha Era's investment in the project. 

h. CTF Group controlled entity, Skywalker, has been a corporate director of Alpha Era since 26 January 2015. Skywalker was 

controlled by CTFE from 26 January 2015 to 12 August 2022 and by CTFH from 12 August 2022. 

i. CTFE Senior Vice President, Mr. Jacob Lee, was a director of Skywalker from 26 January 2015 to 12 August 2022 and was able to 

sign documents on behalf of Alpha Era owner, Mr. Ho, during this period. 
    

      

PKF Integrity Services 
41 



Department of Justice and Attorney General 
Chow Tai Fook Enterprises and Associate 

Findings regarding the sufficiency of the Initial Suitability Review 

1.6.18 The Initial Suitability Review conducted by OLGR during 2014 and 2015 was conducted 

with diligence, due care and appropriate scope. The investigation findings, which were 

published in the 2015 Probity Report, repeatedly referenced concerns regarding a lack of 

cooperation in the investigation process from CTFE. In our opinion, this may indicate a 

reluctance by CTFE to provide complete information and should be considered in 

conjunction with the concerns identified during the current investigation regarding the 

accuracy, openness and completeness of information provided by CTFE. 

1.6.19 Searches conducted by KordaMentha during the Initial Suitability Review included World-

Check One searches on relevant individuals and entities to identify concerns such as 

whether persons were politically exposed, sanctioned, linked to organised crime, or 

involved in other criminal activities such as money laundering and corruption. 

1.6.20 The review undertaken by Piper Alderman contained extensive information on the 

background of specific individuals and entities associated with CTFE. This information 

was sourced from publicly available information, including a comprehensive report 

prepared by the New Jersey Division of Gaming Enforcement ("NJDGE"). The NJDGE 

report contained critical information regarding Dr. Cheng Yu Tung, Dr. Henry Cheng and 

Mr. Stanley Ho. 

1.6.21 Whilst these are a recognised form of enquiry regarding the background of individuals, 

we believe the review may have been supplemented by the inclusion of 

and local language searches as was undertaken in the current 

investigation. 

1.6.22 KordaMentha and Piper Alderman both identified the potential impact of the acquisition 

of Suncity Group by IEC, however enquiries into the proposed acquisition were limited 

once Dr. Henry Cheng advised IEC would not proceed with the acquisition of Suncity 

Group at that time. Importantly, it was recognised that further enquiries should be 

undertaken by OLGR if the deal with IEC were to proceed. 

1.6.23 The findings of the Initial Suitability Review were reasonable and consistent with the 

evidence gathered by the investigation team. 

Findings regarding the sufficiency of the OLGR's ongoing suitability monitoring activities 

1.6.24 The OLGR's ongoing suitability monitoring activities include compliance requirements 

(i.e. audit financial statements) under the Act, periodic financial reporting and regular 

adverse media searches. 

1.6.2 5 Our review identified that a recommendation of the 2015 Probity Report for a deed of 

cooperation to be entered into between CTFE and government had not been completed. 
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1.6.26 We have included suggested additional ongoing review activities based on our 

investigation findings for consideration by OLGR and the Minister at Section 1.7 of this 

report. These recommendations include consideration of CTFE's submission regarding 

proposed activities to improve the relationship between CTFE, OLGR and the State of 

Queensland, following CTFE's submission of substantive new information during the 

course of this investigation in response to an information requirement issued under 

section 30C of the Act. 

1.7 Recommendations 

1.7.1 We make the following recommendations, based on our investigation findings, for 

consideration by OLGR and the Minister in conjunction with the Minister's assessment 

under sections 20(1)(a) and (f) of the Act: 

a. Consideration be provided to the divestment or appropriate quarantine of any 

entities or persons deemed by the Minister to be unsuitable so that risk and 

exposure to the QWB development and DBC consortium are effectively managed. 

b. Consideration of an independent expert in relation to Australian casino regulation 

to be appointed to monitor CTFE and the CTF Group's performance and 

compliance with relevant laws and agreements with the State of Queensland 

regarding the QWB development. The expert should report to OLGR. 

c. CTFE to provide quarterly "in-person" or virtual updates to OLGR regarding the 

CTF Group's global gaming and casino investments and financial exposures, 

including loans. CTFE's reporting obligations should include notification of the 

appointment of new officers/directors, and the attaining of new associates. A 

summary of the financial investments and exposures, and new officers/directors 

and associates, should be provided to OLGR prior to the update to provide OLGR 

sufficient time to prepare probing queries in relation to any areas of further 

interest. 

d. To the extent it is not already required, upon the CTF Group receiving notice, CTFE 

is to immediately notify OLGR in writing of: 

i. any other external regulatory investigations; 

ii. formal regulator enquiries; or 

iii. legal proceedings in which a penalty (whether civil or criminal) or fine is 

sought; 

iv. involving the CTF Group or its associates, relating to projects with gaming 

amenities or involving gaming, in any jurisdiction other than investigations, 

enquiries or proceedings being conducted by OLGR. 
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e. A periodic integrity deep dive review to be undertaken or managed by OLGR in 

relation to all CTF Group projects with an exposure or association to gaming so 

that any new, previously unknown and existing risks may be appropriately 

identified, assessed and managed in relation to the QWB development. 

f. CTFE shall design and prepare integrity related policies in response to the findings 

of this report, for review and assessment by OLGR. The integrity related policies 

should be subject to ongoing review and consideration of their suitability by OLGR 

as part of its ongoing monitoring activities. 

g. Completion of annual training by the CTFE legal and compliance teams and DBC 

directors regarding: 

Integrity, ethics and conflicts of interest; 

ii. Anti-money laundering and counter terrorism financing (albeit we note 

that our investigation has not made adverse findings regarding these 

areas); and 

iii. Australian directors' duties. 

1.7.2 Further detailed discussion regarding the above recommendations is provided at 

Section 11 of this report. 
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2. Introduction 

2.1 Background 

2.1.1 Queens Wharf Brisbane 

2.1.2 On 14 October 2013, the Queensland Government announced an expression of interest for 

the redevelopment of the QWB precinct in the Brisbane central business district, 

including the development of a casino and resort. 

2.1.3 On 27 May 2014, then Deputy Premier and Minister for State Development, Infrastructure 

and Planning, Mr. Jeff Seeney, announced five entities had been selected to lodge 

proposals outlining their bids to develop the QWB site, including development of a casino 

facility. The five entities merged to become two consortia, one of which was DBC, 

comprising: 

a. Far East Consortium (Australia) Pty Ltd ("FEC") 

b. CTFE, and 

c. Echo Entertainment Group Limited ("Echo"), subsequently The Star Entertainment 

Group Limited ("Star").57 

2015 Probity Report 

2.1.4 On 14 October 2013, the Queensland Government announced an expression of interest for 

the redevelopment of the QWB precinct in the Brisbane central business district, 

including the development of a casino and resort. 

2.1.5 The scope of the OLGR Initial Suitability Review, including the investigation criteria and the 

entities and individuals assessed, are provided at Appendix 4. The OLGR was assisted in its 

review by: 

a. The Queensland Police; 

b. BDO East Coast Partnership ("BDO"), in relation to financial due diligence; 

c. Piper Alderman, in relation to legal due diligence; and 

d. KordaMentha, in relation to enquiries regarding a proposed acquisition by 

International Entertainment Corporation ("IEC"). 

2.1.6 The OLGR provided the findings of its Initial Suitability Review in its "Probity Report", dated 

20 April 2015. A copy of the 2015 Probity Report is provided at Appendix 4. 

57  Echo Entertainment Group Limited changed its name to The Star Entertainment Group Limited in November 2015. 
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Casino licence granted 

2.1.7 On 20 July 2015, the Queensland Government announced it had selected DBC as its 

preferred proponent for the QWB development. The Queensland Government granted a 

casino licence in respect of the QWB development to DBC on 14 October 2016. 

2.1.8 Construction of the QWB development is ongoing. 

Ongoing suitability review 

2.1.9 The suitability of CTFE and its associates' connection to the QWB casino has received 

significant media attention. As a result of these media allegations, on 29 September 2022, 

the Attorney-General and Minister for Justice, Minister for Women and Minister for the 

Prevention of Domestic and Family Violence, the Honorable Shannon Fentiman approved 

an investigation into the suitability of CTFE to be associated with the ownership and 

operation of a casino within Queensland under the Act, pursuant to section 30 of the Act. 

2.2 Scope 

2.2.1 On 25 November 2022, PKF was engaged by the DJAG to undertake a review of the repute 

of CTFE and its associates; and a review regarding whether CTFE or its associates have 

business associations with persons not of good repute or have undesirable financial 

sources. Our review was to be conducted in accordance with section 30 of the Act and 

examine those matters, as they relate to CTFE and its identified associates as set out 

under section 20(1) (a) and (f) of the Act. 

2.2.2 The scope of the review includes: 

a. A review of the unresolved media allegations to determine if they impact CTFE's 

suitability, in terms of business associations or undesirable financial sources (as 

detailed in the Terms of Reference provided at Appendix 2. 

b. Reviewing the evolution of the business since the Initial Suitability Review and 

identifying any new or emerging business associations since the initial investigations 

which may impact CTFE's suitability and assessing the risk of the association. 

c. Recommending mitigations for any risks identified. 

d. Reviewing the sufficiency of the initial investigation and following up on any gaps. 

e. Reviewing the sufficiency of the OLGR ongoing suitability monitoring process and 

recommending improvements where required. 

f. Provision of our findings in this report. 
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2.3 Allegations 

2.3.1 The media articles provided at Appendix 3 include multiple allegations, 

which are summarised for the purposes of this investigation as: 

a. Media Allegation 1: The CTF Group has a concealed relationship with a person not of 

good repute, Mr. Alvin Chau, through an ongoing interest in the Hoi Ana Casino Resort 

in Vietnam (referred to herein as the "Vietnam Project"). 

b. Media Allegation 2: CTF Group subsidiary, "New World", is frequently the venue of 

meetings involving triad figures and is a front for money laundering. 

c. Media Allegation 3: CTF Group's interest in Sociedad de Turismo e Diversoes de 

Macao ("STDM") has resulted in a partnership between Dr. Cheng Yu Tung and a 

person not of good repute, Mr. Yip Hon; and, that another person not of good repute, 

"Broken Tooth" Koi, held an $8 million interest in a VIP room owned by Dr. Cheng Yu 

Tung and Mr. Stanley Ho. 

2.4 Structure of this report 

2.4.1 This report is structured so that an overview of relevant background, our review 

methodology and a summary of findings and recommendations are provided in the 

Executive Summary at Section 0. Further detailed discussion of the issues considered in 

the review and findings are provided in the body of the report, as follows. 

2.4.2 Section 2 provides relevant background and the scope of our review. 

2.4.3 Section 3 provides details of the methodology undertaken for our review. 

2.4.4 Sections 4 to 6 examine information identified during the course of our review relating to: 

a. Alleged associations between CTFE and Mr. Alvin Chau via an ongoing interest in the 

Vietnam Project; 

b. Alleged links between NWD and organised crime figures; and 

c. Allegations regarding CTFH's interest in STDM. 

2.4.5 Section 7 provides the findings of our investigation: 

a. Which we consider are relevant for the Minister to assess the repute of CTFE and its 

associates in relation to section 20(1)(a); and 

b. Which we consider are relevant for the Minister to assess whether CTFE or its 

associates have business associations with persons not of good repute or have 

undesirable financial sources in relation to section 20(1) (f) of the Act. 

2.4.6 Section 8 examines the evolution of and changes to the CTFE corporate structure since 

the Initial Suitability Review was undertaken in 2015. 
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2.4.7 Section 9 and 10 provide our analysis and findings regarding the sufficiency of the 

Initial Suitability Review and the sufficiency of OLGR's ongoing suitability monitoring 

activities. 

2.4.8 Section 11 provides our detailed recommendations resulting from our review. 

2.4.9 Section 12 contains a copy of the terms and conditions under which this engagement 

was undertaken. 

2.5 Limitations 

2.5.1 The following limitations were identified during our review: 

a. The opacity and limitations regarding availability of information associated with 

corporate filings in jurisdictions such as the British Virgin Islands ("BVI") and Macao 

constrained our enquiries in some circumstances. 

2.5.2 Consideration of associations with Mr. Stanley Ho were excluded from the scope of our 

review albeit that Mr. Stanley Ho was the subject of some media allegations. This is on the 

basis Mr. Stanley Ho was the subject of significant examination during the Initial Suitability 

Review and passed away on 26 May 2020. 
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3. Methodology 

3.1 Methodologies undertaken in relation to various compents of the review 

3.1.1 The scope of our review involved multiple components, each of which had distinct 

methodologies. These are set out below. 

3.1.2 The standard of proof applied in this investigation and in the preparation of this report 

and its findings has been on the balance of probabilities. Allegations were found to be 

substantiated where they were supported by direct evidence; or, unsubstantiated where 

they were not supported by direct evidence. 

Investigation of media allegations and the suitability of CTFE and associates with regard to 

sections 20(1) (a) and (f) of the Act 

3.1.3 Briefing of . who had been contracted to 

3.1.4 

3.1.5 

3.1.6 

3.1.7 

3.1.11 Preparation of this report documenting our investigation findings and recommendations. 
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Sufficiency of the initial Probity Review and OLGR's ongoing suitability monitoring process 

3.1.12 Review of the initial Probity Report and consideration of its sufficiency given information 

available at the time of its preparation and any applicable learnings from this 

investigation. 

3.1.13 Consideration of OLGR's ongoing suitability monitoring process and any 

recommendations identified from this investigation. 

Changes to the CTFE corporate structure 

3.1.14 Review of information disclosed to us by CTFE in response to our queries regarding 

changes to the CTFE corporate structure since the initial Probity Report was published in 

2015. 
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4. Links to Alvin Chau and ongoing 

interest in the Vietnam Project 

4.1 Allegations 

4.1.1 On 22 August 2022, the ABC Article made several allegations, which are summarised for 

the purposes of this report as "Media Allegation 1". 

Media Allegation 1: 

The CTF Group has a concealed relationship with a person not of good repute, 

Mr. Chau, through an ongoing interest in the Vietnam Project. 

4.1.2 The statements contained in the ABC Article relevant to Media Allegation 1 include: 

a. 'In 2014, the company forged a new relationship with Alvin Chau, who was every bit as 

flamboyant as his reputed mentor, "Broken Tooth" Koi,' but even wealthier and more 

powerful. 

b. 'He and Chow Tai Fook were interested in forging ties but talks of a Cheng company 

taking over Suncity for nearly $USD 1 billion were put on hold in 2014. They eventually 

struck a deal to build a casino in Hoiana, a seaside resort in Vietnam, valued at almost 

$2 billion more than Brisbane's Queen's Wharf Their partnership was kept discreet, 

ho we vet. 

c. Confidential investor documents obtained by ABC Investigations show the Cheng 

flagship Chow Tai Fook used companies in the notoriously secretive tax haven of the 

British Virgin Islands (BVI) to hold its interest in the Vietnam casino... Chow Tai Fook 

companies retained their stake in the project, alongside Suncity, even after Chau's 

arrest last November. 

d. 'Cheng corporate vehicles remained a partner in a Vietnam casino with a company 

founded by Alvin Chau, the man widely regarded as 'Broken Tooth" Koi's protege, 

even after Mr. Chau's arrest on 286 criminal charges in Macau last November 

[November 2021]'. 

e. '... the Cheng flagship Chow Tai Fook used companies in the notoriously secretive tax 

haven of the British Virgin Islands (BVl) to hold its interest in the Vietnam casino'. 
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4.2 Findings 

4.2.1 Media Allegation 1 is found to be substantiated. In our opinion, on the balance of 

probabilities, the evidence identified during this investigation demonstrates: 

a. The CTF Group had a relationship with a person not of good repute, Mr. Alvin Chau, 

and associates of Mr. Chau, through an ongoing interest in the Vietnam Project. 

b. CTFE had not previously disclosed those interests or relationships to OLGR. 

c. CTFE had previously provided OLGR with incorrect, incomplete and/or inconsistent 

information in relation to those interests and relationships. 

Knowledge of Mr. Chau's character 

4.2.2 Dr. Henry Cheng and Mr. Patrick Tsang appear to have had limited interactions with 

Mr. Chau, with their knowledge of him predominantly obtained from publicly available 

media reports. Dr. Cheng had reservations regarding Mr. Chau's junket operations and 

did not wish to be in an equity partnership with Mr. Chau. When Dr. Cheng found he was 

in an equity partnership with Mr. Chau (through GYE), he welcomed the Vietnamese 

Government's feedback regarding concerns over Mr. Chau's financial position and 

Dr. Cheng instructed VMS to have Mr. Chau removed from the partnership. Mr. Tsang 

advised that he drew some comfort regarding Mr. Chau's character from Mr. Chau being 

licensed in Australia and other jurisdictions. 

4.2.3 Dr. Henry Cheng advised in interview on 9 November 2023 that he had limited 

interactions with Mr. Chau, describing him as an 'acquaintance58  whom he did not know 

well; and, stating he had met Mr. Cheng 'About three to four times. But each time, there 

would be quite a lot of other people/ .59 

4.2.4 In relation to his knowledge of Mr. Chau between 2013 and 2015, Dr. Cheng advised he 

was aware that Mr. Chau 'is in the junket business and its the junket business that he 

wants to inject into IEC and' don't like the junket business. I don't want to be connected 

with junket business'.60  We identified as part of the 2015 Probity Review that the IEC 

proposal did not proceed because the financial due diligence was unsatisfactory. 

4.2.5 In interview, Dr. Cheng stated: 

a. '...junket business normally would have complications in the background. And this is 

because, l personally as well as my company, place heavy emphasis on reputation. 

Hence, / would not enter into a [equity] joint venture'.61 

58  Official Transcript of interview with Dr. Henry Cheng on 9 November 2023, Part I, page 14 

59  Official Transcript of interview with Dr. Henry Cheng on 9 November 2023, Part I, page 18 
60 Official Transcript of interview with Dr. Henry Cheng on 9 November 2023, Part I, page 15 

61  Official Transcript of interview with Dr. Henry Cheng on 9 November 2023, Part I, page 15 
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b. 'The details, l don't know That is because l don't know about junket business. 

However, my personal observation is that, in respect of this [sic] kind of transactions 

concerning gambling involving junket business, that there would not be a lot of 

documentation or legal support for the transactions. Maybe not everybody is 

complicated. That, l wouldn't knoW.62 

c. 'I don't know whether it is legal or not. This would be a matter for the government to 

determine. But, in the majority of cases, the people involved would be rather 

complicated." 

d. 'lam not saying this in respect of all junkets, but the majority of them could be 

complicated. It could be that this could involve illegal activities, association with 

triads or even being triad members themselves'.64 

4.2.6 In relation to the Vietnam Project, Dr. Cheng stated: 

a. '... / knew that Chau would be involved, but he was not a shareholder. I told clearly, ah, 

VMS at the time that my interest was, ah, in respect of hotel and resorts, l knew that 

there was a casino so l told VMS clearly that, if it is possible to segregate a casino and 

let Chau to handle that casino business, then l would be interested. This position, l 

have informed VMS but l have not told other people. So, in 2015, when 'heard that the 

Vietnamese government said, ah, Chau would not be financially strong enough and 

he may have to exit, l actually welcomed it'.65 

b. '... / told VMS that it would be better if Alvin Chau would not be a shareholder. The 

casino should be clearly segregated. After that, l didn't follow up. Afterwards, l came 

to understand that management and VMS established a consortium, and the 

consortium took the form of equity. I was very dissatisfied at the time... that 

Vietnamese government apparently has some views concerning Chau. So I thought 

it would be better if Chau would cease to be a shareholdel'.66 

4.2.7 Mr. Patrick Tsang was a director of GYE from 11 December 2014 to 22 April 2016 and 

Mr. Chau was a director of GYE from 11 December 2014 to 13 April 2015.67  Mr. Tsang 

described his directorship as 'more by name68, given the early stage of the 

Vietnam Project at that point, and that it did not involve discussion between himself and 

Mr. Chau. 

62  Official Transcript of interview with Dr. Henry Cheng on 9 November 2023, Part I, pages 15 and 16. 

63  Official Transcript of interview with Dr. Henry Cheng on 9 November 2023, Part I, page 16. 

64 Official Transcript of interview with Dr. Henry Cheng on 9 November 2023, Part I, page 16. 

65  Official Transcript of interview with Dr. Henry Cheng on 9 November 2023, Part I, pages 26 and 27. 

66  Official Transcript of interview with Dr. Henry Cheng on 9 November 2023, Part I, pages 30 and 31. 

67  Factual Background Document: paragraphs 57.2 and 57.3. 

68  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023 Part I, page 22. 
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4.2.8 Mr. Tsang advised in interview on 8 November 2023 that 'there was no forma/face-to-

face introduction... between myself and Alvin ChaU.69  Mr. Tsang advised he had not met 

Mr. Chau '... in any formal business setting... 'probably... have been introduced to him in 

social settings that the purpose was not for us to meet, but its just in the social setting 

that he was there, l was there and people introduced us... but not in any formal setting, 

no' ." 

4.2.9 In relation to his knowledge of Mr. Chau around 2014 and 2015, Mr. Tsang advised 

'Whether it's 2014, 2015, if you just read through the media. I mean, Alvin Chau is... known, 

right? He's in the papers. He... obviously operates in Macau, and a lot of reporters like to 

follow that. So, you know, obviously we know of Alvin Chau. Um, at that time, if we roll back 

to that period of time, he is one of the more successful players in Macau. So he has, uh, a 

reputation, urn he has girlfriends, he you know, goes out with movie stars, so he's like a 

celebrity. So we of course know him... I don't know him personally. So, uh, to, l think to get 

to what you're looking at in terms of do we know him? We know of him, right? Do we know 

of the news surrounding him? Yes, we are - we are aware of that. Urn, have we kind of 

grilled him personally, uh, on that? Uh, no. I don't think, uh - I don't think we did that. And 

those discussions, we probably... we rely on the VMS... to do it for us... But at that time...  

he's licensed to operate globally, right? He seemed to have a... vast empire and doing a 

good job and the person to go to... if you want to, uh, to look into... businesses relating to 

gaming. But it's a complicated industry, so we know there are always nuances, right? Or 

complications... with that industry' (emphasis added). 

4.2.10 Mr. Tsang stated 'was I concerned back in that time that Alvin could be a criminal, right? 

That - that he is of ill repute. Um... at that time, Alvin was licensed, right? He was 

licensed to do business in Australia, he was licensed to do business in - in the US, right? 

So he had to go through all the procedures and investigations and processes.  So, you 

know, l would - I would, uh - uh, put it this way that, you know, we are aware of what we 

are aware from reading in the media, right? That A, right, he is very good at what he 

does, right? If you look at Macau and if you want to partner in that type of business, um, 

in that space, right, they're the best, right? But of course, right, with - with the - the 

gaming business, it can be complicated So we understand that'72  (emphasis added). 

4.2.11 Mr. Conrad Cheng was also a director of GYE (from 11 December 2014 to 22 April 2016), 

whilst Mr. Chau also served as a director of GYE (from 11 December 2014 to 13 April 2015). 

Mr. Cheng advised during interview on 7 November 2023, that he 'was asked to be a 

69  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023 Part I, page 9. 

70  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023 Part I, page 11. 

71  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, Part I, pages 19 and 20. 

72  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, Part I, page 33. 
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director because l would act as the representative of the Cheng family73  and because of 

his real estate experience. When asked about his knowledge of Mr. Chau's character, 

Mr. Cheng stated: 

a. '... he was in the casino business. He has been very successful in that... but we did not 

know at the time that he was... engaged in illegal activities'.74 

b. '/ haven't researched into him. I don't know whether others had... but l would believe 

in the... system of Macau, the laws of Macau. And his business was so great, if he did 

illegal activities, then no doubt Macau, the Macanese Government, would have done 

something about it" 

Provision of incorrect information to OLGR and current arrangements in relation to the Vietnam 

Project 

4.2.12 In 2014, the CTF Group acquired a 50% interest in Gold Yield Enterprises Limited ("GYE") 

with the other 50% held by Star Admiral, a company personally owned by Mr. Chau. GYE 

acquired 68% of the equity in the Vietnam Project76  on 20 January 2015. In April 2015, Star 

Admiral transferred its interest in GYE to the CTF Group and GYE became wholly owned 

by the CTF Group. 

4.2.13 CTFE previously advised OLGR that 'CTFH disposed of its entire controlling stake in GYE in 

April 2016 to Alpha Era Investments Limited', who was 'owned by a third party[sic]wealthy 

and well connected[sic] investot'.77  The transaction as described is illustrated in Figure 3 

below. 

73  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Conrad Cheng: page 9. 

74  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Conrad Cheng: pages 42 and 43. 

76  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Conrad Cheng: page 43. 

76  Through equity in Hoi An South Investments ("HASI"). 

77  HWLE correspondence to OLGR dated 20 May 2022. 
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Figure 3: Initial Understanding of CTFH's disposal of its interest in the Vietnam Project  

New information regarding relationships between the CTF Group and the Vietnam Project and 

Mr. Chau 

4.2.14 During the course of this investigation, CTFE disclosed substantive new information to 

OLGR and PKF on 9 October 2023 regarding the nature of the CTF Group's interests in the 

Vietnam Project, including: 

a. The CTF Group sold 50% of its interest in GYE to Alpha Era Limited ("Alpha Era") for USD 

20.65 million on 18 April 2016 and the remaining 50% shareholding in GYE to Star 

Admiral (owned by Mr. Chau) on 22 April 2016. This was contrary to CTFE's previous 

advice that it sold GYE to Alpha Era. Star Admiral paid the CTF Group USD 20.65 million 

consideration for the interest. 

b. To facilitate the sale of 50% of its interest in GYE to Alpha Era, the CTF Group provided 

loans to the owners of Alpha Era (who were business associates of Mr. Chau through 

their joint interest in GYE) in respect of the purchase and continued development of 

the interest in the Vietnam Project. The loans were initially undocumented and based 

on a "handshake agreement" between the owner of Alpha Era (Mr. Ho at that time78) 

and Dr. Henry Cheng, until May 2018, when they were documented with assistance 

from the CTFE legal team. CTFE has disclosed that as of 29 October 2023, the 

outstanding loans were USD 388 million. 

c. From 2020 until 2022, Alpha Era, funded by the CTF Group, provided funding for the 

development of the Vietnam Project in excess of its equity interest in the project. We 

are advised this was because the two other project partners (VinaCapital and Suncity 

78Alpha Era was initially owned by Mr. Ho until his death on 20 August 2018. Following Mr. Ho's death, the CTF Group 

purchased the interest in Alpha Era on 26 September 2018 and sold the interest to Mr. Wong on or around the same day. 
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Group) were 'struggling to come up with... their pro-rata share... in the funding 

requirement:79  During this period, Mr. Chau held an equity interest in the Vietnam 

Project through his shareholding in the Suncity Group. 

d. The provision of back-to back guarantees by Chow Tai Fook (Holding) Limited 

("CTFH") to Vietin Bank, in respect of personal guarantees by the owners of Alpha Era 

regarding a credit facility for the development of the Vietnam Project. The CTFH 

guarantees and guarantees by the owners of Alpha Era were conditions precedent to 

the USD 484 million credit facility provided by Vietin Bank for the development of the 

Vietnam Project. The guarantees were limited to 34% of the facility, i.e. USD 165 million. 

e. The provision of an indemnity by Mr, Chau to the owners of Alpha Era for 34% of their 

guarantee to Vietin Bank in respect of the Vietnam Project credit facility, i.e. up to USD 

56 million.80  Mr. Chau's indemnity may have the effect of reducing CTFH's exposure in 

respect of CTFH's guarantee for the personal guarantee of the owners of Alpha Era. 

f. The purchase of Alpha Era by the CTF Group on 26 September 2018, following the 

death of Alpha Era's previous owner, Mr. Ho. The CTF Group then sold Alpha Era to Mr. 

Wong on or around the same day. At the time of this transaction, Suncity Group (of 

which Mr. Chau was a substantial shareholder) and Alpha Era jointly held equity in 

GYE81  and the Vietnam Project. 

g. Management, administration, banking and legal services to the owners of Alpha Era 

(business associates of Mr. Chau) in respect of their interest in the Vietnam Project. 

79  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Jacob Lee on 10 November 2023: page 41. 

60  34% of USD 165 million; USD 484 million multiplied by the 34% guaranteed by the owners of Alpha Era multiplied by the 

34% indemnified by Mr. Chau. 

81  GYE holds a 68% interest in the Vietnam Project via equity held in Hoi An South Investments Pte Ltd ("HASI"). 
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4.2.15 The above transactions are illustrated in Figure 4 below. 

Figure 4: Current Understanding of CTFH's disposal of its interest in the Vietnam Project 

4.2.16 CTFE also disclosed close personal and business relationships between the CTF Group 

and the owners of Alpha Era. These included through the initial founding of Chow Tai Fook 

Jewellery Group Limited ("CTFJ"). The current owner of Alpha Era, Mr. Wong, has been 

employed by CTFJ since 1998 and is currently the CTFJ Director of Strategic Finance and 

is responsible for the financing and treasury management of the CTF Group. We were 

advised in interview that Mr. Ho is a Chow Tai Fook shareholder who receives dividends of 

tens of millions of USD each year and whose shares in Chow Tai Fook, we understand, are 

worth over USD 1 billion.82 

4.2.17 The information provided by CTFE on 9 October 2023 was inconsistent with CTFE's 

previous submissions. The correspondence between CTFE and OLGR/PKF in this regard is 

summarised below. 

82  Official Transcript of interview with Dr. Henry Cheng on 9 November 2023, Part I, pages 35 and 46 
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May 2022 CTFE submission 

4.2.18 On 22 April 2022, OLGR wrote to CTFE's legal counsel, HWLE, requesting 'detailed written 

advice and supporting documentation' regarding: 

a. 'Any involvement of CTFE and/or its associates in the ownership, management,  

administration or financing of the Hotels' and/or casino complex that have been or 

will be constructed at Hoiana [the Vietnam Project]' (emphasis added); and 

b. 'The involvement of CTFE, or its associates, in the ownership, management,  

administration or financing of any persons associated with Suncity, Mr. Alvin Chau or 

their associates, in any endeavor or business enterprise globally, including but not 

limited to gaming and hospitality (emphasis added). 

4.2.19 HWLE responded to OLGR on 20 May 2022, advising: 

a. 'CTFH no longer owns any shares in GYE. 

b. 'CTFH disposed of its entire controlling stake in GYE in April2016 to Alpha Era 

Investments Limited. 

c. 'Alpha Era is owned by a third party  [sic] wealthy and well connected [sic] investor, 

and Chow Tai Fook group does not own any interests in Alpha Era' (emphasis added). 

d. 'The  Chow Tai Fook group is not involved in the ownership, management,  

administration or financing of any persons associated with Suncity, Mr. Alvin Chau or 

their associates, in any endeavor or business enterprise globally, other than in 

respect of the Hoiana Integrated Resort as set out above [referring to hotel 

management activities]. In summary, CTFH had until April2016 a controlling stake in 

the Project through GYE, but CTFH no longer held any shares in GYE. This reflects the 

statements made by our client in our meeting at your offices on 12 November 2019, 

namely that CTFE did not own the Project in response to your question that certain 

media reports had stated that CTFE owned one third of the Project. 

4.2.20 The information provided by CTFE to OLGR on 20 May 2022 appears to have been 

incorrect, given: 

a. CTFE advised on 9 October 2023 that the CTF Group sold 50% of its interest in GYE to 

Alpha Era on 18 April 2016 and 50% of its interest in GYE to Star Admiral (owned by 

Mr. Chau) on 22 April 2016. This is contrary to their statement8' that 'CTFH disposed of 

its entire controlling stake in GVE in April2016 to Alpha Era...'. 

b. CTFE described the owner of Alpha Era (who at the time of their correspondence was 

Mr. Wong) as a 'third party; however, Mr. Wong is employed by CTFJ and holds long-

83  CTFE correspondence to OLGR, dated 20 May 2022 and 9 December 2022. 
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standing business and personal relationships with the CTF Group. The CTF Group fully 

funded Mr. Wong's purchase of Alpha Era and the subsequent development costs of 

its interest in the Vietnam Project. The CTF Group provided significant management, 

administrative, banking and legal services to Mr. Wong in respect of his investment in 

Alpha Era. Similar arrangements and close business and personal relationships 

existed in respect of Mr. Ho, who owned Alpha Era prior to Mr. Wong. 

c. CTFE stated the 'Chow Tai Fook group is not involved in the ownership, management, 

administration or financing of any persons associated with Suncity, Mr. Alvin Chau or 

their associates... [other than in respect of the hotel agreements for the Vietnam 

Project]. This statement is inconsistent with CTFE's subsequent 9 October 2022 advice 

that the CTF Group: 

i. Provided loans to Alpha Era (a business associate of Mr. Chau given their 

shared equity interests in GYE), as described above. From 2020 to 2022, the 

funding provided by the CTF Group to Alpha Era in respect of the 

development of the Vietnam Project exceeded Alpha Era's interest in the 

project. We understand that Alpha Era made contributions in excess of its 

equity interest because the two other project partners, VinaCapital and 

Suncity Group, were 'struggling to come up with... their pro-rata share... in 

the funding requirement:84  During this period, Mr. Chau held an indirect 

equity interest in the Vietnam Project through his equity in Suncity Group. 

ii. Provided a guarantee that was a condition precedent to a credit facility 

provided by Vietin Bank for the development of the Vietnam Project (while 

Mr. Chau held an equity interest in the project); 

iii. Briefly purchased Alpha Era to effect its sale to Mr. Wong (thereby briefly 

holding an equity interest in GYE and the Vietnam Project in conjunction 

with Mr. Chau); and 

iv. Provided substantial management, administration, banking and legal 

services to Alpha Era (a business associate of Mr. Chau). 

December 2022 CTFE submission 

4.2.21 On 21 November 2022, OLGR wrote to HWLE advising of this investigation and requesting 

CTFE provide a response to media allegations that CTFE has associations with Mr. Chau 

and LET Group Holdings Ltd (formerly Suncity Group). OLGR also requested CTFE provide 

'Any other relevant information CTFE may wish to raise in relation to personal and 

business associations that may impact on OLGR's suitability assessment'. 

84  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Jacob Lee on 10 November 2023: page 41 
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4.2.22 HWLE responded to OLGR on 9 December 2022, reiterating the information it provided in 

May 2022, that: 

a. The proposed acquisition of the gaming businesses of Suncity Group by IEC (in which 

CTFE held a 74.78% interest) had not proceeded. 

b. 'CTFEdoes not have any ownership interests in the Hoiana integrated resort project 

[the Vietnam Project]'. 

c. 'CTFH no longer owns any shares in GYP. 

d. 'CTFH disposed of its entire controlling stake in GYE in April 2016, during the 

construction phase of the Project, to Alpha Era Investments Limited. 

e. 'Alpha Era is owned by a third party wealthy and well connected[sic] investor, and 

Chow Tai Fook group does not own any interests in Alpha Era'. 

4.2.23 We make the same observations regarding CTFE's description of the sale of GYE and the 

owner of Alpha Era being a third party, as provided above. 

March 2023 CTFE submission 

4.2.24 On 28 February 2023, PKF wrote to CTFE via HWLE requesting details of 'any other 

agreements, directorships or business relationships between the casinos, CTFE and the 

above hotels in the Hoiana Integrated Resort /the Vietnam Project! apart from the four 

hotel management agreements'. 

4.2.25 HWLE responded on 14 March 2023, stating 'Aside from the hotel management 

agreements referred to, there are no other agreements, directorships or business 

relationships between CTFE and the casino or the hotels of the Hoiana Integrated Resort. 

4.2.26 The information provided by CTFE to OLGR on 14 March 2023 appears to have been 

incorrect and/or incomplete, given CTFE subsequently disclosed: 

a. CTFE Senior Vice President, Mr. Jacob Lee, was a member of the Executive and Audit 

Committees of the Vietnam Project from commencement of those committees until 

July 2022. He initially held these roles in relation to the CTF Group's equity interest in 

the Vietnam Project and subsequently held the roles whilst managing Alpha Era's 

investment in the project. 

b. CTF Group controlled entity, Skywalker Ventures Ltd ("Skywalker"), has been a 

corporate director of Alpha Era (which holds a 34% interest in the Vietnam Project) 

since 26 January 2015. Skywalker was controlled by CTFE from 26 January 2015 to 

12 August 2022 and by CTFH from 12 August 2022. 
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c. CTFE Senior Vice President, Mr. Jacob Lee, was a director of Skywalker from 26 January 

2015 to 12 August 2022 and was authorised to sign documents on behalf of Alpha Era 

owner, Mr. Ho. 

d. CTFE has provided significant managerial, administrative and legal support to Alpha 

Era in respect of its investment in the Vietnam Project. 

e. The CTF Group has provided significant funding to Alpha Era in respect of Alpha Era's 

interest in the Vietnam Project. From 2020 to 2022, the funding provided by the CTF 

Group exceeded Alpha Era's interest in the project. 

f. CTFE Senior Vice President, Mr. Jacob Lee, would receive a funding request regarding 

Alpha Era from the investment manager, VMS. Given the request had been approved 

by VMS, Mr. Lee 'did not seek approval again from Mr. Wong... on the funding'.85  Mr. 

Lee would process the request with the CTF Group finance team. He did not need to 

seek approval for the funding from Mr. Tsang (CTFE Chief Executive Officer), however, 

would require an acknowledgement from Mr. Tsang 'that there [was] a funding 

transfer... because... we are lending the money to Mr. Wong, and Mr. Wong in turn 

would.. contribute the capital into the project' .8' 

October 2023 CTFE submission of new information 

4.2.27 On 26 July 2023, based on our review enquiries and  PKF 

wrote to HWLE requesting CTFE senior management be made available for interview and 

requesting further information regarding: 

a. Details of participation by shareholders or personnel of CTFE or entities within the CTF 

Group and/or its associates in board or other meetings of HASI or HASD. 

b. 'Details of any loan and/or other agreements, directorships, equity interests or 

business relationships between the casinos at the Hoiana Integrated Resort or the 

hotels at the Hoiana Integrated Resort and CTFE, entities within the CTF group and/or 

associates other than the four hotel management agreements previously advised. 

The underlined emphasis within the quote highlighted the specific wording 

differences from previous requests. 

c. 'Any loan and or other agreements, directorships, equity interests or business 
relationships between CTFE, entities within the CTF group, and/or its associates; and 
the VMS Group and/or its related entities'. 

d. 'Any  loan and/or other agreements, directorships, equity interests or  business 
relationships between CTFE, entities within the CTFE group, and/or its associates and 

86  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Jacob Lee on 10 November 2023: pages 39 and 40 

86  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Jacob Lee on 10 November 2023: pages 40 and 41 
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Kim Pun Wong (Director of Alpha Era Investments Ltd) or  Barry Kim Pun Wong' 
(emphasis added). 

e. A copy of Conrad Cheng's CTFE electronic mailbox for a relevant specified period. 

f. 'Details of any payments to or loans made (either directly or indirectly) to HASI, HASD, 

VMS Group, Gold Yield Enterprises Ltd and/or Alpha Era from  CTFE, CTFE subsidiaries, 

CTF Holdings, NWD or NWS. 

4.2.28 Following this, HWLE contacted PKF and OLGR with queries regarding the scope of the 

request and practicalities regarding obtaining the requested information. PKF and OLGR 

agreed for the scope of our request to be narrowed to account for those practicalities 

and HWLE undertook to obtain the requested information. 

4.2.29 On 15 September 2023, an OLGR representative wrote to HWLE regarding PKF's 

information request advising: 

'lam pleased to note your client's desire to assist with the conduct of the 

investigation. However, lam concerned by your client's reluctance to provide the 

material sought by the investigator in a timely manner. Accordingly, please find 

enclosed a notice issued by the Director-General's delegate pursuant to s 30C of 

the Casino Control Act 1982... As lam sure you are aware, it is an offence for an 

entity to fail to comply with a requirement specified in a notice issued pursuant to 

s 30C. Nor is an entity excused from complying with such a notice on the basis 

that the information sought is subject to legal professional privilege. An entity's 

failure to comply with a notice issued under s 30C is also relevant to an 

assessment of their suitability to be associated or connected with the ownership 

of a casino licensee. You client has until 9 October 2023 to comply with the 

notice... 

4.2.30 The notice also required HWLE to provide details of availability of specified CTFE senior 

management for interview by PKF and OLGR. 

4.2.31 As required, on 9 October 2023, HWLE responded to OLGR's information requirement 

providing the substantive new information described above regarding the nature of the 

CTF Group's arrangements in relation to the Vietnam Project and Alpha Era, and its 

associations with Mr. Chau. 

Cooperation from CTFE and information regarding apparent inconsistencies in CTFE's responses 

to OLGR and PKF's information requests 

4.2.32 Whilst the disclosures discussed above at paragraphs 4.2.14 to 4.2.16 were required under 

the notice issued by OLGR, we note CTFE made significant submissions on 9 October 

2023 in relation to its ongoing interest in the Vietnam Project and its associations with the 

63 
PKF Integrity Services 



Department of Justice and Attorney General 
Chow Tai Fook Enterprises and Associate 

owners of Alpha Era and Mr. Chau. The senior management of CTFE appeared 

forthcoming and cooperative when interviewed regarding these topics. 

4.2.33 On 29 October 2023, in respect to OLGR's queries, CTFE acknowledged the information 

previously submitted 'was substantially less fulsome than the information which it 

provided to the OLGR on 9 October 2023 and 'accepts that it took far too narrow a view 

on the scope of OLGR's questions in its 20 May 2022 email. CTFE unreservedly apologises 

for its failure to fully and properly address the OLGR's relevant question at the time of 

preparing its 20 May 2022 response and wishes to express its regret and contrition about 

this. It will not happen again'. 

4.2.34 In interviews conducted in November 2023, when asked regarding the apparent 

inconsistencies in CTFE's responses to OLGR and PKF's information requests and whether 

the information submitted by CTFE had been misleading: 

a. Dr. Henry Cheng stated: 

i. 'I don't think so. Um, first of all the - the - the money that was lent, they 

could have borrowed from other sources as well, urn, finance companies, 

ah, but the projects we have no involvement - no involvement in - in the 

affairs except hotel management, ah, which is pretty standard Honestly, 

um, we were not involved in the project as such. If there is any misleading, 

um, then, ah, this is something that management was responsible and 

clearly they did not intend to mislead. Maybe it is just a question of how it 

was presented As far as the loans are concerned, it is quite clear that Ho 

didn't want to come up with the money so we had to lend money to him'.87 

' ...as regards my view on Alvin Chau, yes, I did not tell management. I 

didn't disclose the reason why I would not like to have business with Alvin 

Chau. So it may be a sort of communication problem between myself and 

management. From my - speaking about myself personally, it is because 

I have concerns I don't like Mr Chau, that I don't want to have any business 

with him. I believe management did not intend to pursue anything. It 

could be that there had been some communication issues or people 

putting in different interpretations so it's an interpretation problem. If it's 

just because that, that we have created any embarrassment on your part, l 

can represent management to apologise to you. I can assure you and / 

can affirm... definitely will not do anything improper. It is very easy for you 

87  Official transcript of interview with Dr. Henry Cheng on 9 November 2023, Part 2, pages land 2 
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to check on our reputation whether it be with banks, political circles, 

government, the police'.89 

b. Mr. Patrick Tsang stated: 

'li. personally will not use the word, urn, misleading, urn, there - there is no 

intention to, ah, to mislead you, urn, they were not fulsome, they were not, 

urn, adequate, perhaps it was inadequate ... I wouldn't use the word 

misleading, but we have fallen - we have fallen short, and we have 

inconvenienced yoLl .99 

'...the information... is submitted to you on behalf of CTF, so CTF is... 

responsible... how we came up with what we, ah, put down, as CEO 

obviously l am not... involved in the nitty gritty, or the word smithing of the 

document, but the flipside as CEO is of course l am responsible, right.. but 

there is an execution team that worked on the documents, yes'.9° 

iii. ' ... any inconvenience... caused... is not intentional, ... we realise we have 

fallen short, and we want to rectify that, and hopefully we have'.9' 

4.2.35 During interview, Mr. Tsang undertook to provide a voluntary proposal from CTFE 

regarding proposed improvements to CTFE's reporting to OLGR. This proposal was 

received by OLGR and PKF on 14 November 2023 and has been considered in the 

recommendations of our review at Section 11.1. 

4.3 Character of Mr. Alvin Chau 

4.3.1 The following information regarding Mr. Chau's character is provided as general 

background for the benefit of the reader and does not constitute what was known or not 

known by CTFE or its associates. Detailed information regarding CTFE and its associates' 

knowledge of Mr. Chau's character is provided separately at Section 4.14 of this report. 

4.3.2 Mr. Chau has been the subject of significant media attention regarding his business 

interests and personal life. 

Star Report 

4.3.3 In August 2022, Senior Counsel, Adam Bell, published the findings of his investigation 

under sections 143 and 143A of the Casino Control Act (1992) NSW into The Star Casino in 

New South Wales. The ultimate holding company of The Star Casino in New South Wales 

88 Official transcript of interview with Dr. Henry Cheng on 9 November 2023, Part 2, page 3 

89 Official transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, Part 2, page 13 

so Official transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, Part 2, page 13 

91 Official transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, Part 2, page 14 
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is The Star Entertainment Group Limited, who is a member of DBC. The report is referred 

to herein as the "Star Report". 

4.3.4 The review undertaken by Mr. Bell commenced on 14 December 2021 and was referred to 

by OLGR in their correspondence to CTFE on 22 April 2022. In that correspondence, OLGR 

also referred to media reports alleging a 'business connection/association between CTFE 

and its associates and Suncity, Mr Alvin Chau and their associates'. 

4.3.5 The Star Report referred to the following findings of the Bergin Report92, stating: 

a. 'the evidence established that "it is probable that Alvin Chau hada former 

association with the 14K Triad group and continued his associations with the 

members of Triad groups"; and 

b. "Itihere were clearly links between Mr Chau, the Suncity Junket and organised crime 

groups ".99 

4.3.6 The Star Report also referred to the findings of a Hong Kong Jockey Club report, stating 

that 'Suncityposed "major risks" including... Reliable intelligence indicates that Cheng is 

an Australian law enforcement person of interest due to money laundering and drug 

trafficking activity which he reportedly orchestrates from Hong Kong'.94 

4.3.7 The Star Report separately stated 'It should not have taken Mr Chau's arrest in December 

2021 to prompt Star Entertainment to cease the relationship with him. The relationship 

with Suncity and Mr Chau should have been terminated in June 2018 when cage 

operations and bags of cash were observed in Salon 95.95 

Criminal conviction 

4.3.8 In January 2023, Mr. Chau was convicted of running a criminal syndicate which 

defrauded the Macao Government of USD 1.05 billion between 2013 and 2021. He was 

sentenced to 18 years imprisonment with his subsequent appeal dismissed. The offences 

for which Mr. Chau was convicted are known as a "Multiplier Scam", which was used to 

reduce the amount of tax payable on bets. 

4.4 Probity Report findings regarding association with Mr. Chau 

4.4.1 The Probity Report briefly considered Mr. Chau in relation to CTFE's controlling interest in 

IEC and  ' IEC's proposed acquisition of a 70% equity interest in Suncity, however Mr. Chau 

92 The report published in February 2021, documenting the findings of the enquiry undertaken by former Supreme Court 

Judge, Patricia Bergin SC, under section 143 of the Casino Control Act 1992 (NSW) into Crown Resorts Limited. 

93 The Star Report (Volume 1): page 57, paragraph 45(a) 

94 The Star Report (Volume 2): page 50, paragraph 225 

95 The Star Report (Volume 2): page 99, paragraph 423 
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does not appear to have been a key focus of that investigation.96. In relation to Mr. Chau, 

the Probity Report stated: 

a. 'KM conducted World-Check One searches on all relevant individuals and entities. 

Apart from some individuals being designated as Politically Exposed Persons (PEP's), 

no adverse information was found in respect of... Suncity and its owner, Chau Cheok 

Wa (Alvin Chau), or any entities that have been identified as having a connection 

with Chad.' 

b. 'Henry Cheng advised at interview that a decision was taken not to proceed with the 

transaction because Suncity [sic] financial performance did not meet /EC's 

requirements. Henry Cheng also advised that no adverse findings in relation to the 

integrity of Suncity or Alvin Chau were identified in IEC's due diligence'.98 

4.5 Additional information sought from CTFE 

4.5.1 OLGR has been in ongoing correspondence with CTFE's legal representatives, HWLE, as 

part of its ongoing suitability monitoring program and in response to concerns raised by 

media reports regarding alleged connections between CTFE and Mr. Chau and the 

Vietnam Project. In addition, during our review, OLGR and PKF requested additional 

information regarding these topics from CTFE and undertook interviews of CTFE senior 

management. 

4.5.2 The following disclosures by CTFE to OLGR and PKF are discussed from paragraph 4.5.5, 

regarding the information provided by CTFE in relation to its connections with Mr. Chau 

and the Vietnam Project, and in relation to new information subsequently submitted by 

CTFE regarding these topics: 

a. 22 April 2022 OLGR information request and HWLE's 20 May 2022 response. 

b. 21 November 2022 OLGR information request and HWLE's 9 December 2022 

response. 

c. 28 February 2023 PKF information request and HWLE's 14 March 2023 response. 

4.5.3 

96 Probity Report, page 44. 

97 Probity Report, page 43 

98 Probity Report, page 44 
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4.5.4 In October 2023, shortly prior to interviews of its senior management in November 2023, 

CTFE provided PKF and OLGR substantial new information regarding CTFE's connections 

to Mr. Chau and its ongoing dealings regarding the Vietnam Project. This information was 

contrary to the information PKF and OLGR had been provided in CTFE's previous 

disclosures. The October 2023 disclosure by CTFE is discussed at Section 4.8 of this 

report. 

April 2022 OLGR Information Request 

4.5.5 On 22 April 2022, OLGR wrote to HWLE as part of OLGR's ongoing suitability monitoring 

program. OLGR advised that although CTFE had been approved in 2015 as suitable to be 

connected with the operations and management of QWB, 'Suitability is not a static 

concept and is relevant only to known circumstances at a point in time'.99 

4.5.6 OLGR's correspondence: 

a. Referred to reference in the Star Report regarding an alleged connection between 

CTFE and its associates and Suncity Group, Mr. Chau and their associates: stating, 

'The current independent review of The Star Pty Ltd in New South Wales, led by Mr. 

Adam Bell SC, along with a number of unconfirmed media reports, have referred to a 

business connection/association between CTFE and its associates and Suncity, Mr. 

Alvin Chau and their associates'. 

b. Referenced media reports which contended 'CTFE, or its associates, hold a one third 

share i.e. ownership, in partnership with Vina Capital and Suncity, in the partially 

completed Hoiana Integrated Resort... in Vietnam'. 

c. Referred to a November 2019 meeting between OLGR and Mr. Jacob Lee (CTFE Senior 

Vice President) and Mr. Stephen Kerr (HWLE) whereby OLGR was advised 'neither CTFE 

or its associates had any shareholding in the Hoiana IR project...' (emphasis added). 

d. Requested CTFE '... detailed written advice and supporting documentation...' 

regarding: 

i. 'Any  involvement of CTFE and/or its associates in the ownership,  

management, administration, or financing of the Hotels' and/or casino 

complex that have been or will be constructed at Hoiana' (emphasis added). 

ii. 'The involvement of CTFE, or its associates, in the ownership, management,  

administration or financing of any persons associated with Suncity, Mr. Alvin 

ss Appendix 11: OLGR information request dated 22 April 2022 
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Chau or their associates, in any endeavor or business enterprise globally, 

including but not limited to gaming and hospitality (emphasis added). 

4.5.7 HWLE responded to OLGR on 20 May 2022100, advising: 

a. 'CTFH no longer owns any shares in GYE. 

b. 'CTFH disposed of its entire controlling stake in GYE in April 2016 to Alpha Era 

Investments Limited. 

c. 'Alpha Era is owned by a third party  [sic] wealthy and well connected [sic] investor, 

and Chow Tai Fook group does not own any interests in Alpha Era' (emphasis added). 

d. 'The  Chow Tai Fook group is not involved in the ownership, management,  

administration or financing of any persons associated with Suncity, Mr. Alvin Chau or 

their associates, in any endeavor or business enterprise globally, other than in 

respect of the Hoiana Integrated Resort as set out above [referring to hotel 

management activities]. In summary, CTFH had until April 2016 a controlling stake in 

the Project through GYE, but CTFH no longer held any shares in GYE. This reflects the 

statements made by our client in our meeting at your offices on 12 November 2019, 

namely that CTFE did not own the Project in response to your question that certain 

media reports had stated that CTFE owned one third of the Project (emphasis 

added). 

4.5.8 At this point and based on HWLE's disclosure, it was understood the disposal of the 

CTF Group's interest in the Vietnam Project had occurred as follows: 

100 Appendix 12: HWLE response dated 20 May 2022 
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4.5.9 Following publication of the ABC article and appointment of PKF for this review, OLGR 

wrote to Mr. Patrick Tsang (CTFE Chief Executive Officer) on 21 November 2022 advising of 

the investigation being undertaken by PKF and requesting CTFE provide a response to 

media allegations that CTFE has associations with Mr. Chau and LET Group Holdings Ltd 

(formerly Suncity Group). The OLGR also requested that CTFE provide 'Any other relevant 

information CTFE may wish to raise in relation to personal and business associations that 

may impact on OLGR's suitability assessment ml 

4.5.10 HWLE responded to OLGR on 9 December 2022102, reiterating the information it provided in 

May 2022, that: 

a. The proposed acquisition of the gaming businesses of Suncity by IEC (in which 

CTFE held a 74.78% interest) had not proceeded. 

b. 'CTFE does not have any ownership interests in the Hoiana integrated resort 

project (the Vietnam Project). 

c. ' CTFH no longer owns any shares in GYP. 

Figure 5: May 2022 disclosure regarding disposal of interest in the Vietnam Project 

Before disposal: After disposal: 

"Appendix 13: OLGR information request dated 21 November 2022 
lo2Appendix 5: HWLE response dated 9 December 2022 
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d. 'CTFH disposed of its entire controlling stake in GVE in April 2016, during the 

construction phase of the Project, to Alpha Era Investments Limited ("Alpha Era"). 

e. 'Alpha Era is owned by a  third party  [sic] wealthy and well connected investor, 

and Chow Tai Fook group does not own any interests in Alpha Era' (emphasis 

added). 

4.5.11 Based on HWLE's disclosure, it remained understood that the disposal of the CTF Group's 

interest in the Vietnam Project had occurred as shown in Figure 5. 

February 2023 PKF Information Request 

4.5.12 On 28 February 2023, as part of this investigation, PKF wrote to CTFE via HWLE requesting 

details of 'any other agreements, directorships or business relationships between the 

casinos, CTFE and the above hotels in the Hoiana Integrated Resort apart from the four 

hotel management agreements'.1°3 

4.5.13 HWLE responded on 14 March 2023, stating 'Aside from the hotel management 

agreements referred to, there are no other agreements, directorships or business 

relationships between CTFE and the casino or the hotels of the Hoiana Integrated Resort 

(emphasis added).104 

4.5.14 It was understood from HWLE's response that, aside from four hotel management 

agreements, CTFE and the CTF Group had no ongoing connections, be they loans or 

other relationships, with the Vietnam Project nor Mr. Chau. 

103Appendix 6: PKF information request dated 28 February 2023 

104  Appendix 7: HWLE response dated 14 March 2023 
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4.6.4 S 

4.6.5 • 

had acquired LET Group's stake in the casino business'. This intelligence was not 

4.6.6 
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4.7 Subsequent information requests 

4.7.1 On 26 July 2023, based on our review enquiries, PKF wrote to HWLE requesting CTFE senior 

management be made available for interview and requesting CTFE provide further 

information regarding: 

a. Details of participation by shareholders or personnel of CTFE or entities within the CTF 

Group and/or its associates in board or other meetings of HASI or HASD. 

b. 'Details of any loan and/or other agreements, directorships, equity interests or 

business relationships between the casinos at the Hoiana Integrated Resort or the 

hotels at the Hoiana Integrated Resort and CTFE, entities within the CTF group and/or  

associates, other than the four hotel management agreements previously advised'. 

The underlined emphasis within the quote highlighted the specific wording 

differences from previous requests. 

c. Any loan and or other agreements, directorships, equity interests or business 

relationships between CTFE, entities within the CTF group, and/or its associates; and 

the VMS Group and/or its related entities. 

d. Any loan and/or other agreements, directorships, equity interests or business  

relationships between CTFE, entities within the CTFE group, and/or its associates and  

Kim Pun Wong (Director of Alpha Era Investments Ltd) or Barry Kim Pun Wong  

(emphasis added). 

e. A copy of Conrad Cheng's CTFE electronic mailbox for a relevant specified period. 

f. 'Details of any payments to or loans made (either directly or indirectly) to HASI, HASD, 

VMS Group, Gold Yield Enterprises Ltd and/or Alpha Era from CTFE, CTFE subsidiaries, 

CTF Holdings, NWD or NWS'. 

4.7.2 A copy of PKF's information request is provided at Appendix 8. 

4.7.3 Following this, HWLE subsequently contacted PKF and OLGR with queries regarding the 

scope of the request and practicalities regarding obtaining the requested information. 

Meetings and communications took place during August and September 2023 whereby 

HWLE requested and PKF and OLGR agreed for the scope of our request to be narrowed to 

accommodate these practicalities. During this time, HWLE undertook to obtain the 

requested information. 

4.7.4 On 15 September 2023, an OLGR representative wrote to HWLE regarding PKF's 

information request, advising 'I am pleased to note your client's desire to assist with the 

conduct of the investigation. However, I am concerned by your client's reluctance to 

provide the material sought by the investigator in a timely manner. Accordingly, please 

find  enclosed  a notice issued by the Director-General's delegate pursuant to s 30C of the 

73 
PKF Integrity Services 



Department of Justice and Attorney General 
Chow Tai Fook Enterprises and Associate 

Casino Control Act 1982... As I am sure you are aware, it is an offence for an entity to fail 

to comply with a requirement specified in a notice issued pursuant to s 30C. Nor is an 

entity excused from complying with such a notice on the basis that the information 

sought is subject to legal professional privilege. An entity's failure to comply with a notice 

issued under s 30C is also relevant to an assessment of their suitability to be associated 

or connected with the ownership of a casino licensee. You client has until  9 October 2023 

to comply with the notice...'. The notice also required HWLE to provide details of 

availability of specified CTFE senior management for interview by PKF and OLGR. 

4.7.5 The information requirement contained a revised list of information that accounted for 

the practical constraints previously discussed with HWLE but was consistent with the 

information request summarised at paragraph 4.7.1. 

4.7.6 A copy of the OLGR's correspondence and information requirement is provided at 

Appendix 9. 

4.8 CTFE's 9 October 2023 submission 

4.8.1 As required, on 9 October 2023, HWLE responded to OLGR's information requirement and 

provided additional documents, including a summary document HWLE referred to as a 

"Factual Background Document". For ease of reference, we have referred to this 

document using the same terminology. A copy of the Factual Background Document is 

provided at Appendix 10. 

4.8.2 In the 9 October 2023 submission, HWLE provided new information to PKF and OLGR 

regarding the CTF Group's connections to Mr. Chau and the Vietnam Project, which was 

contrary to our understanding of these topics based on HWLE's previous disclosures. The 

new information demonstrated ongoing associations and agreements between the 

CTF Group and Mr. Chau and the Vietnam Project. The associations and agreements 

disclosed by CTFE are discussed in detail from paragraph 4.10.1, however, as a summary, 

included: 

a. The sale of 50% of the CTF Group's interest in GYE and the Vietnam Project to 

Alpha Era and the other 50% to Star Admiral (owned by Mr. Chau) in April 2016. This 

was contrary to CTFE's previous advice that 'CTFH disposed of its entire controlling 

stake in GYE in April 2016 to Alpha Era...'.1°5 

b. The owners of Alpha Era (Mr. Ho in April 2016 then Mr. Wong from September 2018) 

are persons with whom the Cheng family has held hold long-standing personal and 

business relationships with. The sale to Mr. Wong occurred after Mr. Ho passed away. 

105  Appendix 12: HWLE response dated 20 May 2022 
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The CTF Group briefly repurchased its equity in the Vietnam Project to facilitate this 

transaction. 

c. The CTF Group provided loans to the owners of Alpha Era (who were business 

associates of Mr. Chau through their shared interest in GYE) in respect of the 

purchase and continued development of the interest in the Vietnam Project. The 

loan to Mr. Ho was undocumented until it was formalised in May 2018, shortly before 

Mr. Ho's death in August 2018. Although the CTF Group was entitled to interest of up 

to 10% on the loans, we understand interest has not been charged on the loan. 

d. Following Mr. Ho's death, the CTF Group provided loans to Mr. Wong on the same 

terms as had been made to Mr. Ho (albeit they were documented). The loans were 

made by the CTF Group to finance Mr. Wong's purchase of Alpha Era and the 

development of its interest in the Vietnam Project. CTFE have advised that as of 

29 October 2023, the loans to Mr. Wong are USD 388 million. 

e. CTFH provided back-to-back guarantees ("CTFH Guarantee") to Vietin Bank in 

respect of personal guarantees made by Mr. Ho ("Ho Guarantee") and Mr. Wong 

("Wong Guarantee") for 34% of a USD 484 million (USD 165 million) credit facility 

provided to HASD for the development of the Vietnam Facility. The guarantees by 

CTFH, Mr. Ho and Mr. Wong were conditions precedent to the provision of the credit 

facility. 

f. A cross-indemnity provided by Mr. Chau to Mr. Ho in respect of the Ho Guarantee. 

The cross-indemnity was limited to 34% of the Ho Guarantee, i.e. USD 56 million, and 

may have had the effect of reducing CTFH's exposure in respect of its back-to-back 

guarantee to Vietin Bank of the Ho Guarantee. 

g. The provision of substantial management, legal, banking, and administrative 

services by CTFE, the CTF Group and/or controlled entities to Alpha Era in respect of 

Alpha Era's investment in the Vietnam Project. 

h. The provision of investment management services by VMS Am Resorts and Leisure 

Limited ("VMS") to CTF Group, and then subsequently to Mr. Ho and Mr. Wong in 

relation to their investments in the Vietnam Project. 

Various other guarantees and agreements in relation to the Vietnam Project. 

4.8.3 The structure of the arrangements, based on CTFE's 9 October 2023 submission, is 

summarised below at Figure 6. 
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Figure 6: October 2023 disclosure regarding CTF Group's interest in the Vietnam Project 

Guarantee 
(34% of facility) CTF Group 

Loan Long-standing business & 
(USD 388M) personal relationships 

Guarantee 
(34% of facility) 

50% 50% 

Credit facility 
(USD 484M) 

Shareholder loans 

4.8.4 PKF and OLGR reviewed the additional information submitted by HWLE, and requested 

further information or clarification where necessary, prior to interviewing senior 

management of CTFE. The above arrangements concerning CTF Group and Mr. Chau 

and/or the Vietnam Project are discussed in further detail below, along with information 

obtained from interview, from Section 4.14. 

4.9 November 2023 interviews of CTFE senior management 

4.9.1 PKF and OLGR interviewed CTFE senior management to seek clarification regarding 

queries and information identified during our review and provide CTFE the opportunity to 

provide relevant information in relation to our investigation. The interviews were 

undertaken during the week commencing 6 November 2023 at rate of one interview per 

day, and included: 

a. Mr. Ma (NWD Executive Director and NWS Chief Executive Officer) 

b. Mr. Conrad Cheng (Member of the HASD Executive Committee) 

c. Mr. Patrick Tsang (Chief Executive Officer of CTFE) 
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d. Dr. Henry Cheng (Chairman of CTFE), and 

e. Mr. Jacob Lee (CTFE Senior Vice President, Member of the HASD Executive Committee 

and Director of Skywalker Ventures Ltd which was a corporate director of Alpha Era) 

4.9.2 PKF and OLGR sought to interview Mr. Wong, given he is currently employed with the 

CTF Group and his ownership of Alpha Era, however we were advised by HWLE that 

Mr. Wong was unavailable for interview based on medical grounds. 

4.9.3 The information obtained in the above interviews, CTFE's information disclosures and 

are included in our discussion below of the 

assistance and relationships involving the CTF Group, Alpha Era and/or Mr. Chau. 

4.10 Sale of GYE to Mr. Chau and Alpha Era 

4.10.1 CTFE has advised that in April 2016, CTF Group subsidiary (Even Success Holdings Ltd) 

sold 50% of its interest in GYE (a holding company for the interest in the Vietnam Project) 

to Mr. Chau via Mr. Chau's personally owned company, Star Admiral, for USD 20.65 million. 

In the same month, Even Success Holdings Ltd ("Even Success") sold the other 50% 

interest in GYE to Alpha Era.106 

4.10.2 This is contrary to CTFE's previous advice to OLGR that 'CTFH disposed of its entire 

controlling stake in GYE in April 2016... to Alpha Era Investments Limted...' and its 

description of Alpha Era as a 'third party wealthy and well connected investof .1°7  Instead, 

CTFH had disposed of 50% of its interest in the VietnamProject to Mr. Chau and the other 

50% to Mr. Ho and then Mr. Wong (following Mr. Ho's death), both of whom held long-

standing personal and business relationships with the CTF Group. 

4.10.3 Mr. Ho, co founded Chow Tai Fook Jewellery Group Limited ("CTFJ") during the late 1940's 

with Dr. Cheng Yu Tung and Mr. Wong Kwok Ting. Mr. Ho was described as 'independently 

wealthy because... he started Chow Tai Fook Jewellery together with Dr. Cheng'.108  He was 

described in interview by Mr. Tsang as worth 'hundreds of in US dollar terms'.109 

In interview, Dr. Cheng described an owner of Alpha Era (understood to be Mr. Ho) as 

receiving 'dividends from Chow Tai Fook in several 10 mil/ions of US dollars. And his shares 

in Chow Tai Fook will be worth over USD$1 

4.10.4 Following Mr. Ho's death in August 2018, CTF Group briefly repurchased Alpha Era (and its 

interest in GYE and the Vietnam Project) via its subsidiary, Even Success, on 

106  Factual Background Document, paragraphs 69 to 72. 

107  Letter from HWLE to OLGR, dated 9 December 2022, page 4. 
108 Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, Part I, page 36. 

109  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, Part I, page 61. 

11°  Official Transcript of interview with Dr. Henry Chang on 9 November 2023, Part I, page 46. 
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26 September 2018 for a purchase price of USD 10.111  It then effected a transfer of the 

interest to Mr. Wong Kim Pun Barry ("Mr. Wong") on or around the same day.112  At the time 

of this repurchase, Suncity Group (of which Mr. Chau was a substantial shareholder) held 

the other 50% interest in GYE.113 OLGR was not previously advised of this transaction. 

4.10.5 The subsequent owner of Alpha Era, Mr. Wong, is the son of Mr. Wong Kwok Ting, who co-

founded CTFJ. The Wong family were also described in interview as 'independently 

...wealthy'.114  Mr. Wong has worked for CTFJ since 1998, where he is currently the Director 

of Strategic Finance. Mr. Wong is also responsible for the financing and treasury 

management of the CTF Group. 

4.10.6 CTFE have advised the agreements regarding the sale of CTF Group's interest in the 

Vietnam Project to Alpha Era and the financing of this arrangement were reached 

between Dr. Henry Cheng, Mr. Patrick Tsang and Mr. Ho and subsequently Mr. Wong.115 

4.11 CTF Group loans to facilitate the sale of GYE and subsecient development 

of the Vietnam Project 

4.11.1 Neither Mr. Ho nor Mr. Wong provided any cash payment for CTF Group's interest in GYE 

or the Vietnam Project.16  Instead, the CTF Group provided Mr. Ho an undocumented "at-

call"" loan to fund Mr. Ho's purchase of 50% of GYE as a "handshake agreement"." 

Although interest of up to 10% could be applied to the loan if the CTF Group chose, the 

information provided in interview is that interest was not applied.19 

4.11.2 The previously undocumented agreement between Dr. Henry Cheng and Mr. Ho was 

formalised through written agreements in May 2018, prior to Mr. Ho's death in August 

2018120  Following Mr. Ho's passing, Dr. Henry Cheng offered Mr. Wong the same terms as 

had been provided to Mr. Ho, and Mr. Wong accepted Dr. Cheng's offer to purchase 

Alpha Era. We understand from the information provided in interview, the agreements 

documenting the above arrangements were prepared by the CTF Group legal team.121 

111 Factual Background Document: paragraphs 97 to 101.3; FB; 27; FB 29; FB48 

112  Factual Background Document: paragraphs 96 to 103 

113  Suncity Group Holdings Limited 2018 Annual Report: page 27; Factual Background Document: paragraphs 86 and 87 

114  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, Part I, page 46. 

115  Factual Background Document: paragraphs 62 to 66 and 96 

116  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, Part I, pages 40 & 41 

117  Factual Background Document: paragraph 62.3 

118  Factual Background Document: paragraphs 62 to 68.2 

119  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November, Part I, page 56. 

12°  Factual Background Document: paragraphs 88 to 90.3 and paragraph 92 

121  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Jacob Lee on 10 November 2023, page 44 to 46. 
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4.11.3 It was also agreed between Dr. Henry Cheng and Mr. Ho and Mr. Wong that the CTF Group 

would provide further advances to Alpha Era, on the same terms, when Alpha Era was 

called on to contribute money to the Vietnam Project, i.e. for the development costs of 

the Vietnam Project; and, the CTF Group would provide any support required to satisfy 

the lender of the Vietnam Project.'22 

4.11.4 We were advised in interview that initially the CTF Group had been lending money to 

Alpha Era in respect of the Vietnam Project consistent with Alpha Era's interest in the 

project, i.e. 34%. In early 2020 through to 2022, the other partners (Suncity Group and 

VinaCapital) could not meet their funding requirements. Mr Wong through Alpha Era and 

with the assistance of the CTF Group decided to 'stand behind the project123  by providing 

continued funding and injected 'more than a fair share into the project.124  When asked in 

interview how much funding the other partners provided during this period, Mr. Lee 

advised he did not have the exact figures'.125 

4.11.5 CTFE has advised the balance of the loan by CTF Group to Mr. Wong in respect of the 

Vietnam Project is USD 388 million. 

4.12 Guarantees provided in relation to the Vietnam Project 

4.12.1 We understand from information provided in interview that the following guarantees 

were prepared by the CTFE legal team.126 

Mr. Ho's Guarantee 

4.12.2 On 4 August 2017, Mr. Ho entered into an agreement with Vietnam Joint Stock 

Commercial Bank For Industry and Trade ("Vietin Bank") to personally guarantee 34% 

(USD 165 million) of the USD 484 million credit facility provided to HASD in respect of the 

Vietnam Project (the Ho Guarantee).127  The 34% guaranteed by Mr. Ho represented Alpha 

Era's equity interest in the Vietnam Project. We understand from the information provided 

in interview, the Ho Guarantee was required by Vietin Bank because Mr. Ho was unknown 

to the bank; and, that guarantees were not required by Vietin Bank in respect of the other 

Vietnam Project investors (Mr. Chau and VinaCapital).128 

4.12.3 The Ho Guarantee was a condition precedent of the credit facility being provided to 

HASD•129 

122  Factual Background Document: paragraphs 62 to 66 

123Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Jacob Lee on 10 November 2023, page 41 

124Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Jacob Lee on 10 November 2023, page 41 

125  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Jacob Lee on 10 November 2023, page 42 

126  Official Transcript of interview with Mr, Jacob Lee on 10 November 2023, page 33. 

127  Factual Background Document: paragraph 81 

128  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Jacob Lee on 10 November 2023, page 66. 

129  Factual Background Document: paragraph 21 
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CTFH Guarantee 

4.12.4 As noted above at paragraph 4.11.3, it was agreed the CTF Group would provide any 

support required to satisfy the lender of the Vietnam Project. As such, on 4 August 2017, 

CTFH entered an agreement with Vietin Bank to guarantee the Ho Guarantee (the 

"CTFH Guarantee130"). We understand, Vietin Bank required a similar guarantee from 

Mr. Wong when he became the owner of Alpha Era (the Wong Guarantee) and CTFH also 

provided a guarantee to Vietin Bank in respect of the Wong Guarantee.131 

4.12.5 The CTFH Guarantee was a condition precedent of the credit facility being provided to 

HASD.'" 

Cross-indemnities provided by Mr. Chau and VinaCapital 

4.12.6 On 8 September 2017, Mr. Chau entered into a deed of counter indemnity with Mr. Ho to 

indemnify Mr. Ho for 34% of any payments made by him in respect of the Ho Guarantee, 

i.e. 34% of 34% of USD 484 million (USD 56 million). We understand from interview that 

this: 

a. Was agreed because the Ho Guarantee was a condition precedent of the HASD credit 

facility133; and 

b. May be considered to have the effect of reducing CTFH's exposure in relation to its 

guarantee of the Ho Guarantee.134 

4.13 Management and administrative services provided by CTFE to Alpha Era 

4.13.1 CTFE has advised it provided significant management, legal and administrative 

assistance to Mr. Ho and Mr. Wong after the CTF Group divested its equity interest in the 

Vietnam Project to them. Mr. Ho and Mr. Wong were described by CTFE as 'passive 

investors/135, thereby requiring this level of assistance. 

Assistance provided by Mr. Lee 

4.13.2 CTFE made Mr. Jacob Lee (CTFE Senior Vice President) available to Mr. Ho and Mr. Wong 

to assist them in managing their investment in the Vietnam Project. We are advised 

Mr. Lee: 

'30Factual Background Document, paragraph 82 

131  Factual Background Document: paragraphs 110 to 110.6 

132  Factual Background Document: paragraph 21 

133  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Jacob Lee on 10 November 2023, pages 66 and 67, 
134  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Jacob Lee on 10 November 2023, pages 73 and 74. 
135  Factual Background Document: paragraphs 78 and 79 
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a. Was a member of the Executive and Audit Committees of the Vietnam Project from 

commencement of those committees until July 2022.136 

b. Attended the Executive and Audit Committee meetings to protect Messers Ho and 

Wong's interests as passive investors, and that Mr. Lee did not engage in the 

planning and execution of the Vietnam Project.137 

c. Was a director of Skywalker from 26 January 2015 to 12 August 2022. Skywalker has 

been a corporate director of Alpha Era since 15 May 2018 and has been controlled by: 

i. CTFE from 26 January 2015 to 12 August 2022, and 

ii. CTFH from 12 August 2022. 

d. Was able to sign documents on behalf of Mr. Ho whilst he was a director of 

Skywalker.'38 

e. Provided informal updates to Mr. Patrick Tsang (CTFE CEO) regarding the Vietnam 

Project after the CTF Group divested its equity interest in the Vietnam Project. 

f. Would arrange for the CTF Group to provide funding in respect of the Vietnam 

Project without approval from or notification of Messers Ho or Wong. Mr. Lee would 

advise Mr. Tsang of these funding requirements as part of proper capital 

management, given they were significant amounts. 

g. Would advise Mr. Ho annually of the loan balance from the CTF Group and capital 

injections into the Vietnam Project. 

4.13.3 Whilst Mr. Lee assisted Mr. Ho and Mr. Wong with their investment in the above regards; 

operational decisions regarding the Vietnam Project were taken by VMS. 

4.13.4 We understand from information provided in interview that Mr. Ho and Mr. Wong have not 

visited the Vietnam Project site nor the Executive Committee Meetings, instead relying on 

Mr. Lee in this regard.29 

4.13.5 During the interview with Mr. Lee on 10 November 2023, OLGR asked how Mr. Lee reported 

information regarding the Vietnam Project to Mr. Tsang and Dr. Henry Cheng. Mr. Lee 

stated: 

a. '/ very rarely would have direct interaction with the Chairman [Dr. Henry Cheng]. So I, 

over my 10 years here at CTFE I would probably only have the opportunity to see him 

maybe 10 times, so probably once a year. Urn, so it would be very unlikely for me to - to, 

urn, pass on any information to the Chairman directly. Ah, with Patrick, obviously, you 

138  Factual Background Document: paragraphs 55 to 56; 78 and 79;122 

137  Factual Background Document: paragraphs 78 and 79 

138  Factual Background Document: paragraph 91 

133  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Jacob Lee on 10 November 2023, page 30 
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know, I report to him directly. Urn, so l would, you know, urn, send him information, Urn, / 

think with regards to Vietnam, probably verbal updates from time to time'.'4° 

b. V can't recall the specific, right, urn, you know, with regards to the updates, right. Urn, but 

you know, and Patrick being the CEO wouldn't, I suppose, right, he shouldn't really focus 

on the nitty, gritty, so to speak. Urn, so it's really up to me to look at the numbers and -

and you know, kind of report to him if, and - and if there was, there were, you know, any 

kind of significant, urn, you know, urn, ah, developments'.141 

c. V would say I didn't really send him [referring to Mr. Tsang] ... a lot of information formally, 

but you know, more - more - more of kind of your verbal, you know, ah, casual, a casual 

way.'42 

d. V suppose in 2014/15... We had a very lean team at that point in time. So most of the 

reports that I've done... and not just with Vietnam, right, but with other projects, right, 

would be very, ah, high level Urn, most of them would be - would be verbal, right, to be 

honest with you. Um, and, ah, with Vietnam, ...I can't recall any specific... documents 

produced.. by myself.. to present to Patrick. Urn, and as I mentioned, I - I really just 

reporting to Patrick at that point of time, and with Chairman, ...I probably did not have 

any - much interaction. Urn, so yeah, with Patrick, ... I think I would.. speak to him from 

time to time regarding Vietnam Project. Certainly in 2014.'43 

Assistance provided by Mr. Conrad Cheng 

4.13.6 During interview, OLGR asked Mr. Conrad Cheng why he had remained a member of and 

continued to attend Executive Committee meetings of the Vietnam Project after the 

CTF Group sold its equity. Mr. Cheng advised he remained a member of and continued to 

attend Executive Committee meetings of the Vietnam Project after the CTF Group sold its 

equity interest because 'nobody asked me to step down and... I'm also interested in the 

project because it's a very large project. 

4.13.7 When asked about his role on the Executive Committee, Mr. Cheng advised '... at the 

inception, I was there to represent the family. Undertaking the actual work is not my role. I 

have the surname of Cheng and that provides or projects sincerity to the Vietnamese 

Government as respect to- regards major work, l am seldom involved, and l was not a 

decision mak& .144 

140 Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Jacob Lee on 10 November 2023, page 12 
141 Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Lee on 10 November 2023, page 13. 

142  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Lee on 10 November 2023, page 13. 

143  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Lee on 10 November 2023, pages 18 and 19. 

144  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Conrad Cheng on 7 November 2023, page 33. 
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4.13.8 Mr. Cheng is a Director of two joint ventures representing CTFE's interest in DBC in respect 

of the QWB development:: 

a. Integrated Resort Joint Venture (25% of which is held by CTFE, 50% by Echo and 

25% by FEC), and 

b. Residential Project Joint Venture (50% of which is held by CTFE and 50% is held by 

FEC). 145 

Assistance facilitating payments and legal and administrative support 

4.13.9 CTFE have advised that because Alpha Era is a BVI registered company and does not 

hold a bank account or have to prepare financial accounts146: 

c. CTFE, in its 'family office capacity, provided administrative support for Alpha Era; 

and 

d. An affiliate of the CTF Group facilitated the making of payments on Alpha Era's 

behalf as payment agent. 

4.13.10 In relation to the support provided to Mr. Wong, CTFE stated: 'As the Vietnam Project is 

now mostly complete and the need for further loans is diminishing, CTFE has started to 

winding[sic] down its support for Mr. Wong [CTFJ Director of Strategic Finance/Alpha 

Era] in relation to the [Vietnam] Project... Mr. Wong has facilitated all payments through 

Firstrate Investments Ltd (a company owned by Mr. Wong)'. 

4.13.11 As discussed above at paragraph 4.11.2, the CTF Group legal team provided Mr. Ho and 

Mr. Wong assistance in the preparation of legal agreements. 

4.14 Knowledge regarding character of Mr. Chau 

4.14.1 Mr. Chau was arrested on 28 November 2021. 

4.14.2 OLGR wrote to CTFE via its legal counsel, HWLE, on 22 April 2022 referring to the 'current 

independent review of The Star Pty Ltd in New South Wales, led by Mr. Adam Bell SC, along 

with a number of unconfirmed media reports... [referring to] a business 

connection/association between CTFE and its associates and Suncity, Mr. Alvin Chau and 

their associates'. 

4.14.3 The findings of the review of The Star Casino in New South Wales, that OLGR referred to in 

its correspondence with CTFE, were published in August 2022. 

145 Probity Report: page 4; Piper Alderman Legal Due Diligence Report dated 18 February 2014, page 35. 

146  Factual Background Document paragraph 79. 
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4.14.4 The Star Report referred to the following findings of the Bergin Report147, stating: 

c. 'the evidence established that "it is probable that Alvin Chau hada former 

association with the 14K Triad group and continued his associations with the 

members of Triad groups"; and 

d. 'Itlhere were clearly links between Mr Chau, the Suncity Junket and organised crime 

groups" .148 

4.14.5 The Star Report also referred to the findings of a Hong Kong Jockey Club report, stating 

that 'Suncity posed "major risks" including... Reliable intelligence indicates that Cheng is 

an Australian law enforcement person of interest due to money laundering and drug 

trafficking activity which he reportedly orchestrates from Hong Kong'.'49 

4.14.6 The Star Report separately stated 'It should not have taken Mr Chau's arrest in December 

2021 to prompt Star Entertainment to cease the relationship with him. The relationship 

with Suncity and Mr Chau should have been terminated in June 2018 when cage 

operations and bags of cash were observed in Salon 95.150 

4.14.7 Mr. Chau was convicted in January 2023 of running a criminal syndicate which defrauded 

the Macao Government of USD 1.05 billion between 2013 and 2021, and was sentenced to 

18 years jail. 

4.14.8 The following discussion provides information regarding CTFE and its associates' 

knowledge of Mr. Chau, obtained from the interviews of CTFE senior management 

undertaken in November 2023. The information from interview is provided as follows: 

a. Mr. Conrad Cheng: from paragraph 4.14.9; 

b. Mr. Patrick Tsang: from paragraph 4.14.24; 

c. Dr. Henry Cheng: from paragraph 4.14.55; and 

d. Mr. Jacob Lee: from paragraph 4.14.74. 

Mr. Conrad Cheng 

4.14.9 Mr. Cheng was interviewed by OLGR and PKF on 7 November 2023 with the assistance of 

an interpreter. 

4.14.10 Mr. Cheng, Mr. Tsang, Mr. Chau and Mr. Andrew Lo Kai Bong were appointed as directors 

of GYE on 11 December 2014. Mr. Cheng and Mr. Tsang were appointed as representatives 

147 The report published in February 2021, documenting the findings of the enquiry undertaken by former Supreme Court 

Judge, Patricia Bergin SC, under section 143 of the Casino Control Act 1992 (NSW) into Crown Resorts Limited. 

148 The Star Report (Volume 1): page 57, paragraph 45(a) 

149 The Star Report (Volume 2): page 50, paragraph 225 

150 The Star Report (Volume 2): page 99, paragraph 423 
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of the CTF Group and Mr. Chau and Mr. Bong were appointed as representatives of 

Star Admiral.151  Mr. Chau and Mr. Bong resigned as directors of GYE on 13 April 2015.'52 

Mr. Cheng and Mr. Tsang resigned as directors of GYE on 22 April 2016 when the CTF 

Group sold its interest to GYE and the Vietnam Project to Alpha Era and Star Admiral. 

4.14.11 OLGR asked Mr. Cheng regarding his role and responsibilities whilst a director of GYE. 

Mr. Cheng advised: '/ was asked to be a director because l would act as the 

representative of the Cheng family. Why is it so important to have a Cheng family 

member? That was because we could show to the Vietnamese Government that we 

were sincere about the project... It was also because I have experience in real estate 

development that this project would involve real estate as wel1.153 

4.14.12 When asked about Mr. Tsang's role as a director of GYE, Mr. Cheng advised 'He is there for 

important decisions and also liaising with the Chairman [Dr. Henry Cheng If there are 

important matters, we would report to him... When it was something important, it would 

be reported to Patrick. He would liaise with the Chairman. I would not know who made 

the decision. It could be Patrick. It could be the Chairman :154 

4.14.13 OLGR asked Mr. Cheng about Mr. Chau's role and responsibilities as a director of GYE. 

Mr. Cheng advised he had 'only met him one to two times since the company was 

established It was not in any formal meeting. It involved.. Patrick and.. I'm actually not 

very sure what his role is. We did not discuss anything about work or the project... I only 

see Alvin Chau in ceremonies like the earth moving ceremony. Ah, earth moving in 

Chinese means when you started a project.'55  Mr. Cheng could not recall what he had 

discussed with Mr. Chau, stating it 'was nothing important. Nothing deep'.'56 

4.14.14 When asked what he had known about Mr. Chau at the time of these meetings in 2014, 

Mr. Cheng advised 'l know him through media matters and l therefore know that he has a 

company called Suncity in Macau, and it seems to be one of the largest'.157  Mr. Cheng 

advised he understood Mr. Chau's business to be ' VIP rooms"58  in casinos. 

151  Factual Background Document: paragraph 57.2 

152  Factual Background Document: paragraph 57.3 

153  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Conrad Cheng: page 9 

154  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Conrad Cheng on 7 November 2023: page 11 

155  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Conrad Cheng on 7 November 2023: pages 11 and 12 

156  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Conrad Cheng on 7 November 2023: page 12 

157  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Conrad Cheng on 7 November 2023: page 12 

158  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Conrad Cheng on 7 November 2023: page 12 
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4.14.15 OLGR asked Mr. Cheng whether he knew 'what Mr. Alvin Chau was doing within VIP rooms 

at casinos?'.159  To which, Mr. Cheng replied 'Based on representations through the media, 

l understand that he would bring... gaming customers to casinos'.169 

4.14.16 OLGR asked why Mr. Cheng thought Mr. Chau had been brought on as a director of GYE. 

Mr. Cheng stated 'As / understand it, he has casino experience. He also has lots of gaming 

customers... at the time will not allow locals to gamble, so they have to be foreigners. As I 

mentioned previously, the government will look at different factors, not just money. So 

they will look at the team. Maybe Chau could enhance'.161 

4.14.17 Mr. Cheng was also a director at the time of the failed proposal for IEC to acquire 

Suncity Group. PKF asked Mr. Cheng what research he had done regarding Mr. Chau and 

Suncity Group at that time (2014/2015). Mr. Cheng advised ' The due diligence was 

arranged by my colleagues, and external assistance was solicited, and l could not recall 

the due diligence details'.162  Mr. Cheng clarified the colleague who had arranged the due 

diligence was the CFO at the time, understood to be Mr. Joe Kwok. 

4.14.18 OLGR discussed CTFE's previous advice that CTFH held concerns Mr. Chau and 

Suncity Group would not assist with additional probity checks if they did not have any 

interest in the Queen's Wharf project. OLGR asked whether CTFH had any other concerns 

in relation to Mr. Chau and Suncity Group other than a potential reluctance to assist. 

Mr. Cheng advised he did not know. Mr. Cheng also advised he did not know if anyone 

within the CTF Group had spoken with Mr. Chau or Suncity Group regarding the Queen's 

Wharf project.'63 

4.14.19 OLGR asked Mr. Cheng why the CTF Group had sold part of its equity in GYE to Mr. Chau in 

April 2016. Mr. Cheng advised he did not know why. OLGR asked whether Mr. Cheng had 

any interactions with Mr. Chau or Suncity Group at that time, to which Mr. Cheng replied 

'About the sale? No'.164 

4.14.2 0 OLGR drew Mr. Cheng's attention to meeting minutes of the 23 April 2016 Executive 

Committee meeting of the Vietnam Project whereby Mr. Cheng was recorded as having 

been attendence. Mr. Cheng agreed his name was recorded but advised 'for some 

minutes... they say that l have participated, but in actual fact... I have not.165 

159  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Conrad Cheng on 7 November 2023: page 13 

160  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Conrad Cheng on 7 November 2023: page 13 

161  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Conrad Cheng on 7 November 2023: page 13 

162  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Conrad Cheng on 7 November 2023: page 15 

163  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Conrad Cheng on 7 November 2023: pages 16 and 17 

164  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Conrad Cheng on 7 November 2023: pages 27 and 28 
165 Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Conrad Cheng on 7 November 2023: page 39 
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4.14.21 The exhibited minutes stated 'CTF has advised that.. Chow Tai Fook should be replaced 

with Gold Weld Enterprises as investor in the HAS project for all future media promotions. 

GYE may be referred to as affiliate to CTF.166  OLGR asked Mr. Cheng to explain this 

statement. Mr. Cheng advised '/ am surprised. I can't recall talking about affiliates '.167 

4.14.22 OLGR noted Mr. Chau was reappointed as a director of GYE on 22 April 2016 (the day 

before the Executive Committee meeting). OLGR put to Mr. Cheng that 'the reason for the 

change of how Chow Tai Fook would be named and replaced with Gold Yield Enterprises 

as investor in the HAS project for all future media and promotions, was done to conceal 

CTF Group's relationship with Mr. Alvin Chat./.168  Mr. Cheng denied this, stating 'l absolutely 

cannot agree... but l don't know the... background .169 

4.14.23 PKF discussed with Mr. Cheng that Mr. Chau had been convicted of crimes conducted 

between 2013 to 2021, and that the CTF Group had business relationships with Mr. Chau at 

points during this period. Mr. Cheng advised 'that was a cooperation with Chau. He was 

not being charged.17° PKF asked what was Mr. Cheng's knowledge of this at the time. 

Mr. Cheng stated 'he was in the casino business. He has been very successful in that... 

but we did not know at the time that he was... engaged in illegal activities1.171 PKF asked 

how Mr. Cheng had confidence at the time that Mr. Chau was not involved in illegal 

activities and what research had he done at the time in this regard. Mr. Cheng stated '/ 

haven't researched into him. I don't know whether others had... but I would believe in 

the... system of Macau, the laws of Macau. And his business was so great, if he did illegal 

activities, then no doubt Macau, the Macanese Government, would have done something 

about it.'72 

Mr. Patrick Tsang 

4.14.24 Mr. Tsang was interviewed by OLGR and PKF on 8 November 2023. 

4.14.25 Mr. Tsang confirmed he had been appointed as a director of GYE on or about 

11 December 2014 and had resigned as a director of GYE on 22 April 2016 when the 

CTF Group disposed of its interest.'73 

4.14.26 OLGR asked Mr. Tsang why he had been appointed as a director of GYE. Mr. Tsang replied 

'Because I'm the CEO of the company. Typically, they would put me as the director of 

166  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Conrad Cheng on 7 November 2023: pages 39 and 40 

167  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Conrad Cheng on 7 November 2023: page 40 

168  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Conrad Cheng on 7 November 2023: page 40 

168  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Conrad Cheng on 7 November 2023: page 41 

170  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Conrad Cheng on 7 November 2023: page 42 

171  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Conrad Cheng on 7 November 2023: pages 42 and 43 

172  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Conrad Cheng on 7 November 2023: page 43 

173  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023 Part I, pages 8 and 9 
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these, uh, acquisition Cos. And again, we - we - we - we do this. So... you would find my 

name as directors of many, many, many, many, of these, uh, special purpose entities'.174 

4.14.27 OLGR asked Mr. Tsang regarding his role and responsibilities as a director of GYE. 

Mr. Tsang advised 'At that time, really just a director of GYE, No - not, you know-

honestly not much, um, involvement, so to speak, at that point But going forward, right? 

If we are successful in terms of forming the ,IV and moving forward, then clearly there 

would be more meat to this entity. But at that point, its just a shell company. The 

purpose is, you know, put directors, form the company, lets get ready. I mean, if you are 

VMS, you want this to happen, right? So, you know, you want to - you want to put, um, 

more weight to the entity and, you know, they typically asked me to be the director, 

which is - which is fine'.15  Mr. Tsang advised his role as director of GYE was 'more by 

name'.'76 

4.14.28 OLGR asked Mr. Tsang about Mr. Conrad Cheng's responsibilities as a director of GYE. 

Mr. Tsang advised 'He is a Cheng family member. Llm, Conrad, uh, plays this role, right? 

This type of role as directors of SPV or acquisition Cos that are set up because he is a 

Cheng family member and having his name on a piece of paper, um, people like that, 

right? It shows - you know, it shows more, um, it has weight, right? Because he's a 

Cheng family member. So he is, uh, he - he plays that role'."' 

4.14.29 OLGR asked Mr. Tsang whether 'at the time... when yourself and... Conrad were directors 

of GYE,... you've told.. us... it was just a shell company at that time, but to your 

knowledge, did Conrad have to make any decisions while a director of GVE?'.178  Mr. Tsang 

replied 'No'.179 

4.14.30 OLGR asked Mr. Tsang what responsibilities Mr. Chau had as a director of GYE. Mr. Tsang 

replied 'Um, I - I, urn, I'm not aware of Other than, you know, l - I would say, um, l don't 

want to put it too lightly, but at that point, again, it's just names on a piece of paper as 

directors of a shell company. Um, but if it were to move forward, then obviously we have 

the director liabilities, everything that associated with it. So, um, but at that point in time, 

it's just names that people put down on a piece of paper. I mean, l - I don't - I don't want 

to sound flippant and, you know, oh, they just use my name. I don't know anything about 

it. It's not that. But it's just part of the process, right? We want to put a Cheng family 

174  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023 Part I, page 21 

176  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023 Part I, pages 21 and 22 

176  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023 Part I, page 22 

177  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, Part I, page 22 

179  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, Part I, page 23 

179  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, Part I, page 23 
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name in it, we want to put a CEO name on it. It just lends more, um, credibility and meat 

to the - to the project' .18° 

4.14.31 PKF asked Mr. Tsang 'wouldn't there be things going on in Vietnam at that point in time 

about this particular project? Are we saying that nothing was going on at this point in 

time that didn't need your involvement or the other director's involvement, uh, you know, 

on the - on the project, perhaps on where you were going to locate the project, on, urn, 

you know, getting, uh, development approvals and so on? Are you - are you - are you 

sort of saying to us there was no meetings, no discussions, no telephone calls with Mr. 

Chau or Mr. Cheng at all?.18I 

4.14.32 Mr. Tsang replied 'let me, urn, clarify. Uh, the project was brought to us by VMS Group. 

VMS group would have had active dialogue with VinaCapital and the local, um, 

authorities. If they were introduced to them, they would've done site visits, they would 

have, um, perhaps even spoken to local advisors about, urn, flow of tourists, about, you 

know, um, development requirements and all that So there would have been active 

dialogue. It's just that myself, Conrad, um, were not part of those discussions. Urn, was 

not needed, uh, at that stage anyways, because it's still in an exploratory - exploratory 

stage'.182 

4.14.33 PKF asked Mr. Tsang how that information and work would have been corn muniated back 

to Mr. Tsang, Mr. Cheng and Mr. Chau. Mr. Tsang advised '... it would be via Benny to, uh, to 

Dr. Cheng... probably not the setup, but the merits... I remember seeing pitch books, right, 

from, uh, from VMS talking about exactly what I've described, right? GDP growth, tourism 

growth, urn, uh, you know, all those, uh, pros, right? About, urn, putting money to work 

there. And obviously there are cons, right? You know, currency, other, you know 

currency fluctuation, stability of the - the political landscape, urn, potential for conflict, 

you know, history and all that. So it would've been, uh, it would've been considered.'.183 

4.14.34 OLGR asked how Mr. Tsang had been introduced to Mr. Chau. Mr. Tsang advised 'there 

was no formal face-to-face introduction... between myself and Alvin Chau' ./84 

Suncity Group or Alvin Chau had been introduced by VMS as a potential partner in the 

Vietnam Project. Mr. Tsang advised 'while we are not as focused on the gaming aspect of 

the project... we view it more as a holiday destination. There is gaming, as an amenity to 

1" Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, Part I, page 23 

181  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, Part I, page 24 

82   Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, Part I, page 24 

183  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, Part I, pages 25 and 26 

1B4  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, Part I, page 9 
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this project... we don't operate casinos... but we need to find somebody that - who can 

do that... So... that would be how... the Alvin Chau name was introduced.. to us' .188 

4.14.35 Mr. Tsang stated '/ would also point out that this... type of proposal... we evaluate all the 

time... as l started out by saying we do have a global footprint... if you look at.. the 

breadth of our business... We have resort in the Bahamas... we have presence in Europe, 

we have presence in the US, we have presence in Asia. So we do evaluate and look at.. 

these types of pitches... a lot. So / don't want you to feel like... why didn't you meet this 

guy where he could be your potential partner? But the sheer volume of... proposals that 

we need to... evaluate and deal with on a daily basis... is a lot. Just as your 

background'.'88 

4.14.36 OLGR asked whether Mr. Tsang had met Mr. Chau. Mr. Tsang advised 'Not in any formal 

business setting... I probably... have been introduced to him in social settings that the 

purpose was not for us to meet, but its just in the social setting that he was there, l was 

there and people introduced us... but not in any formal setting, no'.187 

4.14.37 OLGR asked Mr. Tsang whether he recalled any of these encounters. Mr. Tsang replied 

'Yes, So I recall one involving... yachts... So in Hong Kong you have these... gatherings... it 

could be Cartier, it could be Louis Vuitton... PR firms would invite people to join. So lam 

probably on the invite list, and he was probably on the invite list. And, you know, some PR 

persons, oh, this is Mr. Tsang, this is Mr. Chad .'88 

4.14.38 OLGR asked whether Mr. Tsang ever had any conversations with Mr. Chau about the 

Vietnam Project. Mr. Tsang responded 'Nd and that 'Because they [VMS] introduced the 

opportunity to us, l would go through them... Its just to respect the procedure and the 

process'.189 

4.14.39 In relation to the Vietnam Project proposal which had occurred in 2014, PKF asked 

whether the CTFE execution team had brought anything to Mr. Tsang's attention 

regarding Suncity Group or Mr. Chau. Mr. Tsang replied 'not that l can... recall anything 

of... I don't recall anything special.190 

4.14.40 OLGR asked how Mr. Tsang's team would inform him regarding concerns about a 

potential business partner. Mr. Tsang advised '... we have... updates... as a team... you 

know, as a CEO, my team would report to me... if l may... I think what you are... pointing 

to is whether l have concerns on the character of Mr. Alvin Chau. Um, you know, we roll 

185Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, Part I, pages 9 and 10. 

186Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, Part I, pages 10 and 11. 

187Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, Part I, page 11. 

188Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, Part I, page 11. 

189  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, Part I, pages 11 and 12. 

19°  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, Part I, page 19. 
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back to that time... Whether it's 2014, 2015, if you just read through the media. / mean, 

Alvin Chau is... known, right? He's in the papers. He... obviously operates in Macau, and a 

lot of reporters like to follow that. So, you know, obviously we know of Alvin Chau. Um, at 

that time, if we roll back to that period of time, he is one of the more successful players in 

Macau. So he has, uh, a reputation, um he has girlfriends, he you know, goes out with 

movie stars, so he's like a celebrity. So we of course know him... I don't know him 

personally. So, uh, to, l think to get to what you're looking at in terms of do we know him? 

We know of him, right? Do we know of the news surrounding him? Yes, we are - we are 

aware of that. Urn, have we kind of grilled him personally, uh, on that? Uh, no. I don't think, 

uh - !don't think we did that. And those discussions, we probably... we rely on the VMS... 

to do it for us... But at that time... he's licensed to operate globally, right? He seemed to 

have a... vast empire and doing a good job and the person to go to... if you want to, uh, 

to look into... businesses relating to gaming. But it's a complicated industry, so we know 

there are always nuances, right? Or complications... with that industry.19' 

4.14.41 PKF asked Mr. Tsang regarding Mr. Chau's reputation in 2014/2015 and how was Mr. Chau's 

reputation assessed by Mr. Tsang and CTFE. Mr. Tsang replied ' Yep. So, um, uh - uh, 

again, when we form partnerships, and I - and l would demand that of our advisors too, 

right? Put us with the best people, right? That can ensure, urn, success, uh, put us with 

best in class operators, put us with people who are dominant, right? So in VinaCapital, 

they were pitched to us as the group to go to if you want to do business in Vietnam, 

right? That they, uh, have local expertise and connections and network. Very similarly, 

um, if there is going to be a gaming element as an amenity to the project, the best group 

to partner with is Alvin Chau and Suncity, right? They are the dominant player. So that's 

how the grouping is, urn, formed Uh, l would also like to point out that, urn, clearly we 

need to know our partners where you're absolutely correct, but at that point, you know, 

we haven't won the project yet, we haven't gotten the approvals that are needed, so it's 

just a grouping, right? Just as we have other groupings for other projects. So I absolutely 

understand, urn, from your perspective, oh, you need to have done A, B, C, and D due 

diligence, various types of due diligence, right? You could be dancing with these 

partners, right? Have we done that? But I just want you to, uh - uh, understand the 

context, uh, of where we operate and how we operate, right? That we might be operating 

- looking at various different projects. So we're serious about demanding that whoever 

bring us deals, bring us the best deals, bring us the best partners, but you know, as I've 

mentioned, we also rely on them to do the work and we will do our part, right? So that's 

kind of how we operate'.192 

191  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, Part I, pages 19 and 20 

192 Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, Part I, pages 20 and 21 
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4.14.42 OLGR asked Mr. Tsang whether it was correct that 'the Vietnam government may not 

have been happy with Star Admiral and the financial strength of Star Admiral to be a 

shareholder of the Vietnam Project. And on 13 April, 2015, Star Admiral transferred its share 

in GYE to Even Success [a CTF Group subsidiary]'?193  Mr. Tsang advised that he 'did not 

personally talk to the Vietnam Government, and this information was shared with us... via 

the Vietnam... partner, which is VinaCapital, to the... broker... VMS to us. But yes... that is 

correct in that... they had question marks around the financial strength of... Mr. - of their 

financial strength'.194 

4.14.43 OLGR asked Mr. Tsang what he recalled regarding VMS approaching CTFE or himself 

regarding the removal of Star Admiral from the Vietnam Project. Mr. Tsang advised 'from 

VMS's perspective, uh, as 'mentioned before, they like to consummate the deal. So they 

want to push, right? They want to push. Um, and they've approached us saying, hey, 

what we're hearing now is, you know, the Vietnam government has some concerns 

around the financial strength, you know, be more robust if its just us and VinaCapital. 

From my perspective, from Dr. Cheng's perspective, we want this to be successful, right? 

So if - if we don't need Alvin Chau and Sundry as an equity, uh, shareholder in the 

project, lm fine with it, right? Again, the focus is his perspective, getting the deal 

consummated, from our perspective, securing the project, right, getting the approval 

from the government. That's what's key. So we took their advice'.195 

4.14.44 OLGR asked Mr. Tsang whether he was concerned about the removal of Mr. Chau from 

the Vietnam Project given his casino expertise. Mr. Tsang advised 'Um, the casino is an 

amenity with the project, urn, but we don't need a gaming, urn - a person of gaming 

background to be an equity investor in the project, right? Let's say we have the casino as, 

uh, as an amenity. Um, we have nice hotels or nice swimming pools. All the good stuff 

about Vietnam is already there. Um, we can have partnerships, agreements with, you 

know, either potentially Suncity or others, right? In terms of helping us, uh, run the casino 

in terms of helping bring, um, uh, tourists to the destination. It doesn't mean that we 

need an equity partner, right? If the Vietnam government tells us, you know, probably 

you should consider not having them, its probably good business decision to - to follow 

their advice. Again, I did not talk to, uh - uh, the Vietnam government, urn, directly. This 

project, uh, is, urn, communication is through, uh - through VMS.106 

4.14.45 OLGR asked Mr. Tsang 'to clarify... our understanding... there's no need for... Mr. Chau to 

be that equity investor.. then you mentioned the casino operation later on. Urn, so he 

193  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, Part I, page 8 

194  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, Part I, page 8 

195  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, Part I, pages 26 and 27 

196  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, Part I, pages 27 and 28 
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can be brought back in from the perspective of... the project to be the casino 

operator...'.197 

4.14.46 Mr. Tsang responded 'Oh, let me - let me clarify. What/had wanted to convey is, um, if 

we're successful when we proceed, if we have a casino space, we will be able to find 

operators to operate it, right? It, uh, doesn't necessarily have to be Alvin Chau. It could 

be - it could be others. But, uh, at that point, we are, and VMS is very focused on winning 

the project and getting the nod from the Vietnam government. So, um - because l don't 

want you to feel like, urn, we'd - haven't, or we didn't think through it, right? Uh, we have, 

and to me, they're not there, no problem, right? Someone else, um, can play that role if 

and when we need to. If we don't need to, we don't need to'.'98 

4.14.47 OLGR confirmed with Mr. Tsang that ' CTFH believe[d] that if Suncity and Mr. Alvin Chau 

were to become involved in the Vietnam project, OLGR would require additional property 

checks to be undertaken in Mr. Chau and Suncity. Uh, CTFH had concerns that Mr. Chau 

and Suncity would not assist as they did not have any interest in Queens Wharf Project'.'99 

4.14.48 OLGR then asked Mr. Tsang whether he or CTFH had any other concerns in relation to 

Mr. Chau and Suncity Group, other than the potential reluctance to assist. Mr. Tsang 

replied '/ understand where you're - where you're getting to. Urn, I would, again, mention 

what I've mentioned before, which is Alvin and Suncity operate in Macau. They're in the 

gaming business. Um, they're in the gaming business, which is complicated and 

nuanced. So / - I - I know the - the - the rationale of your questions, right? Did - did -

what - was l concerned back th that time that Alvin could be a criminal, right? That -

that he /s of ill repute. Urn... at that time, Alvin was licensed, right? He was licensed to do 

business in Australia, he was licensed to do business in - in the US, right? So he had to 

go through all the procedures and investigations and processes. So, you know, l would -

I would, uh - uh, put it this way that, you know, we are aware of what we are aware from 

reading in the media, right? That A, right, he is very good at what he does, right? If you 

look at Macau and if you want to partner in that type of business, urn, in that space, right, 

they're the best, right? But of course, right, with - with the - the gaming business, it can 

be complicated. So we understand that'.20° 

4.14.49 OLGR probed 'I'd put it to you though, that wouldn't Mr. Chau be interested in assisting 

Chau Tai Fook Holdings with probably checks if they were to remain a part of the Vietnam 

project? Uh, they - they are in the casino business. Urn, and from - for all accounts and 

purposes of what we've seen so far, Chau Tai Fook was a, uh, a big financial provider for 

197  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, Part I, pages 30 and 31 

199  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, Part I, page 31. 

199  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, Part I, page 32. 
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the Vietnam project. Uh, so one could assume that Suncity would want to assist Chau Tai 

Fook. Would you agree or disagree with that?.201 

4.14.50 Mr. Tsang replied ' I don't, uh, know is the honest, um, answer. Urn, I did not kick him out 

right in the first place. VMS probably kicked him out. I don't know whether he likes us. I've 

not met him, right? Um, l know I'm putting a distance, but that's the reality, right? That 

the day-to-day discussion, urn, / did not conduct' .2°2 

4.14.51 OLGR discussed with Mr. Tsang the failed proposal for IEC to acquire Suncity Group, which 

had occurred in 2014/2015. OLGR stated 'at this time based on... public information, Mr. 

Alvin Chau owned and controlled Suncity, and ultimately the financial due diligence was 

not satisfactory and the transaction did not proceed. Is that correct?. Mr. Tsang replied, 

.. that is correct' .2°3 

4.14.52 OLGR asked whether any other form of due diligence was undertaken by IEC in relation to 

Suncity Group. Mr. Tsang replied 'l believe they must have... I think, that ultimately the 

financial due diligence was not satisfactory and the transaction did not proceed.204  OLGR 

probed whether any other kind of due diligence, such as on individuals associated with 

the company, had been undertaken. Mr. Tsang replied '..  I do not know the answer to that 

question cause I was not part of the process. I don't wawnt to give the wrong answei1.2°6 

4.14.53 PKF asked Mr. Tsang whether he knew who was involved in the due diligence process 

from the CTF Group. Mr. Tsang replied that VEC's... staff would be part of that process. Uh, 

probably not, uh, any one of my staff.. On the CTFE side... I would say my staff is... 

passive. I don't think we were actively involved in that... transaction .2°s 

4.14.54 PKF noted the criminal activities for which Mr. Chau had been convicted had been 

occurring during the timeframes that the CTF Group had interactions with Mr. Chau. PKF 

asked whether Mr. Tsang or anyone else at CTFE were aware of Mr. Chau's criminal 

activity at that point in time. Mr. Tsang replied 'Not criminal activities, definitely not '.207 

Mr. Tsang also noted that despite the media attention received by Mr. Chau, '... on the 

flipside we are also aware as I pointed out that he is licensed to operate, right, in - in 

Australia and in other parts of the world, so he is also under the scrutiny of, ah, 

regulators'.2°8 

201  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, Part I, page 33. 

202  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, Part I, pages 33 and 34. 
2"  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, Part I, pages 13 and 14. 

2"  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, Part I page 14. 
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206 Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023 (Part 1): page 15. 
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Dr. Henry Cheng 

4.14.55 Dr. Cheng was interviewed by OLGR and PKF on 9 November 2023 with the assistance of 

an interpreter. 

4.14.56 OLGR asked Dr. Cheng who had introduced him to Mr. Chau. Dr. Cheng advised 'Benny 

Chong [VMS] made the introduction'.209 

4.14.57 OLGR asked Dr. Cheng whether he had met Mr. Chau. Dr. Cheng advised V could not 

remember, but it wouldn't be a lot. It wouldn't be substantial. Because Chau was only an 

acquaintance. / don't know him wel/ .21° 

4.14.58 Subsequently in the interview, Dr. Cheng advised he had met Mr. Chau 'About three to 

four times. But each time, there would be quite a lot of other people'.211 

4.14.59 OLGR asked what Dr. Cheng knew of Mr. Chau between 2013 and 2015. Dr. Cheng advised 

'I know Chau is in gambling... I therefore discussed with him in 2013 in the IEC transaction. 

I know he is in the junket business and it's the junket business that he wants to inject into 

IEC and I don't like the junket business. I don't want to be connected with junket business 

and therefore, at the end, the deal did not proceed because I objected to it '.2I2 

4.14.60 OLGR asked Dr. Cheng what about the junket business he did not like nor want to be 

associated with. Dr. Cheng advised '...junket business normally would have 

complications in the background And this is because, I personally as well as my 

company, place heavy emphasis on reputation. Hence, I would not enter into a joint 

venture'.213  The interpreter then clarified 'Sorry. Ah, Mr. Cheng corrected me. Ah, it should 

be equity, ah, joint venture. Equity investments together with people in the junket 

business'.214  Dr. Cheng then continued 'Because, if we have equity together, then it would 

be like I would be doing junket business'.2'5 

4.14.61 PKF asked Dr. Cheng whether he would be comfortable entering a non-equity 

arrangement with a junket operator. Dr. Cheng advised 'It depends on the mode of 

cooperation'.216 

4.14.62 OLGR asked Dr. Cheng to elaborate on the "complications" he mentioned regarding 

junket businesses. Dr. Cheng advised ' The details, /don't know. That is because I don't 

know about junket business. However, my personal observation is that, in respect of this 

209  Official Transcript of interview with Dr. Henry Cheng on 9 November 2023 (Part 1): page 14 

210  Official Transcript of interview with Dr. Henry Cheng on 9 November 2023 (Part 1): page 14 
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214  Official Transcript of interview with Dr. Henry Cheng on 9 November 2023 (Part 1): page 15 

215  Official Transcript of interview with Dr. Henry Cheng on 9 November 2023 (Part 1): page 15 

216  Official Transcript of interview with Dr. Henry Cheng on 9 November 2023 (Part 1): page 17 

95 
PKF Integrity Services 



Department of Justice and Attorney General 
Chow Tai Fook Enterprises and Associate 

[sic] kind of transactions concerning gambling involving junket business, that there would 

not be a lot of documentation or legal support for the transactions. Maybe not 

everybody is complicated That, I wouldn't knoW.217 

4.14.63 OLGR probed whether the word "complicated" referred to an 'understanding that the 

junket business may not always necessarily be legal?'.218  Dr. Cheng replied 'l don't know 

whether it is legal or not. This would be a matter for the government to determine. But, in 

the majority of cases, the people involved would be rather complicated.219 

4.14.64 OLGR asked what Dr. Cheng meant when he described the people involved as 

complicated. Dr. Cheng stated 'lam not saying this in respect of all junkets, but the 

majority of them could be complicated. It could be that this could involve illegal 

activities, association with triads or even being triad members themselves4.22° 

4.14.6 5 PKF probed 'When you were discussing junkets operators and we were discussing them 

being complicated, you mentioned... there not being a lot of legal documentation in 

relation to... their manner of being complicated, could you please tell me what you 

meant by that-7.221  Dr. Cheng responded '/ was talking about the operation within VIP 

rooms, that, for this kind of operation, ah, there may not be, ah, formal legal 

documentation that protects the transactions. Ah, of course, if there is any cooperation, 

then they would have to have proper legal documentation. But I really don't know how it 

operates; this is only my impression'.222 

4.14.66 OLGR referred to the IEC proposal not proceeding because the financial due diligence 

was unsatisfactory and asked Dr. Cheng whether he was aware of any other forms of due 

diligence undertaken at that time (2014/2015). Dr. Cheng replied 'Due diligence at the end 

of the day is for me to say whether it is okay or not. I don't like it, I therefore rejected it. 223
 

4.14.67 PKF asked Dr. Cheng what he knew of Mr. Chau's business, to which Dr. Cheng replied '/ 

only know the following points concerning Chau and Suncity. They have a lot of VIP 

rooms in Macau and, in Macau, they are number one in terms of volume. How they 

operate, their mode of operation is not clear to me ' . 224 

4.14.68 OLGR asked Dr. Cheng about what due diligence the CTF Group had undertaken in 

relation to the Vietnam Project. Dr. Cheng provided the following comments: 

217  Official Transcript of interview with Dr. Henry Cheng on 9 November 2023 (Part 1): pages 15 and 16 
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a. 'No, not CTF. But I personally went down and that was only one occasion that I did 

that to look at the sitd.225 

b. 'No, not at the time because, at the time, people in Chow Tai Fook would not know 

about this project yet'.226 

c. 'No, l would operate in accordance with my gut feeling."' 

4.14.69 OLGR asked Dr. Cheng about feedback from the Vietnamese Government that Mr. Chau 

and Star Admiral did not have sufficient financial strength to be a shareholder in the 

Vietnam Project. Dr. Cheng advised '.. I knew that Chau would be involved, but he was not 

a shareholder. I told clearly, ah, VMS at the time that my interest was, ah, in respect of 

hotel and resorts. I knew that there was a casino so / told VMS clearly that, if it is possible 

to segregate a casino and let Chau to handle that casino business, then l would be 

interested. This position, l have informed VMS but I have not told other people. So, in 

2015,  when l heard that the Vietnamese government said, ah, Chau would not be 

financially strong enough and he may have to exit, l actually welcomed ir2,8  (emphasis 

added). 

4.14.70 OLGR referred to statements by CTFE in the Factual Background Document that 'CTFH 

believed that, if Suncity and Mr. Alvin Chau were to become involved in the 

Vietnam Project, OLGR would require additional probity checks to be undertaken on Mr. 

Chau and Suncity. CTFH had concerns that Mr. Chau and Suncity would not assist as they 

did not have any interest in the Queen's Wharf project here in Brisbane'.229  OLGR asked Dr. 

Cheng whether he or anyone else in CTFH had any other concerns in relation to Mr. Chau 

or Suncity Group, other than their potential reluctance to participate.23° 

4.14.71 There were some difficulties in Dr. Cheng's understanding of this question. Dr. Cheng 

advised '/ don't know that the factual background and you - this kind of documents. I 

don't know about these documents'.231  Dr. Cheng subsequently added 'I don't know the 

existence of the factual background that CTFE submitted But - but could l just tell you 

what happened in 2014 and 2075 from my perspective? The details, of course, l could not 

recall. VMS introduced this project So I told VMS I'm very interested as a resort project 

Gaming is only part of the amenities of the resort project At the time, there were already 

- at the time, there were already two consortium partners. So I told VMS that it would be 

better if Alvin Chau would not be a shareholder. The casino should be clearly 

225  Official Transcript of interview with Dr. Henry Cheng on 9 November 2023 (Part 1): page 23 
226 Official Transcript of interview with Dr. Henry Cheng on 9 November 2023 (Part 1): page 23 
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segregated. After that, l didn't follow up. Afterwards, I came to understand that 

management and VMS established a consortium, and the consortium took the form of 

equity. I was very dissatisfied at the time... that Vietnamese government apparently has 

some views concerning Chau. So I thought it would be better if Chau would cease to be 

a shareholder. So my thinking was, this would have nothing to do with the Australian 

investment. So I explained to the Australian government then that I had no relationship 

or transaction with Chau. This is the position from my perspective because /p/ace heavy 

emphasis on reputation. I'm thinking l did not share directly with management. I could 

not tell management that, in assessing every project, they have to assess reputation as 

well because it would then be very hard for them to assess the project as to whether they 

are viable. Because reputational considerations are subjective, while financial analysis, 

they are objective. But at the end of the day, for large major projects, l will be the 

ultimate person making the call. But I wouldn't go into the details and l would not be 

familiar with details of documents. 'acknowledge that, in respect of this project, there 

might have been some misunderstanding between management and myself. That's /1'232 

(emphasis added). 

4.14.72 PKF asked Dr. Cheng to clarify his statement regarding not telling management to assess 

reputation. Dr. Cheng clarified 'I'm not saying that I ask management not to consider 

reputational aspects, I'm saying that l did not tell management about my views' .233  PKF 

clarified with Dr. Cheng that 'it was not a matter of.. management not considering 

reputation, it was that you did not inform management of your views regarding 

reputation?.234  Dr. Cheng confirmed that was correct. 

4.14.73 When discussing CTFE's responses to OLGR and PKF's previous information requests, Dr. 

Cheng stated '... as regards my view on Alvin Chau, yes, I did not tell management. I 

didn't disclose the reason why l would not like to have business with Alvin Chau. So it 

may be a sort of communication problem between myself and management. From my 

- speaking about myself personally, it is because / have concerns / don't like Mr. Chau, 

that / don't want to have any business with him. I believe management did not intend to 

pursue anything. It could be that there had been some communication issues or people 

putting in different interpretations so it's an interpretation problem. If it's just because 

that, that we have created any embarrassment on your part, / can represent 

management to apologise to you. I can assure you and l can affirm... definitely will not 

do anything imprope/.235 

232  Official Transcript of interview with Dr. Henry Cheng on 9 November 2023 (Part 1): pages 30 and 31 

233  Official Transcript of interview with Dr. Henry Cheng on 9 November 2023 (Part 1): page 33 

234  Official Transcript of interview with Dr. Henry Cheng on 9 November 2023 (Part 1): page 33 

235  Official Transcript of interview with Dr. Henry Cheng on 9 November 2023 (Part 2): pages 2 and 3 
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Mr. Jacob Lee 

4.14.74 Mr. Lee was interviewed by OLGR and PKF on 10 November 2023. 

4.14.75 OLGR asked Mr. Lee what interactions he had with Mr. Chau when GYE was first set up in 

2014. Mr. Lee replied 'l did not have any interaction with him'.236  OLGR then asked whether 

Mr. Lee had any interactions with Mr. Chau since then. Mr. Lee responded 'Not with 

Mr. Chau. No'.2" 

4.14.76 OLGR asked Mr. Lee whether he had any interactions with Mr. Chau in a group setting. 

Mr. Lee advised 'In a group setting. So / did, ah, see him, l think in one or two of these, urn, 

ExComm meetings, ah, that he appeared. Um, but l did not speak with him directly.238 

4.14.77 OLGR then asked whether Mr. Lee recalled what role Mr. Chau played in the Executive 

Committee meetings and what Mr. Chau discussed. Mr. Lee stated 'So, he was... the 

controller... of.. Star, or - or Suncity, right. Urn, so when he attended these meetings, 

...he would just come in to, / suppose... hear.. the different presentations... made by the 

project team, to understand the progress... of, ah, the development right l think he 

would give... some comments in relation to... the design... of the casino. Because... he is, 

urn, he was... at that point in time, at least, ... portrayed to be very successful, a very 

successful player in the gaming industry... So he came in to - to give some inputs on 

that front.239 

4.14.78 PKF asked Mr. Lee whether Mr. Chau had discussed the junket business at the Executive 

Committee meetings, to which Mr. Lee replied '... he did not make a presentation or a 

detailed discussion on the junket business model, right Um, so he did not, yeah'.24° 

4.14.79 PKF asked Mr. Lee whether he knew in 2014 that Mr. Chau was a junket operator. Mr. Lee 

replied 'he was... portrayed in the media, to be a very successful... gaming operator, oh, 

sorry, a player in the gaming industry. Ah, l think people would call him junket operator. 

So yes, l do know of him as a junket operator, probably the biggest ... in Macau at that 

point in time. Ah, with regards to... junket operation, or junket... gaming model, right Ah, 

what l understand is that they would basically introduce... gaming customers,.. from 

various parts of the world..., perhaps, ...people from China, ... and they bring these 

customers... to Macau, and to the other jurisdictions that they operate. Ah, and in turn I 

think they also extend credit... to these players... to gamble'.241 

236Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Jacob Lee on 10 November 2023, page 17 
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4.15 Information from CTFE regarding apparent inconsistencies in its responses 

to OLGR and PKF's information requests 

CTFE submission dated 29 October 2023 

4.15.1 Following receipt of CTFE's submission on 9 October 2023, OLGR wrote to CTFE requesting 

a detailed explanation of the apparent discrepancy between the response received by 

OLGR on 20 May 2022 and the disclosure made to OLGR on 9 October 2023, with respect 

to the Vietnam Project. OLGR requested CTFE's response include: 

a. ' The reason why differing information was provided to OLGR on separate 

occasions (being 20 May 2022 and 9 October 2023)'; and 

b. 'Noting the question put to CTFE by OLGR on 22 April 2022 regarding Hoiana 

Integrated Resort, explain why CTFE did not disclose the apparent involvement of 

CTFE and/or CTFE associates in the ownership, management, administration, or 

financing' of the casino complex at Hoiana in its response dated 20 May 2022. 

4.15.2 CTFE replied on 29 October 2023, stating 'CTFE acknowledges that the information 

provided in [HWLE'sl email of 20 May2022 was substantially less fulsome than the 

information which it provided to the OLGR on 9 October2023. 

CTFE accepts that it took far too narrow a view of the scope of OLGR's questions in its 20 

May2022 email CTFE unreservedly apologises for its failure to fully and properly address 

the OLGR's relevant question at the time of preparing its 20 May2022 response and 

wishes to express its regret and contrition about this. It will not happen again'. 

Dr. Henry Cheng 

4.15.3 During interview with Dr. Cheng on 9 November 2023, OLGR put to Dr. Cheng that 'From 

the information and documents provided to OLGR up until 9 October2023 - so a month 

ago - OLGR was led to believe that Chow TaiFook group was not involved in the 

Vietnam Project and we were [not] informed of any loans to Mr. Ho and Alpha Era to fund 

the Vietnam project. However, on 9 October2023, we have been advised that there were 

loans of USD$388 million approximately. It could be perceived that we have been misled 

or misinformed which puts at risk the integrity and reputation of the Queensland 

Government. What do you have to say to that7.242 

4.15.4 Dr. Cheng replied don't think so. Urn, first of all the - the - the money that was lent, they 

could have borrowed from other sources as well, urn, finance companies, ah, but the 

projects we have no involvement - no involvement in - in the affairs except hotel 

management, ah, which is pretty standard. Honestly, urn, we were not involved in the 

242  Official transcript of interview with Dr. Henry Cheng on 9 November 2023 (Part 2): pages land 2 
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project as such. If there is any misleading, urn, then, ah, this is something that 

management was responsible and clearly they did not intend to mislead Maybe it is just 

a question of how it was presented As far as the loans are concerned, it is quite clear 

that Ho didn't want to come up with the money so we had to lend money to him'.' 

4.15.5 OLGR then stated 'Dr Cheng, I think you - and let me just summarise this as best as I 

can... - you've... said in your interview today that you did have concerns over junket 

operations Suncity, Mr Chau, back in sort of that 13 to 15 period, urn, but you didn't 

necessarily these concerns to management. And it's actually management, from what I 

can - can - what I'm hearing in your evidence - that have been responding on behalf ot 

urn, CTFE to OLGR here in Brisbane. Therefore is it possible that that disconnect has led 

to, um, some of these inaccurate responses being provided to the Regulator here in 

Brisbane?.244  In relation to this question, PKF notes that Mr. Patrick Tsang (CTFE CEO) was 

aware of the arrangements involving the CTF Group, Alpha Era and the Vietnam Project, 

and the internal CTF Group legal team assisted with legal documentation related to the 

arrangements, and on this basis, in our opinion, ought reasonably to have been aware of 

the arrangements. 

4.15.6 Dr. Cheng responded to OLGR's question, stating '... let's put in this way. Urn, as regards 

my view on Alvin Chau, yes, / did not tell management. I didn't disclose the reason why I 

would not like to have business with Alvin Chau. So it may be a sort of communication 

problem between myself and management. From my - speaking about myself 

personally, it is because / have concerns I don't like Mr Chau, that I don't want to have any 

business with him. I believe management did not intend to pursue anything. It could be 

that there had been some communication issues or people putting in different 

interpretations so it's an interpretation problem. If it's just because that, that we have 

created any embarrassment on your part, I can represent management to apologise to 

you. I can assure you and I can affirm... definitely will not do anything improper. It is very 

easy for you to check on our reputation whether it be with banks, political circles, 

government, the police'.245 

Mr. Patrick Tsang 

4.15.7 During interview with Mr. Tsang on 8 November 2023, OLGR put to Mr. Tsang that 'you are 

aware of the media allegations that were made in relation to Chow Tai Fook, ah, by 

certain media outlets here in Australia, and associations with Mr Alvin Chau, and that we 

now find ourselves in this position and - and discovering, ah, these, urn, l won't call them 

interests because you don't call it interest... but these loans and these guarantees, but 

243  Official transcript of interview with Dr. Henry Cheng on 9 November 2023 (Part 2): page 2 

244  Official transcript of interview with Dr. Henry Cheng on 9 November 2023 (Part 2): pages 2 and 3 

245  Official transcript of interview with Dr. Henry Cheng on 9 November 2023 (Part 2): page 3 
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yet we have been told previously that there is no involvement So surely you can 

appreciate the difficulties we now face in how we proceed and - and take that 

information, and how we interpret it.246 

4.15.8 Mr. Tsang responded 'Um, the reports, right, that were, ah, in the media, ah, unfortunately 

a lot of the facts, ah, were incorrect. Urn, it is our policy not to comment on, um, external 

stuff, right - we certainly do not want to embroil ourselves with some battle with - with 

the television station or reporters in - in Australia, that is not, ah, that is not what we do, 

urn, but it is unfortunate that, ah, that those incorrect information were circulated. 

Throughout the process of that it caused again an inconvenience to you, or to other 

parties, we apologise, urn, for that, but we also see ourselves, ah, as a victim, urn, so to 

speak, ah, you know, we - we, ah, as well l believe as you are very focussed on putting 

this behind us, moving forward, opening Destination Brisbane, having an excellent, 

excellent, ah, hospitality destination for Australia and, urn, we will work with you, right, to 

make that happen'.247 

4.15.9 OLGR put to Mr. Tsang that '... you have used the words, ah, that, you know, are not 

fulsome, ah, the responses weren't fulsome... do you believe Chow Tai Fook responses to 

OLGR's... requests were misleading?.248 

4.15.10 Mr. Tsang replied  ' I personally will not use the word, um, misleading, urn, there - there is 

no intention to, ah, to mislead you, um, they were not fulsome, they were not, um, 

adequate, perhaps it was inadequate249  ... I wouldn't use the word misleading, but we 

have fallen - we have fallen short, and we have inconvenienced you.25° 

4.15.11 OLGR asked Mr. Tsang '...  who made the decision on what information Chow Tai Fook 

chooses to disclose... to OLGR, especially during this suitability investigation where we 

have asked questions about the Vietnam project. Urn... - you have told us that 

ultimately the responsibility lies with you as the CEO... is that correct, or do you want to 

add a bit more volume to that on who - who makes the decision on what information is 

included? .25' 

4.15.12 Mr. Tsang replied 'the information... is submitted to you on behalf of CTF, so CTF is... 

responsible... how we came up with what we, ah, put down, as CEO obviously lam not... 

involved in the nitty, gritty, or the word smithing of the document, but the flipside as CEO 

246  Official transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023 (Part 2): page 11 

247  Official transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023 (Part 2): pages 11 and 12 

248  Official transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023 (Part 2): page 12 

249  Official transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023 (Part 2): page 12 

250  Official transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023 (Part 2): page 13 
251 Official transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023 (Part 2): page 13 
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is of course lam responsible, right.. but there is an execution team that worked on the 

documents, yes'.252 

4.15.13 PKF then put to Mr. Tsang that 'a number of requests that were made to you and CTFE... in 

relation to information about the Vietnam project, there was also the media article late 

last year which actually mentioned Mr. Chau, and the Vietnam project, and there had 

been secrecy around that. So there were a number of opportunities for you and... CTFE, l 

suppose to come forward with this information before... you finally did... in the later part 

of this year. Um, do you have anything further to say on that point?.253 

4.15.14 Mr. Tsang replied 'no, other than... again it is reiterated what / have said which is... any 

inconvenience... caused... is not intentional, ... we realise we have fallen short, and we 

want to rectify that, and hopefully we have'.254 

Remediation proposal 

4.15.15 Following the above interviews, on 14 November 2023, HWLE wrote on behalf of CTFE (by 

email) to OLGR and PKF. HWLE stated: 

' ...This email is to follow up on the comments made by Mr Patrick Tsang last week that 

CTFE is committed to putting new arrangements in place with OLGR to avoid any risk of a 

miscommunication between CTFE and OLGR arising again in connection with the Queens 

Wharf Integrated Resort. 

As several interviewees mentioned during last week's interviews, CTFE regrets that in the 

past it has not lived up to expectations in reporting to OLGR and is committed to ensuring 

that this cannot and will not happen again. 

Our client has been giving some thought to how this could be achieved, and has asked 

us to share its thinking with you for the purposes of getting feedback before it progresses 

to a formal detailed proposal. To state the obvious, CTFE wants to ensure that its detailed 

proposal will not leave out any significant area which OLGR would like to see 

addressed..'. 

4.15.16 The email from HWLE contained a voluntary proposal from CTFE regarding steps it may 

take to improve its reporting to OLGR. These have been considered in our 

recommendations at Section 11.1 of this report. 

4.15.17 A copy of the email is provided as Appendix 14 - of this report. 

252  Official transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023 (Part 2): page 13 

253  Official transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023 (Part 2): pages 13 and 14 

254  Official transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023 (Part 2): page 14 
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5. Alleged links between New World 

and organised crime figures 

5.1 Allegations 

5.1.1 On 22 August 2022, the ABC Article made several allegations, which are summarised for 

the purposes of this report as "Media Allegation 2". 

Media Allegation 2: 

CTF Group subsidiary, "New World", is frequently the venue of meetings involving triad 

figures and is a front for money laundering 

5.1.2 The statements contained in the ABC Article relevant to Media Allegation 2 include: 

a. 'Hong Kong police contacts also suspected Cheng Vu Tung's company New 

World, a Chow Tai Fook subsidiary, was being used as a front for money 

laundering. The brief cautioned there was no definitive proof, but noted the 

company headquarters was "frequently the venue for meetings involving well-

known Triad figures'. 

5.2 Findings 

5.2.1 Our investigation found Media Allegation 2 to be unsubstantiated on the basis of the 

evidence available. 

Alleged business association with Kwok 

5.2.2 

5.2.3 

104 
PKF Integrity Services 



Department of Justice and Attorney General 
Chow Tai Fook Enterprises and Associate  

Alleged money laundering activities 

5.2.7 No evidence of money laundering activities was established during our review. 

5.2.8 Detailed discussion regarding our analysis and the basis of our findings is provided 

below. 

5.3 Character of Kwok Wing-Hun 

5.2.4 

5.2.5 

5.2.6 

5.3.1 According to media reports, Kwok (known colloguially as "Shanghai Boy") was allegedly 

the head of the Wo Shing Wo Triad from 1998 to 2000 and remains a senior leader of the 

grou p.255 

5.3.2 Kwok has been apprehended by Hong Kong Police on multiple occassions between 2012 

and 2020 for criminal charges including intimidation, blackmail, assault and criminal 

damage, however he has not been convicted in relation to any of the charges. 

5.4 

5.4.1 

5.4.2 

255  https://www.scmp.com/news/hong-kong/law-crime/article/2117994/who- hong- kongs- alleged- triad- leader-

shanghai-boy-kwok-wing• https://www.sohu.com/a/530832704_120889728 
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5.4.3 

5.4.4 

5.4.5 

5.4.6 

5.4.7 

256 

257 

258 

259 
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5.5 Additional information sought from CTFE 

February 2023 PKF Information Request 

5.5.1 On 28 February 2023, as part of the Ongoing Suitability Review, PKF wrote to CTFE via HWLE 

stating 'Intelligence suggests Henry Kar Sun Cheng [Dr. Henry Cheng] has met alleged 

Wo Shing Wo triad member, Kwok Wing-hung (Shanghai Boy). Please provide details of 

their relationship'. 

5.5.2 HWLE responded on 14 March 2023, stating 'As far as Dr. Cheng can recall, he has seen Mr. 

Kwok Wing-hung on one occasion only. It was an unplanned chance encounter where Dr. 

Cheng was at a dinner venue and Mr. Kwok happened to appear briefly. No introduction 

was made and  there was no dialogue with Dr. Cheng. Dr. Cheng does not have any 

personal contact or relationship, nor has he conducted any transaction, with Mr. Kwok 

(emphasis added). 

Subsequent information requirement 

5.5.3 On 26 July 2023, PKF wrote to HWLE requesting further information regarding 

Subsequently, on 15 September 2023, OLGR wrote to HWLE providing an information 

requirement regarding PKF's queries. 

and, relevant to this topic, 

included: 

a. 'Copies of any  criminal activity log of Chow Tai Fook Enterprises Limited (CTFE), 

New World Development Co Ltd ('NWD') and NWS Holdings Ltd ('NWS'), or any 

analogous document that records any incidents with persons associated with 

organised crime, referencing Kwok Wing Hung ('Kwok)' (emphasis added). 

b. 'Copies of any "threat impact assessment statements',' or similar threat or risk 

assessments, involving CTFE, NWD and NWS relating to Kwok (emphasis added). 

c. 'Copies of any CTFE policies and procedures or other such documents which 

relate to managing possible interactions with individuals associated with or 

allegedly associated with organised crime, including but not limited to "line to 

take policy" and any other policy or procedure which relates to Kwok (emphasis 

added). 

5.5.4 On 9 October 2023, HWLE responded to OLGR's information requirement stating that in 

relation to: 

a. Criminal activity logs: 'None of CTFE, NWD or NWS is required under any legislation 

to, and none of them do, keep any such logs or documents'. 
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b. "Threat impact assessment statements": 'None of CTFE, NWD or NWS is required 

under any legislation to, and none of them do, keep any such statements or 

assessments, whether in relation to Kwok or any other person for that matter'. 

c. A "line to take policy" regarding Kwok: 'CTFE does not have any written policies, 

procedures or documents that specifically apply to managing possible 

interactions with individuals associated with or allegedly associated with 

organised crime'. The response then referenced the CTFE code of conduct 

sections relating to anti-bribery laws and prohibition on ties with questionable 

individuals'. 

5.6 November 2023 interviews of CTFE senior management 

5.6.1 In November 2023, PKF and OLGR interviewed CTFE senior management to seek 

clarification regarding queries and information identified during our review and provide 

CTFE the opportunity to provide relevant information in relation to our investigation. In 

relation to the concerns regarding alleged links between NWD and organised crime 

figures, we interviewed: 

a. Mr. Ma Siu-Cheung ("Mr. Ma") (NWD Executive Director and NWS Holding Ltd Chief 

Executive Officer), and 

b. Dr. Henry Cheng (Chairman of CTFE). 

Interview of Mr. Ma 

5.6.2 During interview, Mr. Ma advised that he had joined NWS as its Chief Operating Officer on 

9 July 2018 and was appointed its Chief Executive Officer on 1 January 2019. On 1 July 2022, 

Mr. Ma was appointed an Executive Director of NWD. 

The Chief 

Executive Officer of NWD is recorded on the company website as Dr. Adrian Cheng Chi-

Kong.260 

5.6.3 The office location advised by Mr. Ma was different to the location advised by 

who described an alleged meeting involving Mr. Ma and Kwok. 

5.6.4 Mr. Ma advised he had never met Kwok and had only heard of him through media 

reports. Mr. Ma stated he was not aware of any relationship between Dr. Henry Cheng and 

Kwok and was not aware of the "unplanned chance encounter" between Dr. Cheng and 

Kwok advised by CTFE. 

250  https://wwwnwd.com.hk/corporate/about-NWD/leadership 
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5.6.5 Mr. Ma stated he was not aware of any visits by Kwok to NWD Headquarters nor any other 

NWD property; and was not aware of a LTT policy, threat impact assessments or security 

reports regarding Kwok. 

Interview of Dr. Henry Cheng 

5.6.6 During interview, Dr. Cheng confirmed he is the Chairman of and an Executive Director of 

NWD and NWS. Dr. Cheng advised he had never met Kwok in this capacity and was not 

aware of any company executives interacting with Kwok. 

5.6.7 Dr. Cheng advised he had heard of Kwok through media reports. When asked how he 

knew it was Kwok in the restaurant during the "chance unplanned encounter" previously 

advised by CTFE, Dr. Cheng stated it was because of his loud clothes for which Kwok was 

known. 

5.6.8 

5.6.9 Dr. Cheng was asked regarding an article that described NWD premises being 

vandalised, allegedly by [Kwok]. Dr. Cheng advised he could not recall this incident, 

however noted that the article was over 10 years ago and it 'would be unsurprising in a 

way.. It may be that, in the course of the business, somebody got disgruntled and this 

could arise...%261 

5.6.10 Dr. Cheng was asked, noting the sensitivity of the topic, whether he was aware of any 

extortion or blackmail attempts in relation to Cheng family members or senior executives 

of the CTF Group. Dr. Cheng denied any knowledge of extortion or blackmail. When this 

question was put to Mr. Conrad Cheng and Mr. Patrick Tsang, they also denied any 

knowledge of any extortion or blackmail attempts. When the subject was put to 

interviewees, OLGR emphasised the sensitivity of the subject and and advised that 

specific details regarding any such attempts were not required. 

261  Official Transcript of interview with Dr. Henry Cheng on 9 November 2023, Part I, page 9. 
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6.STDM and alleged associations 

6.1 Allegations 

6.1.1 On 22 August 2022, the ABC Article made several allegations, which are summarised for 

the purposes of this report as "Media Allegation 3". 

Media Allegation 3: 

CTF Group's interest in STDM has resulted in a partnership between Dr. Cheng Yu Tung 
and a person not of good repute, Mr. Yip Hon; and, that another person not of good 

repute, "Broken Tooth" Koi, held an $8 million interest in a VIP room owned by Dr. Cheng 
Yu Tung and Mr. Stanley Ho. 

6.1.2 The statements contained in the ABC Article relevant to Media Allegation 3 include: 

a. '14K leader "Broken Tooth" Koi, who Macau prosecutors alleged held an $8 million 

stake in a VIP room owned by Cheng and Ho'; and 

b. '...  Chow Tai Fooks stake in STDM put Cheng in 'direct partnership" with yip Hon, a 

property mogul who was named in US government reports as an organised crime 

figure and Triad membet'. 

6.2 Findings 

6.2.1 Our investigation found Media Allegation 3 to be unsubstantiated on the basis of the 

evidence available. 

Alleged partnership with yip Hon 

6.2.2 Information obtained during the Initial Suitability Review indicates Mr. Yip Hon sold his 

interest in STDM to Dr. Cheng Yu Tung. Dr. Cheng Yu Tung's interest in STDM (which 

subsequently transferred to CTFH) would therefore not result in a partnership with Mr. Yip 
Hon. 

Alleged VIP room 

6.2.3 Dr. Henry Cheng and Mr. Patrick Tsang's roles as directors of STDM and non-executive 

directors of SJM do not appear to have involved them in the detailed operation of STDM, 
SJM or the L'Arc Casino. Dr. Cheng and Mr. Tsang have denied any knowledge of the 

Guoying VIP Club. On the basis of the information available, the allegation regarding a VIP 
room owned by Dr. Henry Cheng and Ms Stanley Ho is not substantiated. 
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6.2.4 Detailed discussion regarding our analysis and the basis of our findings is provided 

below. 

6.3 Corporate structure of STDM and SJM 

Equity structure 

6.3.1 STDM is a Macao registered gaming company that was established in 1962 by Mr. Stanley 

Ho and Mr. Henry Fok. STDM held a gaming monopoly in Macao for almost four decades, 

until 2001, when the government granted additional gambling concessions through an 

open tender. STDM continues to operate casinos through its subsidiary, SJM, which is one 

of six licensed casino operators in Macao. 

6.3.2 STDM was discussed in the Probity Report, which stated that in October 1982 'After falling 

out with Stanley Ho, Yip Hon... [sold] his STDM shares in a deal reportedly worth HK$300M. 

CYT buys into STDM via Many Town'.262 

6.3.3 Correspondence between CTFE and OLGR at the time of the Initial Suitability Review 

states Dr. Cheng Yu Tung acquired a 9.6% interest in STDM. The interest was acquired via 

a Hong Kong incorporated entity called Many Town Co Ltd ("Many Town"). At the time, 

Many Town was ultimately 93.3% owned by Dr. Cheng Yu Tung. 

6.3.4 On 20 June 2017, Dr. Cheng Yu Tung's interest in Many Town (and STDM) was acquired 

through CTFH's wholly owned subsidiary, Sky Warrier Investments Limited ("Sky Warrier"). 

CTFH continues to indirectly own 93.3% of Many Town and 9.6% of STDM. Corporate filings 

as at 22 September 2022, showed STDM held a 61.9% interest in SJM. We understand that 

CTFE does not hold an equity interest (indirect or otherwise) in STDM or SJM. 

262  Probity Report: page 30 
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6.3.5 Figure 7 below provides an illustration of the STDM corporate structure advised by CTFE. 

Figure 7: STDM corporate structure 

After transfer: 

1 

v 

I 

Directorships 

6.3.6 CTFE have advised the following directorships in relation to: 

a. STDM: 

i. Many Town is a corporate director of STDM. 

ii. Dr. Henry Cheng is Many Town's representative and acted as a director of 

STDM from 4 December 2008 to 28 March 2018. 

iii. Mr. Patrick Tsang replaced Dr. Henry Cheng in his capacity as a director of 

STDM on 28 March 2018. 

b. SJM: 

i. Dr. Henry Cheng was a non-executive director of SJM from 31 May 2013 to 11 

June 2019. 

ii. Mr. Patrick Tsang replaced Dr. Henry Cheng in his capacity as a non-

executive director of SJM on 11 June 2019. 

6.3.7 On 14 March 2023, CTFE advised PKF and OLGR that: 
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a. In relation to the above directorships, Dr. Cheng Yu Tung, Dr. Henry Cheng and 

Mr. Patrick Tsang were/are 'not involved in any of the day-to-day management or 

operations of STDM or SJM; and 

b. Dr. Henry Cheng's interest is 'purely passive and financial, i.e. to secure a 

continuing flow of dividends from STDM. 

6.3.8 During interview, Mr. Patrick Tsang advised his responsibilities as a non-executive director 

of SJM included attending 'meetings when required' and we probably have 5% or so 

stake in the company... We have a board seat... Igo to the board meetings and.. it 

hopefully makes them look good too...'. Mr. Tsang stated he did not have any influence 

over business operations of the company and is not involved in the day-to-day 

management. He is 'aware of what's happening in the company, but day to day... I'm not 

in 263 

6.4 

6.4.1 

6.5 Information provided by CTFE in response to our queries 

6.5.1 On 28 February 2023, PKF wrote to HWLE in relation to 

263  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, Part II, page 18 to 20. 
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7. Findings regarding sections 

20 (1) (a)and (f) of the Act 

7.1 Background 

7.1.1 Sections 4 to 6 of this report provide our detailed analysis and findings in relation to the 

allegations made regarding CTFE and its associates within media reports. These include 

allegations that: 

a. The CTF Group has a concealed relationship with a person not of good repute, 

Mr. Alvin Chau, through an ongoing interest in the Vietnam Project 

(Media Allegation 1: discussed at Section 4); 

b. CTF Group subsidiary, "New World", is frequently the venue of meetings involving 

triad figures and is a front for money laundering (Media Allegation 2: discussed at 

Section 5); and 

c. CTF Group's interest in STDM has resulted in a partnership between Dr. Cheng Yu 

Tung and a person not of good repute, Mr. Yip Hon; and, that another person not 

of good repute, "Broken Tooth" Koi, held an $8 million interest in a VIP room owned 

by Dr. Cheng Yu Tung and Mr. Stanley Ho (Media Allegation 3: discussed at 

Section 6). 

7.1.2 A compilation of the media reports attached to the investigation terms of reference is 

provided at Appendix 3. 

7.1.3 The terms of reference to our investigation also require PKF to provide findings relevant 

for the Minister to assess the repute of CTFE and its associates in relation to sections 

20(1)(a) and (f) of the Act. This section of the report (Section 7) contains our detailed 

findings in that regard. 
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7.2 Findings regarding sections 20(1)(a) of the Act 

Reproduction of applicable legislation 

7.2.1 Section 20(1)(a) of the Act states: 

'20 Suitability of casino licensee and other persons 

(1) Prior to an agreement being entered into, the Minister shall cause to be undertaken such 

investigations as are necessary to satisfy the Governor in Council or shall require the casino 

licensee and all persons whether natural persons or not associated or connected or to be 

associated or connected, in the opinion of the Minister, with the ownership, administration or 

management of the operations or business of the casino licensee to satisfy the Governor in 

Council that such casino licensee and such persons as aforesaid are suitable persons to be 

associated or connected with the management and operations of a hotel-casino complex or 

casino having regard to the following matters appropriate to them respectively, that is to say—

(a) that each person in question is of good repute, having regard to character, honesty and 

integrity,' (emphasis added). 

Scope of review 

7.2.2 The persons and entities considered by our investigation in relation to section 20(1)(a) of 

the Act, include: 

a. CTFE 

b. Dr. Henry Cheng (CTFE Chairman), and 

c. Mr. Patrick Tsang (CTFE Chief Executive Officer). 

7.2.3 Findings were not made in relation to Mr. Conrad Cheng and Mr. Jacob Lee as we 

understand they will not be involved in the operation of the QWB casino. 
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Summary of findings 

7.2.4 The following tables summarise the investigation findings we consider are relevant to the repute of each of the above persons (whether natural 

persons or not) associated with the ownership, administration or management of the operations or business of the casino licensee, having regard to 

character, honesty and integrity. Our findings are based on the information and analysis discussed at sections 4 to 6 of this report. 

7.2.5 Table 9 provides a summary of our findings in this regard for consideration regarding the repute of CTFE. 

Table 9: Findings for consideration regarding CTFE in relation to section 20(1) (a) of the Act 

Person CTFE 

Finding In our opinion, CTFE did not provide incorrect, incomplete and/or inconsistent information in its submissions to OLGR on 20 May 2022, 

9 December 2022 and 14 March 2023. 

During the latter stage of this investigation, following an information requirement issued by OLGR under section 30C of the Act, CTFE 

disclosed significant additional information regarding the nature and extent of its associations with Mr. Chau, the owners of Alpha Era, and 

the Vietnam Project. 

On 14 November 2023, CTFE made voluntary submissions regarding steps to improve its reporting to OLGR and 'avoid any risk of a 

miscommunication between CTFE and OLGR arising again in connection with the Queens Wharf Integrated Resort'264. CTFE's proposal has 

been considered in our review recommendations provided at Section 1.7 of this report. 

Basis To avoid duplication, we refer to our findings provided in respect of Media Allegation 1 (from paragraph 4.2.12 to 4.2.35) regarding, what in 

our opinion was, incomplete and/or inaccurate information provided by CTFE in its submissions to OLGR on 20 May 2022, 9 December 2022 

and 14 March 2023. Based on these submissions, it had been understood that: 

a. 'CTFH disposed of its entire controlling stake in GVE in April 2016 to Alpha Era...' 

264  HWLE email to OLGR and PKF dated 14 November 2023 
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b. 'Alpha Era is owned by a third party  [sic] wealthy and well connected [sic] investor...' (emphasis added). 

c. 'The  Chow Tai Fook group is not involved in the ownership, management, administration or financing of any persons associated with 

Suncity, Mr. Alvin Chau or their associates...'  (emphasis added) other than hotel management activities related to the 

Vietnam Project.265 

d. 'Aside from the hotel management agreements referred to, there are no other agreements, directorships or business relationships 

between CTFE and the casino or the hotels of the Hoiana Integrated Resort'  (emphasis added). 

PKF submitted an information request to CTFE (through HWLE), dated 26 July 2023, based on intelligence identified during our investigation. 

This was followed by a related information requirement issued by OLGR on 15 September 2023 under section 30C of the Act requiring a 

response from CTFE by 9 October 2023. On 9 October 2023, as required, CTFE submitted substantive new information in response to OLGR 

and PKF's requests. The CTFE submission, dated 9 October 2023, contained new information regarding the nature of the CTF Group's 

associations with Mr. Chau, the owners of Alpha Era and the Vietnam Project. The new information contained in CTFE's response appeared 

to be inconsistent with CTFE's earlier submissions to OLGR and PKF and included details of: 

a. The CTF Group having sold 50% of its interest in GYE to Star Admiral (Mr. Chau's personally owned company). 

b. Close business and personal relationships between the CTF Group and the owners of Alpha Era (who were business associates of 

Mr. Chau through their shared interest in GYE266). 

c. Substantial management, administrative, payment and legal services provided by CTFE and/or the CTF Group or controlled entities 

to Alpha Era in relation to its investment in the Vietnam Project. CTFE advised that Alpha Era did not hold a bank account whilst it was 

owned by Mr. Ho and, therefore, a CTF Group affiliate made payments on behalf of Alpha Era. 

265  HWLE email to OLGR dated 20 May 2022 in response to OLGR's letter to CTFE 

266  Mr. Chau's interest in GYE was held through Star Admiral and subsequently the Suncity Group. 
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d. A corporate directorship held by Skywalker (which was a CTFE and CTF Group controlled entity for the relevant periods) in respect of 

Alpha Era. CTFE Senior Vice President, Mr. Jacob Lee was a director of Skywalker and authorised to sign documents on behalf of 

Alpha Era owner, Mr. Ho. 

e. Substantial loans provided by the CTF Group to Alpha Era (USD 388 million as at 29 October 2023) in respect of Alpha Era's interest in 

and funding of the development of the Vietnam Project. From 2020 to 2022, the CTF Group provided finance to Alpha Era to fund 

development in the Vietnam Project, exceeding Alpha Era's interest in the project. We are advised this was because the two other 

project partners (VineCapital and Suncity Group) were 'struggling to come up with... their pro-rata share... in the funding 

requirement.267  During this period, Mr. Chau held an interest in the Vietnam Project through his equity in Suncity Group.268 

f. CTFH facilitated finance for the development of the Vietnam Project by providing a back-to-back guarantee to Vietin Bank in respect 

of the personal guarantees made by Alpha Era owners, Mr. Ho and Mr. Wong. The guarantees were limited to 34% of the USD 484 

million credit facility (i.e. up to USD 165 million) and were conditions precedent of the facility. The credit facility was available to Hoi 

An South Development ("HASD") in respect of the development of the Vietnam Project whilst Mr. Chau held an indirect equity 

interest in the project via Star Admiral and Suncity Group. 

g. Mr. Chau providing a cross-indemnity to Alpha Era owner, Mr. Ho, for 34% of the personal guarantee provided by Mr. Ho to Vietin Bank 

in respect of the credit facility, i.e. 34% of 34% of USD 484 million (up to USD 56 million). This indemnity may reduce CTFH's exposure 

in respect of its guarantee of Mr. Ho's and/or Mr. Wong's personal guarantees. 

h. Prior to May 2018, the agreement between Dr. Henry Cheng and Alpha Era's owner, Mr. Ho, was an undocumented "handshake" 

agreement. In May 2018, the CTF Group and Mr. Ho entered into formal documented agreements including a Facility Agreement 

regarding the loan to Alpha Era regarding the Vietnam Project, a Share Charge Agreement and Share Repurchase Agreement. Mr. Ho 

died on 20 August 2018. 

267  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Jacob Lee on 10 November 2023: page 41. 
266 On 17 May 2022, Mr. Chau made a filing that he no longer held any shares in Suncity Group as of 13 May 2022. 
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i. The brief purchase of Alpha Era on or around 26 September 2018 by the CTF Group to facilitate its sale to Mr. Wong on or around the 
same day, following Mr. Ho's death. Alpha Era and Suncity Group (in which Mr. Chau held equity) jointly owned GYE at this time. 

We understand from information provided in interview by Mr. Jacob Lee, the internal CTFE legal team assisted with the loan agreements, the 
directorship arrangement involving Skywalker, and guarantees by CTFH and the owners of Alpha Era.269  In our opinion, the CTFE legal team 
would reasonably have known of these arrangements at the time of their submissions to OLGR and PKF. 

During interview, when asked regarding the accuracy of submissions made by CTFE, Mr. Patrick Tsang advised 'the points are accurate, but 
they are not as fulsome as they should be... in looking back... we should have done a better job, l think we have also... apologised for this... 
failure... we probably took a too narrow a view of the scope... of that question'. Mr. Tsang expressed a commitment on behalf of CTFE to 
'make sure that something like this would never happen again, that going forward our answers will be fulsome and that... trust... is there'.27° 

CTFE submitted a voluntary proposal regarding ongoing reporting arrangements to OLGR on 14 November 2023, the proposal was 
considered in our assessment of review recommendations provided in Section 1.7. 

7.2.6 Table 10 provides a summary of our findings in this regard for consideration regarding the repute of Dr. Henry Cheng. 

Table 10: Findings for consideration regarding Dr. Henry Cheng in relation to section 20(1) (a) of the Act 

Dr. Henry Cheng 

In our opinion, the following investigation findings can be made and are relevant when assessing the repute of Dr. Henry Cheng for the 
purpose of assessing his suitability under section 20(1) (a) of the Act. 

Dr. Henry Cheng: 

Person 

Finding 

269  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Jacob Lee on 10 November 2023, pages 33, 44, 65, 69 
270  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, Part I pages 8 and 24. 
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h. Made the final assessment regarding whether the CTF Group would engage with Mr. Chau in the context of the IEC proposal in 

2014/2015. We are advised the IEC proposal did not proceed because of unsatisfactory financial due diligence. 

i. In interview on 9 November 2023: 

i. When speaking about the IEC proposal, advised he did not like the junket business that Mr. Chau was engaged in and 

did not want to be connected with it. 

ii. Advised that he, and the CTF Group, place a heavy emphasis on reputation and he did not want to enter an equity 

arrangement with Mr. Chau. 

iii. Advised that he was very dissatisfied when he subsequently learned the CTF Group had entered an equity 

arrangement with Mr. Chau in relation to the Vietnam Project (through GYE) and welcomed the Vietnamese 

Government's concerns regarding Mr. Chau's financial viability and thought it would be better if Mr. Chau ceased to 

be a shareholder. 

When asked whether he was aware of any other forms of due diligence, i.e. non-financial due diligence, undertaken in relation to the IEC 

proposal, Dr. Cheng advised 'Due diligence at the end of the day is for me to say whether it is okay or not. I don't like it, l therefore 

rejected if .271  The evidence demonstrates there was a heavy reliance on Dr. Cheng's assessment and a potential lack of independent 

due diligence regarding the integrity of potential business partners. 

k. After deciding to exit the Vietnam Project, negotiated agreements with Mr. Ho and subsequently Mr. Wong regarding their purchase of 

GYE and the interest in the Vietnam Project (through Alpha Era). This included the provision of loans to fund the purchase, funding for 

Alpha Era's contributions for future development costs of the project, and administrative and management services in relation to the 

investment. The agreement between Dr. Cheng and Mr. Ho was initially undocumented and described by CTFE as a "handshake 

agreement". The agreements were formalised in May 2018 shortly before Mr. Ho's death in August 2018. Following Mr. Ho's death, 

271  Official Transcript of interview with Dr. Henry Cheng on 9 November 2023 (Part 1): page 17 
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Dr. Cheng agreed with Mr. Wong for Mr. Wong to purchase Alpha Era and its interest in GYE and the Vietnam Project, on similar terms as 

had been provided to Mr. Ho. 

I. Agreed arrangements with Mr. Ho and Mr. Wong whereby the: 

i. Loans, guarantees and other support provided by the CTF Group to Alpha Era could be reasonably inferred from the evidence, to 

likely have provided the CTF Group with significant influence regarding Alpha Era's interest in the Vietnam Project, whilst Mr. Chau 

was a business associate of Alpha Era through his indirect equity interest in GYE272  and the Vietnam Project; and 

ii. Loans from the CTF Group to Alpha Era and the back-to-back guarantee by CTFH to Vietin Bank both provided and facilitated 

funding for the development of the Vietnam Project whilst Mr. Chau held an indirect equity interest in the project via Star Admiral 

then Suncity Group. 

m. Considered the loans to Alpha Era to be 'a personal arrangement and a personal loan' to someone he has known for decades, rather 

than the provision of finance.273 

n. Delegated the implementation of the agreements with Mr. Ho and Mr. Wong regarding the Vietnam Project to Mr. Patrick Tsang. 

We note, Mr. Chau was not arrested until 28 November 2021, nor convicted until 2023, and until that point Suncity Group was operating in 

several jurisdictions, including Australia. 

Basis Knowledge of Mr. Chau's business and character. 

The following excerpts are taken from OLGR and PKF's interview with Dr. Cheng on 9 November 2023: 

h. Advised 'I know Chau is in gambling... / therefore discussed with him in 2013 in the IEC transaction. / know he is in the junket business 

and it's the junket business that he wants to inject into IEC and l don't like the junket business. I don't want to be connected with junket 

272  Mr. Chau's interest was held through Star Admiral and subsequently the Suncity Group. 

273  Official Transcript of interview with Dr. Henry Cheng on 9 November 2023 Part I, page 46. 
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business and therefore, at the end, the deal did not proceed because / objected to it'. For completeness, we are advised the IEC 

proposal did not proceed because of unsatisfactory financial due diligence. 

i. When asked what about the junket business he did not like or did not want to be associated with, Dr. Cheng advised 'Because, junket 

business normally would have complications in the background. And this is because, l personally as well as my company, place heavy 

emphasis on reputation. Hence, / would not enter into a [equity] joint venture... Because, if we have equity together, then it would be like 

/ would be doing junket bus/ness'.274 

When asked what complications he was referring to, Dr. Cheng advised 'The details, !don't know That is because !don't know about 

junket business. However, my personal observation is that in respect of this kind of transactions [sic] concerning gambling involving 

junket business, that there would not be a lot of documentation or legal support for the transactions, Maybe not everybody is 

complicated That, I wouldn't kno W.275 

k. When asked regarding whether the word "complicated" may refer to an understanding that the junket business may not necessarily be 

legal, Dr. Cheng advised '/ don't know whether it is legal or not This would be a matter for the government to determine. But in the 

majority of cases, the people involved would be rather complicated .276 

During the interview, it was noted that the financial due diligence regarding the IEC/Suncity Group transaction was not satisfactory. 

When asked whether any other due diligence was undertaken at that time, Dr. Cheng responded 'Due diligence at the end of the day is 

for me to say whether it is okay or not l don't like it, l therefore rejected it  277 

274  Official Transcript of interview with Dr. Henry Cheng on 9 November 2023, Part 1, page 15. 

275  Official Transcript of interview with Dr. Henry Cheng on 9 November 2023, Part 1, page 16. 

276  Official Transcript of interview with Dr. Henry Cheng on 9 November 2023, Part 1, page 16. 

277Official Transcript of interview with Dr. Henry Cheng on 9 November 2023: Part 1, pages 16 and 17. 
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m. Dr. Cheng advised he did not tell management regarding his view of Mr. Chau and there may have been a communication problem 

between himself and management. His personal view was that he had concerns and did not like Mr. Chau nor want to have any 

business with him.278 

n. Dr. Cheng advised that when he 'came to understand that management and VMS established a consortium [involving Mr. Chau in 

relation to the Vietnam Project], and the consortium took the form or equity. / was very dissatisfied at the time... the... Vietnamese 

government apparently has some views concerning Chau. So I thought it would be better if Chau would cease to be a shareholder. So 

my thinking was, this would have nothing to do with the Australian investment. So I explained to the Australian government then that l 

had no relationship or transaction with Chau. This is the position from my perspective because I place heavy emphasis on reputation. 

I'm thinking / did not share directly with management... at the end of the day, for large major projects, l will be the ultimate person 

making the call.  But I wouldn't go into the details and I would not be familiar with details of documents. 'acknowledge that in respect of 

this project [the Vietnam Project], there might have been some misunderstanding between management and myself 279 

We note that Mr. Chau was not arrested until 28 November 2021, nor convicted until 2023, and until that point Suncity Group was operating 

in several jurisdictions, including Australia. In December 2021, the Vietnam Project terminated its casino management agreement with 

Suncity Group, and Mr. Chau resigned from his positions as Chairman and Executive Director of Suncity Group. As of 13 May 2022, Mr. Chau 

no longer held shares in Suncity Group. 

Negotiation of arrangements in relation to the Vietnam Project 

In April 2016, the CTF Group decided to dispose of its equity interest in the Vietnam Project. CTFE has advised it was difficult to find a suitable 

buyer in a timely manner and Dr. Cheng negotiated an agreement at this time for Mr. Ho to purchase the interest in GYE and the 

Vietnam Project via Alpha Era.28° The agreement was described by CTFE as a "handshake agreement" that was undocumented until May 

2018, when formal agreements were entered prior to Mr. Ho's death in August 2018. Following Mr. Ho's death, Dr. Cheng negotiated an 

278Official Transcript of interview with Dr. Henry Cheng on 9 November 2023, Part 2, page 3. 

279Official Transcript of interview with Dr. Henry Cheng on 9 November 2023, Part I, page 31. 

280  CTFE's Factual Background Document, paragraphs 59 to 66. 
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agreement for Mr. Wong to purchase the interest in Alpha Era, GYE and the Vietnam Project, on the same terms as had been offered to 

Mr. Ho. 

To avoid duplication, we refer to our basis of findings provided in respect of CTFE at Table 4. The nature of the agreements between 

Dr. Cheng and Mr. Ho, and subsequently Mr. Wong, involved the provision of: 

d. Substantial management, administrative, payment and legal services by the CTF Group to Alpha Era in relation to its investment in 

the Vietnam Project28'; 

e. At-call loans by the CTF Group to Alpha Era so that Alpha Era did not need to outlay funds in relation to the purchase of its interest in 

the Vietnam Project or its subsequent development costs; and 

f. Back-to-back guarantees by CTFH in respect of Mr. Ho and Mr. Wong's personal guarantees of the Vietin Bank credit facility for the 

development of the Vietnam Project. The guarantees were limited to 34% of the USD 484 million credit facility, i.e. USD 165 million, 

and were conditions precedent of the facility. It is our understanding that the conditions precedent were a requirement for the 

credit facility being made available in respect of the development of the Vietnam Project. 

When the agreements between Dr. Cheng and Mr. Ho were formalised in May 2018, a Share Repurchase Agreement was executed that 

subsequently facilitated the purchase of Alpha Era by the CTF Group and its sale to Mr. Wong. 

It may reasonably be inferred that the arrangements agreed between Dr. Cheng, Mr Tsang and Mr. Ho, and subsequently Mr. Wong, 

provided the CTF Group with significant influence regarding Alpha Era's interest in the Vietnam Project. 

Accuracy of information submitted to OLGR 

During interview, Dr. Cheng advised he did not consider the loans provided by CTF Group to Alpha Era to consistitute financing, stating 'No, 

this is a personal arrangement and a personal loan'. 282 

281 Alpha Era's investment in the Vietnam Project was held via its interest in GYE. 

282  Official Transcript of interview of Dr. Henry Cheng on 9 November 2023, Part I, page 46. 
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Dr. Cheng was shown correspondence from CTFE to OLGR, dated 20 May 2022, where CTFE stated 'the Chow Tai Fook group is not involved 

in the ownership, management, administration or financing of any persons associated with Suncity, Mr. Alvin Chau or their associates in any 

endeavour or business enterprise globally, other than in respect of the Hoiana Integrated Resort as set out above( (referring to the hotel 

management agreements).283 

When asked whether this statement by CTFE was accurate, Dr. Cheng replied '/ think it's accurate'. 

OLGR clarified at this point whether Dr. Cheng's view was 'that Chow Tai Fook Group was not financing the Vietnam Project, rather it was a 

loan to a friend. Dr. Cheng responded ' Yes'. 

When OLGR probed, 'OLGR was not told about the loans to Alpha Era or to Mr. Ho, which totalled approximately USD 388 million', Dr. Cheng 

responded 'It's lending to Mr. Hd. 

When OLGR asked what Dr. Cheng would say to the perception that OLGR had been misled or misinformed by CTFE regarding the loans, 

Dr. Cheng stated '/ don't think so... the money that was lent, they could have borrowed from other sources as well, um, finance companies... 

but the projects we have no involvement - no involvement in - in the affairs except hotel management...'.28 4 

7.2.7 Table 11 provides a summary of our findings in this regard for consideration regarding the repute of Mr. Patrick Tsang. 

Table 11: Findings for consideration regarding Mr. Patrick Tsang in relation to section 20(1) (a) of the Act 

Person Mr. Patrick Tsang 

Finding In our opinion, the following investigation findings can be made and are relevant when assessing the repute of Mr. Patrick Tsang for the 

purpose of assessing suitability under section 20(1)(a) of the Act. 

283  Official Transcript of interview of Dr. Henry Cheng on 9 November 2023, Part II, page 1. 

284  Official Transcript of interview of Dr. Henry Cheng on 9 November 2023, Part II, pages land 2. 
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Mr. Tsang: 

a. Developed a commercial proposal with Dr. Cheng for the CTF Group to exit the Vietnam Project.285 

b. Was responsible for implementing the agreements negotiated by Dr. Cheng with Mr. Ho and Mr. Wong regarding the Vietnam Project 

and approved the structure that was agreed. 

c. Was provided with verbal updates regarding major developments in relation to the Vietnam Project on an irregular ad-hoc basis by 

Mr. Jacob Lee (CTFE Senior Vice President).286  Mr. Lee would also seek acknowledgement from Mr. Tsang regarding the funding required 

by Alpha Era from the CTF Group to pay its capital calls in relation to the Vietnam Project.287 

d. Read and provided approval for CTFE's responses to OLGR and PKF's information requests. When asked regarding the accuracy of CTFE's 

responses, Mr. Tsang advised 'the points are accurate, but they are not as fulsome as they should be... in looking back... we should have 

done a better job, / think we have also... apologised for this... failure... we probably took a too narrow a view of the scope... of that 

question 288 

e. Advised that, although his executives and advisers provided CTFE's responses to OLGR and PKF's information requests, as CTFE's CEO, he 

is responsible for the responses.289 

f. Was aware of Mr. Chau's reputation in 2014/2015 through reports in the media, however had relied on VMS (who had brought the deal to 

CTFE) to undertake appropriate vetting of investment partners in relation to the Vietnam Project and took some comfort that Mr. Chau 

285 Official Transcript of interview of Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, page 34 

286  Official Transcript of interview of Mr. Jacob Lee on 10 November 2023, pages 12,13, 35, 36 

287  Official Transcript of interview of Mr. Jacob Lee on 10 November 2023, pages 40 and 41 

288  Official Transcript of interview of Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November, Part 2, pages 7 and 8 

288  Official Transcript of interview of Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, Part 2, page 9 
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was licensed to do business in Australia and the USA and had to go through the procedures, processes and investigations associated 
with those licenses.290 

g. During interview, volunteered for CTFE to provide a 'proposal that hopefully going forward... we can help and we will be proactive in 
terms of our communication, in terms of our disclosure, in terms of ensuring... very important to you that something like this will never 
happen again... that we need to keep this very transparent communication going forward... to make sure that something like this would 
never happen again, that going forward our answers will be fulsome and that you will... the trust.. is there 291 

We note, Mr. Chau was not arrested until 28 November 2021, nor convicted until 2023, and until that point Suncity Group was operating in 
several jurisdictions, including Australia. 

Basis Knowledge of Mr. Chau's business and character: 

Mr. Tsang advised in interview on 8 November 2023, that in 2014/2015 he was aware of Mr. Chau's reputation through reports in the media; 
however, he did not know Mr. Chau personally and relied on VMS (who brought CTFE the deal) to undertake appropriate vetting of the 
investment partners it introduced.292  Mr. Tsang also obtained comfort that Mr. Chau was licensed to do business in Australia and the USA 

and had to undergo the associated checks involved in obtaining those licenses. 

We note, Mr. Chau was not arrested until 28 November 2021, nor convicted until 2023, and until that point Suncity Group was operating in 
several jurisdictions, including Australia. In December 2021, the Vietnam Project terminated its casino management agreement with Suncity 
Group, and Mr. Chau resigned from his positions as Chairman and Executive Director of Suncity Group. As of 13 May 2022, Mr. Chau no longer 
held shares in Suncity Group. 

290  Official Transcript of interview of Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, Part 1, pages 19 to 21; and 33 

291  Official Transcript of interview of Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, Part 2, pages 23 and 24 
292 Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, Part I, pages 19 and 20 
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Implementation of agreements regarding the Vietnam Project: 

As discussed above, Dr. Henry Cheng delegated implementation of his agreements with Mr. Ho and Mr. Wong regarding the 

Vietnam Project to Mr. Tsang. 

Accuracy of information submitted to OLGR 

To avoid duplication, we refer to our basis of findings provided in respect of Media Allegation 1 at Table 1 (from paragraph 1.6.3) regarding, 

what in our opinion was, incomplete and/or inaccurate information provided by CTFE in its submissions to OLGR on 20 May 2022, 

9 December 2022 and 14 March 2023. 

In interview, Mr. Tsang advised he had read and provided approval for CTFE's responses to OLGR and PKF's information requests.293 

Mr. Tsang was shown correspondence from CTFE to OLGR, dated 20 May 2022, and drawn to questions regarding the involvement of CTFE 

and/or associates in the ownership, management, administration or financing of the hotels and casino; and, the description of Alpha Era as 

a third-party investor. When asked whether he thought CTFE's response was accurate, Mr. Tsang advised 'the points are accurate, but they 

are not as fulsome as they should be... in looking back... we should have done a better job, l think we have also... apologised for this... 

failure... we probably took a too narrow a view of the scope... of that question'.294 

Mr. Tsang advised that he 'personally did not draft the response, but... as the CEO lam responsible and... CTF is responsible. We need to be 

transparent with you, we need to be fulsome with you... we have taken too narrow a view of the definition of the question, so we... did not 

do a good job in... that part. So for that... as we have stated,... we regret it and we will make sure that going forward... that wit not happen 

again'.295 

293  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, Part 2, page 7 

294  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, Part 2, pages 7 and 8 
295 Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, Part 2, page 9 
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When asked what his role was in preparing the responses to OLGR, Mr. Tsang stated 'my executives... with my advisors... provided the... 
response, but as the CEO, again / take responsibility.. ,p296 

OLGR asked Mr. Tsang whether, with his knowledge of the loans and guarantees associated with the Vietnam Project, he thought CTFE 
should have included that information when preparing its responses. Mr. Tsang advised 'we... sold the project a long time ago... So I wanted 
to make sure that from OLGR's perspective it is very clear that... we are no longer a part of that projet We do however, have a financing 
relationship with Mr. Ho, and then with Mr. Wong,... / think... in hindsight and afterwards,... we did provide all the documents [referring to 
CTFE's 9 October 2023 submission]... everything to you and hopefully that illustrates our... intention and sincerity.. in terms of sharing... that 
there is nothing to hide... and hopefully, that... provides to you that going forward... we will do a better job'.297 

When asked whether he considered CTFE's responses to OLGR to have been misleading, Mr. Tsang advised ' I personally will not use the 
word.. misleading... there is no intention to mislead you... they were not fulsome, they were not... adequate, perhaps it was inadequate... 
we have fallen short„  298 

Towards the conclusion of the interview, Mr. Tsang advised CTFE is 'working on a proposal that hopefully going forward.. we can help and 
we will be proactive in terms of our communication, in terms of our disclosure, in terms of ensuring... something like this will never happy 
again...'. CTFE's submission was received on 14 November 2023 and is considered separately at Section 1.7 of this report. 

296  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, Part 2, page 9 

297  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, Part 2, pages 9 and 10 
298  Official Transcript of interview of Mr. Patrick Tsang on 8 November 2023, Part 2, pages 12,13 and 15 
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7.3 Findings regarding sections 20(1)(f) of the Act 

Reproduction of applicable legislation 

7.3.1 Section 20(1)(f) of the Act states: 

'20 Suitability of casino licensee and other persons 

(1) Prior to an agreement being entered into, the Minister shall cause to be undertaken such investigations as are necessary to satisfy the 

Governor in Council or shall require the casino licensee and all persons whether natural persons or not associated or connected or to be 

associated or connected, in the opinion of the Minister, with the ownership, administration or management of the operations or business of 

the casino licensee to satisfy the Governor in Council that such casino licensee and such persons as aforesaid are suitable persons to be 

associated or connected with the management and operations of a hotel-casino complex or casino having regard to the following matters 

appropriate to them respectively, that is to say—

(f) that  none of them has any business association with any person, body or association who or that, in the opinion of the Governor in 

Council after investigation made or caused to be made by the Minister, is not of good repute having regard to character, honesty and integrity 

or has undesirable or unsatisfactory financial sources;  (emphasis added). 

Summary of findings 

7.3.2 The terms of reference to our investigation require we provide findings relevant for the Minister to assess to whether CTFE or its associates have 

business associations with persons not of good repute or have undesirable financial sources in relation to section 20(1)(f) of the Act. "Repute" 

requires regard to 'character, honesty and integrity'. 

7.3.3 During the course of our investigation, CTFE disclosed business associations between: 

a. The CTF Group and Mr. Chau, who in 2023 was convicted in Macao of significant fraud perpetrated against the government; and 
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b. The owners of Alpha Era (being associates of the CTF Group) and Mr. Chau, through their shared ownership of GYE. 

7.3.4 Our investigation findings regarding business associations between the CTF Group and its associates and Mr. Chau are summarised in Table 12. 

Further detailed discussion of our findings is provided in Section 4 of this report. 

Table 12 Findings for consideration regarding business associations regarding Mr. Chau 

Person Mr. Chau 

Business 

associations 

a. 

b. 

The CTF Group sold 50% of its interest in GYE (and the Vietnam Project) to Mr. Chau on 22 April 2016. 

The CTF Group funded Alpha Era's shareholder contributions (via loans from the CTF Group to Alpha Era) for the development of 

the Vietnam Project whilst Mr. Chau held an indirect equity interest in the project (via Star Admiral then Suncity Group). 

c. CTFH provided guarantees299  to Vietin Bank which were conditions precedent to the USD 484 million HASD funding facility for the 

development of the Vietnam Project, of which Mr. Chau held an indirect interest via Star Admiral then Suncity Group. The 

CTFH Guarantee was in respect of the personal liabilities of Mr. Ho and Mr Wong (the Ho Guarantee and the Wong Guarantee) 

and was limited to 34% of the credit facility (USD 165 million). 

d. During September 2018 and following the death of Mr. Ho, the CTF Group briefly purchased Alpha Era to facilitate its sale to 

Mr. Wong. At this time, Alpha Era owned 50% of the equity in GYE and Suncity Group (of which Mr. Chau held an equity interest) 

owned the other 50% of equity in GYE. 

e. From 2020 to 2022, the CTF Group provided funding to Alpha Era in relation to the Vietnam Project that was in excess of Alpha 

Era's equity interest in the project because the two other project partners (VinaCapital and Suncity Group) ' were struggling to 

299  in respect of the personal guarantees by Mr. Ho and then by Mr. Wong. 
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come up with... their pro-rata share... in the funding requirement.3" Mr. Chau held an indirect equity interest in the project via 

Suncity Group during this time. 

7.3.5 Our investigation findings regarding business associations between associates of the CTF Group and Mr. Chau are summarised in Table 13. These 

include in relation to Mr. Ho and Mr. Wong, both of whom held/hold equity in Alpha Era. Alpha Era holds a 50% interest in GYE, through which an 

interest in the Vietnam Casino is held. Mr. Chau also held an indirect equity interest in GYE via: 

a. Star Admiral until around August 2017; and 

b. Suncity Group from around August 2017 to 13 May 2022. 

7.3.6 On this basis, Mr. Ho and Mr. Wong were considered business associates of Mr. Chau in respect of their shared equity interest in GYE and the 

Vietnam Project, for the purposes of this investigation. 

7.3.7 Further detailed discussion of our findings is provided in Section 4 of this report. 

Table 13: Findings for consideration regarding business associations with business associates of Mr Chau 

Person(s) Mr. Ho and Mr. Wong (owners of Alpha Era) 

Business a. Mr. Wong has been employed by CTFJ since 1998 and is currently the CTFJ Director of Strategic Finance and responsible for the 

associations financing and treasury management of the CTF Group. 

b. Mr. Wong's father and Mr. Ho co-founded CTFJ with Dr. Cheng Yu Tung in the 1940s. 

c. The CTF Group has provided significant at-call loans to Mr. Ho and Mr. Wong in respect of their purchase of GYE and the 

subsequent development of the Vietnam Project. From 2020 to 2022, the CTF Group funded shareholder contributions in excess 

of Alpha Era's interest in the Vietnam Project to support the continued development of the project. This occurred because the 

two other project partners (VinaCapital and Suncity Group) were 'struggling to come up with... their pro-rata share... in the 

300  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Jacob Lee on 10 November 2023, page 41. 
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funding requirement .m CTFE has advised that as of 29 October 2023, the loans were USD 484 million. As a result of the loans and 
funding, it can be reasonably inferred that the CTF Group would have had significant influence with Mr. Ho (prior to his death) 
and Mr. Wong. 

d. CTFH provided back- to-back guarantees to Vietin Bank in respect of personal guarantees by Mr. Ho and Mr. Wong (the 
Ho Guarantee and the Wong Guarantee) in respect of a credit facility provided regarding the development of the Vietnam 
Project. The CTFH guarantees were a condition precedent of the facility and were limited to 34% of credit facility (USD 165 million). 

e. Mr. Ho entered into a Share Repurchase Agreement, dated 15 May 2018, through which CTF Group subsidiary (Even Success 
Holdings Limited) should have a Share Charge. The CTF Group briefly purchased Alpha Era on or around 26 September 2018 
(following Mr. Ho's death) and sold the interest to Mr. Wong on or around the same day. 

f. CTFE and the CTF Group provided significant management, administrative, banking and legal services to Alpha Era and Mr. Ho 
and Mr. Wong. 

g. CTFE Senior Vice President, Mr. Jacob Lee, was a member of the Executive and Audit Committees of the Vietnam Project from 
commencement of those committees until July 2022. Mr. Lee initially held these positions in respect of the CTF Group's interest in 
the Vietnam Project, however subsequently held the positions in respect of Alpha Era's investment in the project. 

h. CTF Group controlled entity, Skywalker, has been a corporate director of Alpha Era since 26 January 2015. Skywalker was 
controlled by CTFE from 26 January 2015 to 12 August 2022 and by CTFH from 12 August 2022. 

i. CTFE Senior Vice President, Mr. Jacob Lee, was a director of Skywalker from 26 January 2015 to 12 August 2022 and was able to 
sign documents on behalf of Alpha Era owner, Mr. Ho, during this period. 

301  Official Transcript of interview with Mr. Jacob Lee on 10 November 2023: page 41. 
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8. Evolution of CTFE's corporate 

structure 

8.1 Changes to the CTFE group's corporate structure 

8.1.1 PKF wrote to HWLE on 28 February 2023 requesting information regarding the Cheng Yu 

Tung Foundation Limited ("the Foundation") which appeared to be a new entity within the 

CTFE group, incorporated after March 2015. 

8.1.2 The request included details of directorships, board positions and shareholdings and the 

registered address of the Cheng Yu Tung Foundation Limited; and, any other new or 

prospective business associations since 2015. 

8.1.3 HWLE responded to PKF's request on 14 March 2023, advising the Foundation was 

incorporated on 10 October 1989 and was previously disclosed to OLGR on 21 January 

2015. Attachments were provided in HWLE's correspondence that verified this. 

8.2 Findings 

8.1.4 Based on the disclosures made by CTFE, no new entities were identified within the CTFE 

corporate structure. 
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9. 2015 Probity Report 

9.1 Allegation 

9.1.1 Former Queensland Premier, Campbell Newman, whose government initiated the 

Queen's Wharf process in 2013 before losing office, said Chow Tai Fook's connections to 

Triads were never raised with him and he 'wouldn't have put up with this stuff no way... 

The Newman government should have been made aware and the Pa/aszczuk 

government frankly shouldn't have made the decision they've made because these 

things were there and they're discoverable'.3°2 

9.2 Introduction 

9.2.1 The OLGR issued its Probity Report dated 17 April 2015. 

9.2.2 In 2015, the OLGR undertook an investigation to determine the suitability of CTFE and 

identified associates to be associated with the ownership, administration and 

management of a casino in Queensland through DBC's bid to build and operate the 

Queens Wharf Development. 

9.2.3 We have been asked to provide an assessment of the sufficiency of the Initial Suitability 

Review undertaken by OLGR between 2014 and 2015. The investigation was conducted 

pursuant to section 20 of the Act. 

9.2.4 As the two special purpose vehicles, Integrated Resort Joint Venture ('IRJV') and 

Residential Project Joint Venture ('RPJC'), entities representing CTFE's interest in the 

consortium had not yet incorporated or traded at the time of the undertaking, CTFE was 

the substantial focus of the probity investigation. 

9.2.5 Specifically, we were asked to review the sufficiency of OLGR's probity investigation 

('probity investigation') into CTFE undertaken in 2014-15, identify any gaps that need to be 

taken into consideration into an assessment of CTFEs repute. Assess the reasonableness 

of the previous findings and recommendations made to the Government. 

a. Identified the scope and approach relevant to the probity investigation. 

b. Reviewed the 'Chow Tai Fook Enterprises Ltd Probity Investigation Report'. 

c. Reviewed KordaMentha's 'Project Roulette' report dated 6 February 2015 

d. Reviewed the Piper Alderman report dated 18 February 2015 

e. Reviewed the BDO Final Report dated 16 February 2015 

302  https://www.abc.net.au/news/2022-08-22/star-brisbane-casino-chow-tai-fook-triad-links/101341862. 
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f. Reviewed the Annexures to all reports reviewed where necessary. 

g. Reviewed the roles and responsibilities of the professional services firms to 

assist the OLGR for the purpose of the probity investigation. 

9.3 2015 Probity investigation scope, approach, partners, and findings 

Probity investigation scope 

9.3.1 We note that under s 20 of the Act, the Minister was required to cause an investigation to 

be undertaken into persons associated or connected, in the opinion of the Minister, with 

the ownership, administration or management of the operations or business of the 

casino licensee to satisfy the Governor in Council that the casino licensee and the 

abovementioned persons associated or connected are suitable. 

9.3.2 
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Investigation partners 

9.3.3 In order to ensure a suitable level of expertise was available to conduct the probity 

investigation, the OLGR engaged investigation partners that included Queensland Police 

Service, Piper Alderman and BDO East Coast Partnership and KordaMentha, all 

engagements (each is outlined below) were secured through a competitive tendering 

process conducted by the OLGR. 

9.3.4 Each of these investigation partners were given specific areas of responsibility 

concerning the probity investigation, each of whom we believe had the required 

expertise to execute on these roles. 

9.3.5 From our review of the probity investigation report and each of the investigation partners 

own reports we believe each of these investigation partners provided cogent advice and 

information relating to their various aspects of engagement. 

Queensland Police Service 

9.3.6 Queensland Police Services (QPS) were engaged to conduct enquiries with State, Federal 

and international investigation and policing agencies, financial and corporate regulators, 

Customs and Border Protection, Queensland based court databases, Department of 

Immigration, Office of Fair Trading and QPS primary database. 

BDO East Coast Partnership - Financial Review 

9.3.7 BDO East Coast Partnership were engaged by the OLGR to conduct a financial review of 

CTFE and its associates. Whilst the CTF Group is comprised of several hundred 

companies, the companies that were reviewed by BDO had been refined to only 9 CTF 
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Group related companies. We note that in conducting a financial analysis of all 9 

companies, BDO were required to: 

9.3.8 

9.3.9 

Piper Alderman - Legal Due Diligence 

9.3.11 Piper Alderman Lawyers were engaged to conduct a legal review of CTFE and its 

associates; we note the following areas of analysis relevant to their review: 

KordaMentha - IEC and Suncity association 

9.3.16 KordaMentha's investigation scope was confined to IEC's potential acquisition of equity 

shares in Suncity International Holdings Ltd, they were to investigate and report on how 

the transaction would be facilitated, the nature of the potential transaction and the 

possibility of 'adverse regulatory or reputational consequences'. 

9.3.17 KordaMentha proposed as part of their investigation to undertake the following activities: 

9.3.10 

9.3.12 

9.3.13 

9.3.14 

9.3.15 
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World-Check One 

9.3.18 As a component of their work KordaMentha conducted World-Check One searches on 

'all relevant individuals and entities', World-Check One searches are founded upon "Know 

Your Customer" principles and aim to provide trusted information to help businesses 

comply with legal and regulatory obligations and identify potential financial crime. 

KordaMentha reported that aside from expected individuals designated as Politically 

Exposed Persons (PEPs), they reported no adverse information had been found in relation 

to: 

a. CTFE, its officers, and associated individuals; 

b. IEC and its officers; 

c. Suncity and its owner, Chau Cheok Wa (Alvin Chau), or any entities that have been 

identified as connected to Alvin Chau. 

IEC's Potential Acquisition of Suncity 

9.3.19 KordaMentha reported on the nature of the proposed transaction between IEC and SIG, 

and according to Henry Cheng, IEC was an underperforming asset, with 'nominal returns 

on net tangible assets average less than 1%.' It was inferred that he would like to dispose 

of IEC at the right price and maintained the opinion that transaction ('Suncity 

transaction') with Suncity was a way of 'gradually exiting the business', at the right price, 

over a two-to-three-year period. 

9.3.20 It was noted that subject to the abovementioned acquisition, Suncity Group would be 

classed as a business associate of IEC, a company controlled by CTFE, and therefore 

Suncity and its associates would be subject to a suitability assessment pursuant to s 

20(1) of the Act. 
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9.3.21 KordaMentha noted in relation to the SIH transaction that Dr. Henry Cheng had stated 

during an interview that 'no adverse findings in relation to the integrity of Suncity or Alvin 

Chau'm were identified in IEC's due diligence.' 

9.3.22 Additionally, subject to acquisition, the OLGR suggested that Suncity would 'likely have a 

significant involvement in the introduction of international VIP players' to the casino 

licensee at the QWD. 

9.3.23 At the date of writing of the OLGR report, the deal had not been transacted and was not 

anticipated to occur, as stated by Dr. Henry Cheng in an interview in January 2015. The 

reasons for not proceeding include: 

a. The junket industry in which Suncity operates was subject to negative publicity. 

Industry reported to have been involved in illegal activities, which include organised 

crime (Chinese Triads) and money laundering. 

b. Due to negative perception, media reports stated that in response to the acquisition 

announcement, IEC's share fell more than 14%. 

9.3.24 It was also established, according to statements made during interviews and IEC Board 

Minutes, that due to the poor performance of IEC, CTFE had actively sought to reduce its 

interest in IEC. 

9.3.25 Crucially the inquiries into IEC and Suncity appear to have been limited due to the fact 

that the deal was not to proceed. It is likely if the deal did proceed then both Piper 

Alderman and KordaMentha would have identified the risk of the association of Alvin 

Chau and a more extensive background search be conducted. 

OLGR 2015 Findings 

9.3.26 In our review of the Probity Investigation Report we identified the following key findings: 

CTFE's Business Association with Stanley Ho 

9.3.27 Based on information provided and obtained through discussion with directors, the OLGR 

formed the belief that the 'ultimate decision maker in CTFE is Chairman Henry Cheng.' 

9.3.28 Concerns were raised in relation to Henry Cheng's character and integrity in relation to 

the Cheng's family's association with IEC and involvement with L'Arc Macau casino, which 

was managed by SJM a company controlled by Stanley Ho. 

3°3  PKF reviewed the transcript of the 2015 interview with Dr. Henry Cheng. Dr. Cheng does not specifically say 'there were 
no adverse findings in relation to the integrity of Suncity or Alvin Chau'. PKF has not seen or reviewed the IEC 2015 due 
diligence report on Suncity Group or Mr. Chau. It was not included in the 2015 Probity Report or appendices, and CTFE 
were unable to provide it to us during this investigation. 
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9.3.29 Henry Cheng was generally uncooperative when questioned about this during the 

probity investigation and offered that IEC had sold its 40% interest in L'Arc in 2010 due to 

their dissatisfaction with the way the L'Arc business had been run. 

9.3.30 The OLGR also noted that information relevant to the abovementioned association had 

been detailed in a probity investigation report undertaken by the New Jersey (USA) 

regulator in 2001. 

9.3.31 The investigators were very concerned in relation to the suitability of Dr. Cheng, CYT and 

Dr. Stanly Ho but believed the other CTFE key personnel reviewed were suitable making 

the following finding: 

9.3.32 "That in the absence of the existing and ongoing association of Dato Dr. Cheng, Yu Tung 

(CYT), and Dr. Stanley Ho, an individual who has been found to be unsuitable in 

numerous jurisdictions, CTFE's key personnel would be considered suitable for the 

purpose of being associated with a casino licensee. In relation to s 20(1)(f) of the Act, 

there is concern about the connection of CTFE and its associates with Stanley Ho 

related/controlled entities." 

Stanley Ho 

9.3.33 Regarding involvement with Stanley Ho, although it is understood the CYT and Henry 

Cheng have historical associations with him, the OLGR concluded by thorough 

investigations that Stanley Ho or his related companies, prima facie were not involved or 

have material interest in CTFE or the DBC. 

9.3.34 As such, it was recommended that the OLGR adopt similar prohibition requirements as 

the NSW Independent Liquor and Gaming Authority and the Victorian Commission for 

Gaming and Liquor Regulation, that restrict Stanley Ho and his associates' involvement in 

Crown Resorts Limited. It is suggested that this is proscribed in the Casino Agreement, as 

formed between the State and the DBC. 

CTFE's Transparency and beneficial ownership of shareholdings 

9.3.35 In relation to s 20(1)(c), the OLGR noted that they had experienced difficulties in 

obtaining, and on certain occasions CTFE failed to provide probity and governance 

information, at the time of writing the report the OLGR held concerns that future changes 

in CTFE's shareholders, corporate structure and operations would not be conveyed to the 

OLGR and consequently the Minister as legislatively required. 

9.3.36 The OLGR noted that where an occasion of unacceptable ownership structure of 

shareholding arises in CTFE, this may adversely impact its suitability for the purposes of 

being associated with a casino licensee. We note that compliance with legislated 

suitability provisions under s 20, requires an ongoing commitment by CTFE. 
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CTFE's Governance, Strategy and Control 

9.3.37 The OLGR noted that due to CTFE's less than forthcoming conduct, documentation 

provided by them detailing its governance structure and strategy had been 'limited'. The 

OLGR investigation team had sought governance details through the provision of a 

'corporate profile questionnaire' and despite completion by CTFE, 'did not shed much 

light'. 

9.3.38 The probity report details that the directors interviewed were 'evasive', 'unhelpful', or 

'claimed that they did not know' about the management arrangement of CTFE. 

9.3.39 The OLGR investigation's team maintained concerns about CTFE's 'historical associations, 

lack of transparency, the sheer size and vast financial resources' meaning that it had the 

ability to expand its operation in a diverse range of businesses and geographical 

locations, as such the OLGR developed the view that they would not be in receipt of any 

advance notice of CTFE's future plans or acquisition targets. 

9.3.40 It noted that the legislative powers of the Act and the "Casino Agreement" meant that 

any future acquisitions would still be subject to the approval of the Minister and 

subsequent suitability assessment, for example we note s 29 of the Act provides that any 

proposed amendments to an existing "Casino Agreement" requires the Casino Licensee 

to apply for approval by the Minister. However, critically the OLGR identified that it held 

ongoing concerns that CTFE would not disclose as required. 

9.3.41 Crucially, it was concluded that whilst the composition and relationships of directors 

were currently stable, there appeared to be no formal succession plan in place, it was 

suggested that there may be the potential for relationship breakdowns within CTFE as 

has occurred in other wealthy Hong Kong families. 

9.3.42 Despite an evident lack of cooperation by CTFE, the OLGR had stated that CTFE were 

aware of the State Government's intention to complete the probity investigation and 

relevant assessment by late February/Early March 2015 and intended on making an 

announcement at the time. 

9.3.43 However, during the Initial Suitability Review, CTFE had been reluctant to respond fully to 

the probity requests, prompting the OLGR to issue formal written notices on 11 occasions 

to provide information. 

OLGR's Conclusion and Recommendations 

9.3.44 The OLGR identified four areas of significant concern with respect to the suitability of CTFE 

and its associates, and in relation to this current review these include: 

a. The lack of cooperation provided by CTFE during the probity investigation; 
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b. CYT's and CTFE's historical and current association with Stanley Ho and his 

associates; 

c. The consequence for the Echo and the QWB should the Independent Liquor and 

Gaming Authority (NSW ILGA) make a finding of suitability different to that made by 

the Governor in Council. Noting that if the ILGA do not make a finding of suitability in 

relation to Echo's ability to operate The Star casino (NSW), and the Governor in 

Council finds CTFE to be suitable, there may be significant implications for Echo's 

ability to operate both casinos. 

9.3.45 In consideration of these ongoing concerns with respect to the suitability of CTFE, the 

OLGR provided the following recommendations and risk mitigation measures: 

a. It is recommended that CTFE, its identified associates and the proposed licensee 

entity, to be reviewed upon formation, are suitable to be associated with a casino 

licence in Queensland, subject to - 

b. the determination of the suitability of CYT 

c. the prohibition of Stanly Ho and CYT's involvement either through provisions to be 

included in the casino agreement or a Deed of Cooperation; and 

• the entering into of a Deed of Cooperation by CTFE with the State. 

9.3.46 We understand that the Deed of Cooperation was not entered into between CTFE and the 

state. Furthermore, CYT is now deceased and was not the focus of the current review. 

However, we believe them to be reasonable in the circumstances, at a point in time 

during 2015. 

Lack of cooperation 

9.3.47 In relation to CTFE's lack of cooperation, OLGR suggested on the basis that the DBC are 

the successful bidder, CTFE will be a party to a "Casino Agreement" with the State, that 

would mandate ongoing obligations, notification requirements, and prohibitions. 

9.3.48 In consideration of CTFE's lack of compliance with the probity investigation, OLGR noted 

ongoing concerns regarding CTFE's ability to adhere to the terms of the agreement, and 

in the event of non-compliance the casino licensee rather than CTFE would be liable. We 

note that entering a 'Deed of Cooperation' between the State and CTFE had been 

recommended as a mitigation strategy. 

9.4 2015 Probity Investigation Identified Gaps 

9.4.1 We note that the scope of the 2015 engagement related specifically to the suitability of 

certain individuals and entities known to be associates of CTFE, some of which were no 

longer the focus of the current review. Our review was also somewhat different in 
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methodology, was at a different point in time, and was instigated following certain 

adverse media revelations particularly by the ABC. 

9.4.2 

9.4.3 

9.4.4 

9.4.5 

9.4.6 

9.5 Reasonableness of Findings from 2015 OLGR Probity Review 

9.5.1 The Probity Review conducted in 2015 by OLGR with support from various law and 

accounting firms was very comprehensive and attended carefully and diligently to the 

specific requirements of the review. Background searches on individuals were 

conducted primarily by KordaMentha using "World-Check One" this is a well recognised 

source of background searching used widely by professional services firms. The results 

of these searches are referenced in the KordaMentha Report. 
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9.5.2 Piper Alderman also provided in their Due Diligence report comprehensive information 

relevant to the individuals subject of their review, in particular Stanley Ho, CYT and Henry 

Cheng. 

9.5.3 We note that there is limited background information on Alvin Chau, however he was the 

subject of a World-Check One check with the results recorded in the KM Report. 

9.5.4 We appreciate that KordaMentha identified investigative limitations from the outset in 

relation to carrying out background intelligence work, importantly they recognise that in 

"conducting investigations there are challenges in utilising online sources, namely the 

sheer volume of information that maybe relevant; the completeness or accuracy of that 

information; that the information has not yet been reported on; the type of information 

being sought is not available and the source of that information. 

9.5.5 In relation to undertaking our review of the probity investigation and subsequent 

investigation pursuant to s 30 of the Act, we agree with KordaMentha's position that in 

conducting investigations using only online sources it is essential that consideration 

should be given to the requested scope and purpose of the work, in addition to 

budgetary and time constraints. 

9.5.6 We also emphasize the caveat provided by KordaMentha that another professional 

services firm may have reached a different conclusion about what sources should have 

been sought and relied upon and additionally may have formed a differing view in 

relation to the content of that information. It seems that the inquiries conducted by 

KordaMentha were limited because the alleged take-over by IEC of Suncity did not 

proceed. We note that KordaMentha recommended additional work if the sale did 

proceed in the future. 

9.5.7 We believe the KordaMentha report attended to the specific requirements of the 

engagement and clearly articulated the limitations of the work they conducted. 

9.5.8 With the benefit of hindsight, it might be argued that more detailed background 

checking could have been done similar to the work we directed However, the 

we found regarding Alvin Chau became much more potent when he 

was convicted for criminal offences in Macau in 2022 and sentenced to 18 years jail for 

offences, he committed between 2013 to 2022. The conviction to a large degree 

substantiated the and makes it more reliable in assessing the 

suitability of Alvin Chau as an associate of CTFE. 
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10. OLGR's ongoing suitability 

monitoring process 

10.1 OLGR's ongoing monitoring of CTFE 

10.1.1 OLGR undertakes ongoing monitoring of CTFE's suitability to be associated with a casino 

license under the Act. These activities include: 

a. Review of CTFE's audited financial reports 

b. Review of quarterly and half yearly unaudited financial reports of CTFE entities, 

and 

c. Regular adverse media searches. 

10.2 Findings 

10.2.1 Our review identified that a recommendation of the 2015 Probity Report for a deed of 

cooperation to be entered into between CTFE and government had not been completed. 

10.2.2 We provide recommendations from our review for consideration by the Minister at 

Section 11 of this report. 

10.2.3 However, considering the adverse findings outlined in our report, and CTFE's proposed 

steps ("HWLE email dated 14 November 2023 Appendix 14 - to re-build the relationship 

with OLGR and the Queensland government we have outlined a number of 

recommendations below, that OLGR consider implementing, to ensure the program is 

more robust in regard to integrity, ethics, and financial crime. 
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11. Recommendations 

11.1 Review recommendations for consideration by the Minister 

11.1.1 We make the following recommendations, based on our investigation findings, for 

consideration by OLGR and the Minister in conjunction with the Minister's assessment 

under sections 20(1)(a) and (f) of the Act: 

Separation of entities deemed by the Minister to be unsuitable 

11.1.2 Consideration be provided to the divestment or appropriate quarantine of any entities or 

persons deemed by the Minister to be unsuitable so that risk and exposure to the QWB 

development and DBC consortium is effectively managed. 

Independent Expert 

11.1.3 Consideration of an independent expert in relation to Australian casino regulation to be 

appointed to monitor CTFE and the CTF Group's performance and compliance with 

relevant laws and agreements with the State of Queensland regarding the QWB 

development. The expert should report to OLGR. 

Regular updates 

11.1.4 CTFE to provide quarterly "in-person" or virtual updates to OLGR regarding the CTF 

Group's global gaming and casino investments and financial exposures, including loans. 

CTFE's reporting obligations should include notification of the appointment of new 

officers/directors, and the attaining of new associates. A summary of the financial 

investments and exposures, and new officers/directors and associates, should be 

provided to OLGR prior to the update to provide OLGR sufficient time to prepare probing 

queries in relation to any areas of further interest. 

Notification of activity 

11.1.5 To the extent it is not already required, upon the CTF Group receiving notice, CTFE is to 

immediately notify OLGR in writing of: 

a. any other external regulatory investigations; 

b. formal regulator enquiries; or 

c. legal proceedings in which a penalty (whether civil or criminal) or fine is sought; 

involving the CTF Group or its associates, relating to projects with gaming 

amenities or involving gaming, in any jurisdiction other than investigations, 

enquiries or proceedings being conducted by OLGR. 
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Periodic deep dives 

11.1.6 A periodic integrity deep dive review to be undertaken or managed by OLGR in relation to 
all CTF Group projects with an exposure or association to gaming so that any new, 
previously unknown and existing risks may be appropriately identified, assessed and 
managed in relation to the QWB development. 

11.1.7 The methodology of the above reviews should include, where relevant: 

a. Local, national, and international public source research enquiries, regarding: 

i. Directorships, corporate affiliations and criminal records 

ii. Civil litigation 

iii. Bankruptcy and insolvency filings 

iv. Adverse media reviews, and 

v. Sanctions and enforcements. 

b. National and international human source intelligence enquiries undertaken by 

professional providers of such services and relevant to the project, individuals 

and/or companies within the scope of the review. 

c. Interview of relevant CTFE staff and management. 

d. Information requirements issued under section 30C of the Act. 

e. Enquiries should be undertaken in both English, Chinese and local languages 

relevant to the location of entities and persons within the scope of the review. 

Policies 

11.1.8 CTFE shall design and prepare integrity-related policies in response to the findings of this 
report, for review and assessment by OLGR. The integrity-related policies should be 
subject to ongoing review and consideration of their suitability by OLGR as part of its 
ongoing monitoring activities. 

11.1.9 The policies should be applicable to all entities within the CTFE group (including 

controlled entities), and should include: 

a. Reference within a global communications policy regarding notification to OLGR 

regarding adverse media alerts regarding CTFE group projects associated with 

gaming; 

b. A global whistleblower policy; 

c. A global fraud management and financial crime policy; 

d. A global conflict of interest policy; 

e. Reference within a global physical security policy mitigating risks to the safety of 

physical assets, property and staff associated with attendance by persons 

associated, or reasonably suspected of being associated, with organised crime. 
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11.1.10 CTFE should review its policies annually and provide evidence to OLGR of their content 

and implementation. 

Training 

11.1.11 Completion of annual training by the CTFE legal and compliance teams and DBC 

directors regarding: 

d. Integrity, ethics and conflicts of interest; 

e. Anti-money laundering ('AML') and counter terrorism financing ('CTF') (albeit we 

note that our investigation has not made adverse findings regarding these areas); 

and 

f. Australian directors' duties. 

11.1.12 The purpose of the above training programs shall be to increase awareness and 

understanding amongst participants regarding critical integrity concepts, such as 

transparency, conflicts of interest (actual, perceived and potential), arms' length 

transactions, expectations within an Australian regulatory environment. 

11.1.13 AML training should include topics regarding relevant legislation, "know your customer" 

requirements, required record keeping, and examples should be relevant to the gaming 

industry. 

11.1.14 Content should be relevant to the gaming industry. 

11.1.15 Records confirming the content, delivery and participants of the training should be 

provided to OLGR, and form part of OLGR's ongoing compliance monitoring activities. 

149 
PKF Integrity Services 



Department of Justice and Attorney General 
Chow Tai Fook Enterprises and Associate 

12. Disclaimer & Limitations 

1. This engagement is governed by the terms and conditions of our agreement with the 

Department of Justice and Attorney General ("DJAG"), dated 25 November 2022 ("the 

Agreement"). The scope of work set out in this report is detailed in our response to the 

Request for Quote received from Peter Mylonas, Senior Procurement Officer, dated 21 

November 2022. 

2. Unless expressly stated, the information contained in this report has not been subjected 

to detailed verification procedures. No representation is made by PKF as to the accuracy 

or completeness of such information and nothing contained in this report is or shall be 

construed as a representation of the future. 

3. All assumptions made for the purpose of this engagement are based on information and 

representations provided by the DJAG and the persons nominated in this report. We do 

not give any representation, warranty, indemnity or undertaking expressly or impliedly as 

to the accuracy or completeness of such information provided and used by us in our 

assignment. 

4. Any report issued by PKF should not be used by the DJAG for any purpose other than that 

stated in the Agreement dated 25 November 2022, without our prior written consent. If we 

provide written approval to the DJAG to use any of our reports for purposes other than 

that specified, we will need to approve the form and context of such report to be 

released, unless already agreed in the terms and conditions of the panel contract. 

Furthermore, disclosure of this Report (or part thereof) pursuant to a request made under 

the Right to Information Act 2009 (Qld) will be of concern to PKF, such that prior to any 

disclosure pursuant to that Act, PKF's views should be sought in accordance with section 

37. 

5. Neither the whole nor part of our report, nor any reference thereto, may be circulated nor 

published in any way whatsoever, nor used for any other purpose than that specified in 

the report without our prior written consent pertaining to the form and context in which it 

appears. 

6. This report should not be used by third parties without the express consent of PKF. No 

reliance should be placed by third parties on the report for any purposes whatsoever and 

PKF shall not be responsible to third parties who have acted on the information contained 

therein. 

7. We reserve the right (but we are not under any obligation) to review, alter and amend our 

report in the light of any matters not previously brought to our attention or as a result of 
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new developments, which may or may not materially affect our findings both prior to and 

subsequent to the report date. 

8. No reliance should be placed on preliminary draft and/or draft reports issued by us for 

discussion purposes and PKF shall not be responsible to any parties who have placed 

reliance on such preliminary draft and/or draft reports. 
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Appendices 

Appendix 1: Glossary 
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Appendix 1 - Glossary 

Term Definition 

ABC Australian Broadcasting Corporation 

the Act Casino Control Act 1982 

Alpha Era Alpha Era Investments Limited 

BDO BDO East Cost Partnership 

CTFE Chow Tai Fook Enterprises 

CTF Group A collective reference to entities within the corporate group of 

which Chow Tai Fook Enterprises (CTFE) is a member. 

CTFH Chow Tai Fook (Holding) Limited 

DBC Destination Brisbane Consortium 

DJAG or Department Department of Justice and Attorney General 

Echo Echo Entertainment Group Limited 

Even Success Even Success Holdings Ltd (a subsidiary of the CTF Group). 

Factual Background 

Document 

A submission by CTFE and HWLE summarising additional 

information provided in response to PKF's 9 October 2023 

additional information request. 

FEC Far East Consortium (Australia) Pty Ltd 
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IEC International Entertainment Corporation 

GYE Gold Yield Enterprises Ltd 

HASI Hoi An South Investments 

HASD Hoi An South Development 

HWLE HWL Ebsworth Lawyers 

Initial Suitability Review 

or 2015 Probity Report or 

2015 Probity 

Investigation or 2015 

Probity Review 

The 2015 investigation into CTFE and associates required by the 

Minister pursuant to Section 20 of the Act undertaken into persons 

associated or connected, in the opinion of the Minister, with the 

ownership, administration or management of the operations or 

business of the casino licensee to satisfy the Governor in Council 

that such casino licensee and such persons as aforesaid are 

suitable. 

Kwok Kwok Wing-hung 

L'Arc Casino L'Arc Macao Casino Hotel 

Mr. Wong Mr. Wong Kim Pun Barry, son of Mr. Wong Kwok Ting and who held a 
long-standing connection with the Cheng family. Mr. Wong has 
worked for CTFJ since 1998, where he is currently the Director of 
Strategic Finance. Mr. Wong is responsible for the financing and 
treasury management of the CTF Group. 

Mr. Wong became a director of and purchased Alpha Era in 

September 2018. 

NJDGE New Jersey Division of Gaming Enforcement 
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NWD or New World New World Development Co Ltd 

NWS NWS Holdings Ltd 

OLGR Office of Liquor and Gaming Regulation 

PKF or PKF Integrity PKF Integrity Services (BMNS) Pty Ltd 

Probity Report The Probity Report for Chow Tai Fook Enterprises Limited as a 

member of the Destination Brisbane Consortium, dated 20 April 

2015, regarding their application for a casino licence for Queens 

Wharf Brisbane. 

QWD Queens Wharf Development 

Skywalker Skywalker Ventures Ltd 

Sky Warrier Sky Warrier Investments Limited 

Star Star Entertainment Group Limited (formerly Echo Entertainment 

Group Limited). 

Star Report The report published in August 2022, documenting the findings of 

the investigation conducted by Senior Counsel, Adam Bell, under 

sections 143 and 143A of the Casino Control Act (1992) NSW into 

The Star Casino in New South Wales. 

SJM SJM Holdings Ltd 
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Star Admiral Star Admiral Limited: initially a company personally owned by 

Mr. Alvin Chau and later purchased by Suncity Group. 

STDM Sociedade de Turismo e Diversoes de Macau SA 

Suncity or Suncity Group Suncity Gaming Promotion Ltd or Suncity International Holdings Ltd 

Vietnam Project Construction of an integrated resort in Hoi An, Vietnam, comprising 

hotels, a casino, restaurants and other amenities. 

VinaCapital VinaCapital Corporate Finance Limited. A Vietnam based 

investment firm which owned the relevant site where the Vietnam 

Project was located and provided the Vietnam Project with real 

estate and relevant services as a local Vietnamese company. 

VMS VMS Am Resorts and Leisure Limited 

WSW Wo Shing Wo Triad 
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